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FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report (the “Annual Report”) on Form  10-K of Foxx Development Holdings Inc. contains 
forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, or the Securities Act, and 
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or the Exchange Act. The statements contained in this report that 
are not purely historical are forward-looking statements. Our forward-looking statements include, but are not limited 
to, statements regarding our or our management’s expectations, hopes, beliefs, intentions or strategies regarding the 
future. In addition, any statements that refer to projections, forecasts or other characterizations of future events or 
circumstances, including any underlying assumptions, are forward-looking statements. The words “anticipates,” 
“believe,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “might,” “plan,” “possible,” “potential,” “predict,” 
“project,” “should,” “would” and similar expressions may identify forward-looking statements, but the absence of these 
words does not mean that a statement is not forward-looking. Forward-looking statements in this report may include, 
for example, statements about our:

• the projected financial information, anticipated growth rate, and market opportunities of the Registrant;

• the ability to maintain the listing of our Common Stock and Warrants on Nasdaq;

• Our public securities’ potential liquidity and trading;

• Our ability to raise financing in the future;

• Our success in retaining or recruiting, or changes required in, officers, key employees, or directors;

• potential effects of extensive government regulation;

• Our future financial performance and capital requirements;

• the impact of supply chain disruptions;

• high inflation rates and interest rate increases;

• factors relating to our business, operations, and financial performances, including:

• Our ability to compete in a changing industry and respond quickly and cost-effectively to new or 
emerging technologies and changes in customer requirements;

• Our ability to generate the earnings necessary to fund our operations, continue to grow our business 
or repay our debt obligations;

• Our ability to establish successful relations with third-party distributors or sales agents;

• Changes in government regulations, including related to the Affordable Connectivity Program 
(ACP) and the Lifeline Program;

• Our ability to introduce new products that achieve market acceptance and keep pace with 
technological developments;

• Our ability to develop and maintain intellectual property rights;

• Our ability to raise additional capital in the future to finance our planned growth.
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We have based these forward-looking statements largely on our current expectations and projections about our 
business, the industry in which we operate and financial trends that we believe may affect our business, financial 
condition, results of operations and prospects, and these forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future 
performance or development. These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this Annual Report and 
are subject to a number of risks, uncertainties and assumptions described in “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this 
Annual Report. Because forward-looking statements are inherently subject to risks and uncertainties, some of which 
cannot be predicted or quantified, you should not rely on these forward-looking statements as predictions of future 
events. The events and circumstances reflected in our forward-looking statements may not be achieved or occur and 
actual results could differ materially from those projected in the forward-looking statements. Except as required by 
applicable law, we do not plan to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements contained herein until after 
we distribute this Annual Report, whether as a result of any new information, future events or otherwise.

In addition, statements that “we believe” and similar statements reflect our beliefs and opinions on the relevant 
subject. These statements are based upon information available to us as of the date of this Annual Report, and while we 
believe such information forms a reasonable basis for such statements, such information may be limited or incomplete, 
and our statements should not be read to indicate that we have conducted an exhaustive inquiry into, or review of, 
all potentially available relevant information. These statements are inherently uncertain, and you are cautioned not to 
unduly rely upon these statements.

This Annual Report includes trademarks, tradenames and service marks that are the property of other 
organizations. Solely for convenience, trademarks and tradenames referred to in this Annual Report appear without 
the ® and ™ symbols, but those references are not intended to indicate, in any way, that we will not assert, to the fullest 
extent under applicable law, our rights, or that the applicable owner will not assert its rights, to these trademarks and 
tradenames.

On September 26, 2024 (the “Closing”), Acri Capital Acquisition Corporation, a Delaware corporation (“ACAC”) 
consummated a previously announced business combination pursuant to the terms of the business combination 
agreement (as amended from time to time, the “Business Combination Agreement”), by and among ACAC, Acri 
Capital Merger Sub I Inc., a Delaware corporation and wholly-owned subsidiary of ACAC (the “Purchaser”), Acri 
Capital Merger Sub II Inc., a Delaware corporation and wholly-owned subsidiary of Purchaser (“Merger Sub”), and 
Foxx Development Inc., a Texas corporation (“Old Foxx”), pursuant to which (i) ACAC merged with and into Purchaser 
(the “Reincorporation Merger”), and (ii) Old Foxx merged with and into Merger Sub, with Merger Sub surviving as 
a wholly-owned subsidiary of Purchaser (the “Acquisition Merger”). The Reincorporation Merger, the Acquisition 
Merger, and the transactions contemplated under the Business Combination Agreement, are collectively referred to as 
the “Business Combination”. Upon Closing, the Purchaser was renamed as “Foxx Development Holdings Inc.” (the 
“Registrant”).

Unless the context otherwise requires, all references in this Annual Report to “we,” “us,”, “our” or the 
“Company” refer to the business and operations of Old Foxx and its subsidiaries prior to consummation of the Business 
Combination and to Foxx Development Holdings Inc., the Registrant, and its subsidiaries following the consummation 
of the Business Combination.
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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Overview

Founded in Texas in 2017, we are a technology innovation firm specializing in the communications sector. Since 
our establishment in 2017, we have expanded our presence to include various locations throughout the United States, 
such as San Francisco, CA, Dallas, TX, Atlanta, GA, Los Angeles, CA, Miami, FL, and New York, NY. This expansion 
enables us to provide sales, retail, distribution, and after-sales support services while simultaneously driving innovation 
through active research and development efforts aimed at pioneering new customization standards and services.

Our business model involves providing comprehensive hardware and software specifications to original design 
manufacturers. Once the products are developed, we engage with third-party agencies to secure necessary testing and 
certifications, including Equipment Authorizations from the FCC and certifications from the Global Mobile Suppliers 
Association. We currently offer a range of Foxx-branded products, including tablets, smartphones, wearables, and 
expect to launch other high-quality communication terminals. Our products are generally priced competitively after 
considering various factors such as product costs, research and development investments, regulatory compliance, 
testing expenses, and shipping costs. Our customers are primarily distributors who sell Foxx-branded products in the 
U.S. public channels and to major carriers in the United States such as T-Mobile, AT&T, and Verizon. We also began 
E-Commerce operations in March 2024 and our E-Commerce customers include customers from the TikTok Shop. 
We also provide an App Service by installing applications from App developer partners onto its mobile devices and 
facilitating the distribution of these devices to end users.

The Business Combination

Foxx Development Holdings Inc. was incorporated under the name “Acri Capital Merger Sub  I Inc.” as a 
Delaware corporation on November  13, 2023. On September  26, 2024 (the “Closing”), Acri Capital Acquisition 
Corporation, a Delaware corporation (“ACAC”) consummated a business combination pursuant to the terms of the 
business combination agreement (as amended from time to time, the “Business Combination Agreement”), by and 
among ACAC, Acri Capital Merger Sub I Inc., a Delaware corporation and wholly-owned subsidiary of ACAC (the 
“Purchaser”), Acri Capital Merger Sub II Inc., a Delaware corporation and wholly-owned subsidiary of Purchaser 
(“Merger Sub”), and Foxx Development Inc., a Texas corporation (“Foxx”), pursuant to which (i) ACAC merged with 
and into Purchaser (the “Reincorporation Merger”), and (ii) Foxx merged with and into Merger Sub, with Merger Sub 
surviving as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Purchaser (the “Acquisition Merger”). The Reincorporation Merger, the 
Acquisition Merger, and the transactions contemplated under the Business Combination Agreement, are collectively 
referred to as the “Business Combination”. Upon Closing, the Purchaser was renamed as “Foxx Development Holdings 
Inc.”, and the Merger Sub was renamed as “Foxx Development Inc.” (the “Operating Subsidiary”).

The ACAC securities previously traded on the Nasdaq Capital Market (“Nasdaq”) were delisted and ceased 
trading following the Closing. On September 27, 2024, one business day after the Closing, our Common Stock and 
Warrants became listed on the Nasdaq under trading symbols “FOXX” and “FOXXW,” respectively.

Unless the context otherwise requires, all references in this Annual Report to “we,” “us,”, “our” or the “Company” 
refer to the business and operations of Old Foxx and its subsidiaries prior to consummation of the Business Combination 
and to the Registrant and the Operating Subsidiary following the consummation of the Business Combination.

Merger Consideration

Immediately prior to the effective time of the Reincorporation Merger (the “Reincorporation Merger Effective 
Time”), which was on September 25, 2024, one business day prior to the Closing, (i) each issued and outstanding 
ACAC unit was automatically separated into one (1) share of ACAC Class A common stock and one-half (1/2) of 
one ACAC warrant, and (ii) each share of ACAC Class A common stock held by stockholders of ACAC who validly 
redeemed their shares of ACAC Class A common stock (each “ACAC Redeeming Share”) was automatically cancelled 
and ceased to exist and thereafter represented only the right to be paid a pro-rata redemption price.

• At the Reincorporation Merger Effective Time on September 25, 2024, (i) each share of ACAC Class A 
or Class B common stock issued and outstanding (other than ACAC Redeeming Shares) was converted 
automatically into one (1)  share of common stock of the Registrant, par value $0.0001 per share (the 
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“Common Stock”), and (ii) each issued and outstanding ACAC warrant was converted automatically into 
one (1) redeemable warrant of the Registrant, exercisable for one (1) share of the Registrant’s Common 
Stock at an exercise price of $11.50 per share (the “Warrant”).

• At the Closing on September 26, 2024, by virtue of the Acquisition Merger and the Business Combination 
Agreement, and without any action on the part of any party to the Business Combination Agreement 
or affiliate or security thereof, the issued and outstanding shares of common stock of Foxx (“Original 
Foxx Common Stock”) held by then exiting holders of Original Foxx Common Stock (the “Original 
Foxx Shareholders”) immediately prior to the Closing (including shares of Original Foxx Common Stock 
issuable upon conversion of the principal and accrued interest of promissory notes of Foxx issued in the 
Transaction Financing, as defined below) were cancelled and automatically converted into (i) the right to 
receive, without interest, the applicable portion of 5,000,000 shares of the Registrant’s Common Stock 
(the “Closing Payment Stock”, 500,000 of which are subject to the Escrow Arrangement noted below), 
and (ii) the contingent right to receive the applicable portion of the Earnout Shares (as defined below), if, 
as and when payable in accordance with the earnout provisions of the Business Combination Agreement.

Pursuant to the Business Combination Agreement, 500,000 shares of the Closing Payment Stock in aggregate 
will be deposited (the “Escrow Arrangement”) to a segregated escrow account and released to the Original Foxx 
Shareholders if and only if, prior to or upon the one-year anniversary of the Business Combination Agreement, the 
Affordable Connectivity Program (ACP) managed by the U.S. Federal Communication Commission is reauthorized 
by the U.S. Congress with funding of no less than $4 billion in total for such reauthorized period; or otherwise be 
cancelled and forfeited by the Registrant without consideration.

Additionally, the Original Foxx Shareholders may be entitled to receive “Earnout Shares”, which refer to 
4,200,000 shares of the Registrant’s Common Stock, subject to the vesting schedule (the “Vesting Schedule”) as 
follows:

• (i) in connection with the financial performance for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024:

(A) 700,000 Earnout Shares will be issued to Original Foxx Shareholders on a pro rata basis if and 
only if the Registrant’s audited consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2024 (“2024 Registrant Audited Financial Statements”), prepared in accordance with the Generally 
Accepted Accounting Principles of the United States (“U.S. GAAP”) and filed with the SEC on 
Form 10-K by the Registrant after Closing, reflect revenue of the Registrant for the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2024 (the “Registrant 2024 Revenue”) no less than $67,000,000 (including $67,000,000) 
and less than $84,000,000 (excluding $84,000,000);

(B) 1,400,000 Earnout Shares will be issued to Original Foxx Shareholders on a pro rata basis if and 
only if the Registrant 2024 Revenue reflected in the 2024 Registrant Audited Financial Statements 
is no less than $84,000,000 (including $84,000,000) and less than $100,000,000 (excluding 
$100,000,000);

(C) 2,100,000 Earnout Shares will be issued to Original Foxx Shareholders on a pro rata basis if and 
only if the Registrant 2024 Revenue reflected in the 2024 Registrant Audited Financial Statements 
is no less than $100,000,000 (including $100,000,000);

provided, however, that the Earnout Shares will be issued and delivered pursuant to one paragraph from 
(i)(A)-(i)(C) above only once; and

• (ii) In connection with the financial performance for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025:

(A) 700,000 Earnout Shares will be issued to Original Foxx Shareholders on a pro rata basis if and only 
if the Registrant’s audited consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025 
(“2025 Registrant Audited Financial Statements”), prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP and 
filed with the SEC on Form 10-K by the Registrant after Closing, reflect revenue of the Registrant 
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025 (the “Registrant 2025 Revenue”) no less than $77,050,000 
(including $77,050,000) and less than $96,600,000 (excluding $96,600,000);
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(B) 1,400,000 Earnout Shares will be issued to Original Foxx Shareholders on a pro rata basis if and 
only if the Registrant 2025 Revenue reflected in the 2025 Registrant Audited Financial Statements 
is no less than $96,600,000 (including $96,600,000) and less than $115,000,000 (excluding 
$115,000,000);

(C) 2,100,000 Earnout Shares will be issued to Original Foxx Shareholders on a pro rata basis if and 
only if the Registrant 2025 Revenue reflected in the 2025 Registrant Audited Financial Statements 
is no less than $115,000,000 (including $115,000,000);

provided, however, that the Earnout Shares will be issued and delivered pursuant to one paragraph from (ii)(A) to 
(ii)(C) above only once.

On October 24, 2024, upon the filing of the 2024 Audited Financial Statements as part of the Company’s Annual 
Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC (the “2024 10-K”), any Earnout Shares that the Original Foxx Shareholders 
may be entitled to receive under the Vesting Schedule were automatically forfeited, as the Company did not meet any 
of the vesting conditions for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024 as provided in the Vesting Schedule. The Earnout 
Shares in connection with the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025 were also forfeited automatically as the Company did 
not meet any of the vesting conditions for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025 as provided in the Vesting Schedule.

In addition, pursuant to that certain amendment to the Underwriting Agreement, by and between EF Hutton LLC 
and ACAC, dated February 20, 2024, 43,125 shares of the Registrant’s Common Stock were issued to EF Hutton LLC 
at the Closing.

Transaction Financing

In consideration of market conditions, pursuant to the Business Combination Agreement, the parties agreed to 
use commercially best efforts to secure financing to pay transaction expense and working capital of Foxx, including 
without limitation, a PIPE financing, private financing, redemption waiver, convertible debt, forward purchase 
agreement, backstop, or equity line of credit (collectively, the “Transaction Financing”).

On June 21, 2023, Old Foxx entered into a securities purchase agreement (the “Convertible Note Agreement 1”) 
with New Bay Capital Limited, a Hong Kong registered company (“New Bay”), and issued a promissory note (“Note 1”) 
to New Bay in the principal amount of $2 million with an interest rate of 7% per annum, convertible into shares of 
Original Foxx Common Stock at $30.00 per share upon the listing of Original Foxx Common Stock through an initial 
public offering. On December 21, 2023, Old Foxx entered into another securities purchase agreement (the “Convertible 
Note Agreement 2”) with New Bay with the same terms and conditions as the Convertible Note Agreement, and issued 
another promissory note (“Note 2”) to New Bay in the principal amount of $2 million.

In connection with the Business Combination Agreement and all the transaction contemplated therein (the 
“Business Combination”), in the spring of 2024, Old Foxx and ACAC reached out to New Bay to seek its interest in 
participating in further financing in connection with the Business Combination.

After negotiations with New Bay, On March 15, 2024, Old Foxx and New Bay agreed to an amendment to amend 
both Convertible Note Agreement 1 and Convertible Note Agreement 2, and to amend Note 1 and Note 2, by removing 
the lock-up provisions as provided therein and allowing the unpaid principal and accrued interest on Note 1 and Note 2 
to convert to Original Foxx Common Stock immediately prior to the closing of the Business Combination. New Bay 
also subscribed for a new promissory note (“Note 3”) in the principal amount of $2 million under the same terms and 
conditions as amended Note 1 and Note 2 (collectively, the “New Bay Notes”).

On February 20, 2024, New Bay introduced Old Foxx to BR Technologies PTE, Ltd. (“BR Technologies”), 
a Singapore-based  company. On May  30, 2024, Old Foxx, BR Technologies and Grazyna Plawinski Limited, a 
Singapore-based company (“Grazyna”), entered into a securities purchase agreement for issuance of promissory notes 
in the amount of up to $9.0 million with an interest rate of 7% per annum under the same terms and conditions as 
provided in the New Bay Notes. A promissory note was issued by Old Foxx to BR (the “Note 4”) in the principal 
amount of $6 million and promissory notes issued by Old Foxx to Grazyna (the “Note 5”) in the total principal amount 
of $3 million on September 12, 2024.

Immediately prior to the Closing, all the accrued and unpaid principal and interests on the New Bay Notes, 
Note 4, and Note 5 were converted into: (x) 212,050 shares of Original Foxx Common Stock for the New Bay Notes, 
(y) 200,882 shares of Original Foxx Common Stock for Note 4, and (z) 100,690 share of Old Foxx Common Stock 
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for Note 5, at a price of $30.00 per share. At the Closing, all of the converted shares of Original Foxx Common Stock 
were cancelled in exchange for the holders’ pro rata share of the Closing Payment Shares using the exchange ratio of 
3.3033, resulting in (x) 700,473 shares of our Common Stock issued to New Bay, (y) 663,581 shares of our Common 
Stock issued to BR Technologies, and (z) 332,614 shares of our Common Stock issued to Grazyna.

Current Products

Our current revenue stream is primarily derived from the sales of tablets and smartphones. For the fiscal year 
ended June 30, 2025, we achieved sales of approximately 8,000 tablets and 328,000 smartphones sold, generating 
approximately $60.4 million in revenue. For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024, our sales reached approximately 
12,000 tablets and approximately 80,000 smartphones sold, generating a revenue of approximately $3.2 million.

Tablet Products

We produce affordable tablets to meet the diverse needs of consumers across various demographics, aligning 
with our goal of democratizing technology and enhancing digital inclusion for all. These tablets facilitate broader 
access to technology, enabling individuals from diverse economic backgrounds to enjoy the benefits of digital devices 
while also serving as invaluable educational aids.

In 2024, we launched C10 LTE tablet, which is equipped with the following key features:

C10 LTE Tablet

Display
OS

Bands

Chipset/CPU
Cameras
Memory
Battery

Bluetooth
Wi-Fi

10.1 inches 800*1280,IPS,touch
Android 13
LTE:B2/4/5/12/13/66/71/B41 HPUE
UMTS:B2/4/5
GSM:B5/8/3/2
MTK8766 Quad Core 2.0GHz

3GB+32GB/4+64G add $2.5

8MP+8MP AF

5000mAh/6000mAh add $1
5.0
802.11 a/b/g/n/ac

• 10.1-Inch  HD Display: Offers vibrant visuals and ample screen real estate for immersive viewing of 
movies, and videos.

• MT8766 2.0GHz Processor: Delivers smooth performance, allowing users to seamlessly navigate through 
apps, games, and multitasking activities.

• 4GB of RAM and 64GB of storage and 8MP + 8MP Camera Setup: Allows users to capture and store 
multimedia content without worrying about running out of space.

• Supporting 802.11 b/g/n/ac Wi-Fi: Provides fast and reliable wireless internet access at home, work, or 
on the go.
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Thus far, we have successfully introduced several generations of products to the market, each tailored to meet 
specific consumer needs and preferences. This strategic approach not only allows us to diversify our product range but 
also enables us to remain agile and responsive to the evolving trends and demands of the marketplace. By continually 
innovating and expanding our offerings, we aim to ensure that we remain at the forefront of meeting the diverse needs 
of our consumers.

Mobile Phone Products

We are committed to developing high performance smartphones at competitive prices to provide accessibility 
for all. Our focus on innovation, efficient manufacturing, and strategic partnerships allows us to deliver premium 
technology without compromising affordability.

In 2019, we launched our MIRO product line to cater to users seeking an affordable smartphone with quality 
performance, which became available at Metro® by T-Mobile stores beginning May 20, 2019. The MIRO phone is 
equipped with the following key features:

TM

8MP AF + 5MP Camera
Bright Snapshots

Quad Core CPU
Qualcomm Snapdragon 1.1GHz

Google Voice
Check the weather or find
places to dine out

T-Mobile 4G Coverage
LTE B71 600MHz band for
extended nationwide coverage

5.45” HD Display
18:9 Full View Screen

2.5D Glass, Curved Design
Fits perfectly in hand

16 GB ROM/2GB RAM

• Immersive 5.45” HD Display: Enjoy a vivid viewing experience with our immersive 5.45” HD (1280 X 
640) display, great for multimedia consumption and browsing.

• Large Lasting Battery: Stay connected longer with up to 10 hours of talking time and up to 300 hours of 
standby time, supported by a large 2450mAh battery.

• High-Quality Cameras: Capture life’s moments in stunning detail with the 8MP auto-focus rear camera 
and take brilliant selfies with the 5MP front camera.

• Google Voice Assistant: Simplify daily tasks with Google Voice Assistant, enabling users to check the 
weather, search for restaurants, manage tasks, control smart home devices, and more with just your voice.

• Quality Performance: Experience seamless app performance and multitasking capabilities with 2GB of 
RAM. Store photos and music effortlessly with 16GB of built-in memory, expandable up to 32GB via a 
microSD card.
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Since our launch of the MIRO phones, we have introduced multiple product generations to the market to offer 
a range of options that can meet evolving consumer needs. For our current products This added product diversity 
caters to end-users in different demographics with varying requirements, ensuring that everyone can find the ideal 
smartphone solution. With each new generation, we aim to raise the bar in delivering quality performance at an 
accessible price point, empowering users to stay connected, productive, and engaged.

Wearables

To complement our smartphones, tablets, and the IoT cloud platform, we are developing customization standards 
for a diverse range of wearable devices, including Bluetooth watches, Bluetooth bracelets, GPS watches, 4G watches, 
and etc. We are also researching for connecting wearable products with sports equipment and will work with chip 
manufacturers, solution providers, and device manufacturers to develop high-quality  components and equipment, 
enabling us to offer reliable and innovative solutions to the end-users.

Bluetooth
watches

Bluetooth
bracelet

Bluetooth dual- 
mode watch

GPS watches 4G watches Air pump blood 
pressure watch

Others

In February 2024, we partnered with a branded device Original Equipment Manufacturer (“OEM”) and started 
developing a 4G LTE kids smartwatch for major US Mobile Network Operator (“MNO”) and MVNO carriers. Our first 
generation wearable devices were launched in the first calendar quarter of 2025 through our E-Commerce channels.

Concurrently, we have been developing our second generation smartwatches for kids that incorporate LTE and 
Bluetooth technologies. Once we complete the development and certification of the products, we expect to sell such 
products to third-party distributors, as well as through open-market retail and E-Commerce channels. The launch date 
for the second generation smartwatches for kids is in the fourth calendar quarter of 2025.
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Smart Home Solutions

We expanded our business into smart home market segments. In July 2025, we successfully launched our first 
product “Leak Shield”, a smart water leak detector we developed through our strategic technology partnership with 
APEC Water Systems (“APEC”), a premier U.S. manufacturer of water filtration systems. We worked closely with 
APEC throughout the product development process, bringing expertise in IoT connectivity, mobile app development, 
and sensor integration to create the APEC Smart Water Leak Detector (SKU: SMTD-001-1PK).

Target End-Users

Our current product lines are tailored to cater to the following types of end-users:

Budget Conscious/Practical Shopper: These individuals are meticulous researchers who make informed decisions. 
They seek practical tablets and smartphones to seamlessly navigate their daily digital activities, including browsing, 
attending online lectures, messaging, social media interactions, calls, web browsing, GPS navigation, and photography.

First-Time Tablets or Smartphone Users: Embodying the essence of social connectivity, these users are driven 
by a fear of missing out among peers. They are highly active online, engaging primarily in messaging, photo-sharing, 
gaming, and staying updated within their social circles. Despite limited purchasing power, they aspire for visually 
appealing tablets phones with unique features, typically acquired through initial jobs or parental support.

Parents of First-Time Tablets or Smartphone Users: These individuals seek capable yet budget-friendly tablets 
and smartphones for their children, understanding the importance of providing essential educational or daily 
functionalities without straining their finances. With considerable purchasing power in some instances, they often 
begin their search online, prioritizing terms such as “best value” or “affordable”. Influenced significantly by pricing 
and reviews, they prioritize obtaining the best value proposition for their children’s needs.
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Strategic Approach to Sales and Distribution

Third Party Customer-Driven Sales Model

Since inception, we have been employing the strategy of engaging with distributors who purchase products 
from us and then market our products to consumers through the networks of prominent telecommunications carriers 
across the United States. We have been able to achieve substantial sales by working with customers who have existing 
relationships with prominent telecommunications carriers and can efficiently sell our products, allowing us to build 
presence in the market. We also entered into multiple master agreements with Mobile Virtual Network Operators 
(MVNOs), broadening our reach and delivering sophisticated telecommunications solutions to an extensive consumer 
base.

Diversified Sales Approach

In prior years, we actively sought qualification for and participated in national initiatives aimed at enhancing the 
affordability and accessibility of communication services for individuals with limited income. As a certified supplier 
for the FCC’s Lifeline and Affordable Connectivity Program (ACP), we played a vital role in efforts to ensure essential 
communication services are economically accessible. Even though we continue to serve as a key supplier for the 
Lifeline Program, we have diversified our product offerings to target customers who are interested in other mobile 
devices, tablets, and IoT products. In addition, we launched our products through TikTok Shop in March 2024 and 
various online E-Commerce platforms such as BestBuy.com, Walmart.com, Amazon, Shein, Newegg and Mercado 
Libre in 2025. We have been actively expanding our presence in the digital marketplace and expect to increase our sales 
through a variety of leading E-Commerce channels. We believe this approach not only broadens our reach but also 
caters to the preferences of digital consumers, offering them convenient access to our telecommunications solutions. By 
integrating into various sales channels, both indirect and digital, we are committed to providing high-quality products 
to a wide audience, driving our growth, and enhancing our position in the competitive electronics market.

Internal Support

In order to maximize product accessibility across the United States, we have a team of dedicated internal sales 
staff and key sales agents who manage a network of hundreds of customers spread across seven major regions. In 
addition to managing direct partnerships with these customers, our internal sales team also collaborates with prominent 
telecommunications carriers, enabling our products to be available for sale online and in the physical retail stores of 
these carriers.

Competitive Advantages

We stand out in the competitive communications market by leveraging its foundational advantages and core 
operational strategies, which encompass a range of competitive strengths crucial for maintaining and enhancing Foxx’s 
market position:

Geographical Location and Market Presence

We have established a comprehensive network anchored by our key operational facilities across various strategic 
locations. We are headquartered in Irvine, CA, where we have established a center that integrates sales, retail and 
distribution, and after-sale support services, and research and development of customization capabilities. The Irvine 
office serves as the epicenter for our research and development and sales and marketing activities, highlighting our 
commitment to innovation and market expansion. The Dallas, TX, and Atlanta, GA offices play instrumental roles in 
executing our sales and marketing initiatives and providing essential operational support. In addition, our Singapore 
office serves as the epicenter for both our supply chain management and our research and development efforts in 
Southeast Asia. This strategic distribution of roles and responsibilities across our office locations allows operational 
efficiency and market responsiveness.
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We also maintain a strong sales presence in major metropolitan areas such as Los Angeles, CA, Dallas, TX, and 
New York, NY. These strategic locations are carefully selected to maximize our market penetration and facilitate direct 
engagement with our diverse customer base. Through this geographically diverse presence, we offer comprehensive 
after-sales  services and tailored solutions, thereby reinforcing our commitment to customer satisfaction and 
technological leadership in the electronics industry.

A Growing Global Powerhouse

Irvine &
San Diego

FOXX Current Footprint

FOXX Planned Footprint

Supply Chain Footprint

New York

Atlanta
DallasMexico City

Shanghai & Lishui
Shenzhen

Singapore

Experienced Management Team

Our leadership team has decades of combined experience across various aspects of the communications 
sector, with more than 20 years of experience in major domestic and overseas electronics companies, having held 
leadership and management roles. Mr. Greg Foley, our Chief Executive Officer, has more than 25 years of experience 
in leading the sales and marketing of electronic products. Mr.  James Liao, our Chief Technology Officer, has a 
background in electrical engineering and has been leading product innovation and development projects for more 
than 25 years. Mr. Haitao Cui, our Director and Executive Vice President, also has a background in electrical and 
engineering automation and over 25 years of experience in sales and marketing of electronics. Our experienced team 
comprehensively understands market dynamics, consumer demands, and technological trends. We rely on their insights 
and strategic decision-making to effectively navigate the complex market and to adapt and grow amidst constantly 
changing industry conditions.

Build-to-Order Business Model

We manage our inventory and meet market demand through our build-to-order business model. Our sales begin 
with receiving bulk purchase orders with general product designs, specifications, and budgets from our customers, 
who are third-party distributors specializing in selling mobile phones and tablets to end-users through sales channels. 
We then provide our customers advice on adjustments and customize the products to secure the desired performance 
within their budget. Once the product specification is determined, we work with suppliers to build customized 
products that meet such our customers’ expectations. Over time, by listening to the demands and specifications of our 
customers, we have been able to deliver high-quality, high-performance products that our customer trust and value. 
Our business model allows us to effectively manage inventory costs and mitigate risks associated with changes in 
customer demand. We secure steady revenue from bulk purchase orders placed by the customers.
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The orders we receive from customers provide us with a great opportunity to understand market trends and 
customer demand. Direct relationships with our customers give us an advantage in observing the changes in market 
demands. As a result, we can develop new models based on our understanding of the market. After establishing a 
market presence through our customers, we can further diversify our revenue and profit streams. We take our own 
Foxx-branded products as an initiative to innovate. Our growth strategy involves reaching more end-users  through 
maintaining the relationship with current customers and cultivating relationship with new customers. We aim to 
optimize the balance of liquidity, profitability, and growth with a focus on increasing the mix of our product portfolio 
to higher-margin products and recurring revenue streams.

Research and Development/Innovation Capability

We have strong competitive advantages in our product design and innovation capabilities. Moreover, we have 
resources that allow us to outsource customized research and development capabilities as needed, thereby gaining 
additional insights into the market and developing more robust product design and customization standards. Our 
innovative product planning keeps us at the forefront of technological trends, ensuring that the company remains as 
the forerunner in introducing novel and high-performance products to the market.

Supply Chain Management

We have efficiently managed our supply chain through diversification of sources, strategic partnerships, 
optimized logistics, and efficient inventory management, all of which have contributed to our current success. We 
have cultivated strong relationships with multiple suppliers in Indonesia and Southeast Asian countries. This capability 
enables the company to maintain a balance between supply and demand, reduce operational costs, and promptly 
respond to market changes, thereby enhancing competitiveness and customer satisfaction.

Quality Control

Quality is the cornerstone of our value proposition. We implement strict quality control measures at every 
stage of the manufacturing process in our original equipment manufacturer factories, from material procurement to 
manufacturing processes and final product testing. Our commitment to quality ensures that all our products meet the 
highest reliability and performance standards, fostering trust and loyalty among customers and setting us apart from 
our competitors.

These competitive advantages contribute to our success and resilience in the market. The combination of 
experienced leadership, innovation, efficient supply chain management, and stringent quality control positions us as a 
leader in the communication section. This enables us to deliver exceptional value to customers and stakeholders alike.

Growth Strategies with IoT Cloud Platform

Our IoT Cloud Platform

We have developed a cloud platform that connects all our devices to a secure central server, creating a unified 
ecosystem. The platform brings significant benefits, particularly in systematized upgrades, more efficient IoT 
operations, improved human-machine interactions, enhanced data analytics, and smarter decision-making.

The cloud platform is able to streamline the upgrade process for our devices. Centralized cloud server management 
allows for efficient updates, patches, and new features across our product line, ensuring devices remain up to date 
with the latest advancements and security measures, significantly enhancing performance and customer satisfaction.

We prioritize data security and reliability in designing and developing the platform because we understand 
that the reliability of our cloud infrastructure is the foundation for continuous service, trust, and confidence among 
customers. To achieve this, we plan to establish our centralized server in Irvine, CA for secured data storage and 
management.
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The platform facilitates comprehensive data analytics and insights, allowing users to gain valuable insights into 
their personal information and habits from connected device data. These insights enable informed decisions, efficient 
operations, personalized experiences, and customized solutions based on individual behavior and preferences.

User*

Device intelligence

Edge processing

Device initiated connections Identification, authentication 
and encryptionMessaging control

Remote control and updates of devices

Device(s) Gateway Connection Cloud Applications

CRM

SCM PLM

ERP

D. Secure Lifecycle Management

Important 
Security 
Principles

loT 
Solution 
Elements

5

A. Secure Device (Hardware) B. Secure Communications C. Secure Cloud

Analytics
Platform

Our cloud platform is designed to offer the following functionalities:

• Firmware-over-the-air (FOTA) software upgrade.

• Launch new software releases.

• Device and sensors management.

• SIM cards activation, provisioning and management.

• Data usage monitoring, reporting and billing management.

• Using Application Programming Interfaces (API) & Software Development Kit (SDK) to integrate many 
device types and IoT protocols.

• Enable both “upward” integration with existing cloud service providers (e.g. Amazon Web Services 
(AWS)) and “downward” integration with 3rd party application for various IoT verticals (e.g., smart home, 
healthcare, smart building, etc.).

• IoT data management & analytics using artificial intelligence (AI) or machine learning (ML) algorithms.

• Storing data from production processes locally to prevent security breaches.

• Data security, firewall, cyberattack alert and prevention, data backup.

• Provide IoT standard — MATTER certification (in plan).

• 24x7 technical support.

This open platform allows compatibility and interoperability with a wide range of device types, IoT protocols, 
and ecosystems. It not only serves as a device management platform for Foxx’s own communication terminals (such 
as smartphones, tablets, and IoT sensors) but also offers software development kits and application programming 
interfaces to other device manufacturers and third-party application developers. This design allows third-party devices 
and apps to integrate with our cloud platform seamlessly. Additionally, our infrastructure is designed to interact with 
multiple cloud providers, including Amazon Web Services, Google Cloud Platform, and Microsoft Azure. We believe 
that our unique model, which combines IoT modules, devices, data, the cloud platform, and services, positions us to 
deliver comprehensive end-to-end IoT solutions to our customers.
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We launched the first generation of our IoT cloud platform in the third calendar quarter of 2024. We allocated 
time and resources since the first calendar quarter of 2024 to finalize the design and setup of the cloud platform 
that integrates with the AWS system. The first generation of our IoT cloud platform leverages AWS cloud services 
and AWS IoT Core services in addition to the customized development by us to provide device management, user 
management, data management and security management functions.

We developed a second generation of our IoT cloud platform, driven by the vision of a much more inclusive and 
smarter IoT platform that is compatible with all our devices and potentially products from other brands. This platform 
integrates more advanced technologies researched and developed by Foxx, with the potential scalability to connect tens 
of millions of devices. This platform was launched to the market in the fourth calendar quarter of 2024. Our second 
generation  IoT cloud platform involves a full IoT PaaS with the fundamental capabilities of device management, 
control and status management, user management, access and permission, and physical model management. It 
supports comprehensive and modern IoT communication protocols. In addition, the second generation IoT platform 
has full IoT SaaS capabilities with openness and flexibilities of integrating with different IoT verticals, which enables 
developing customized and compatible services on multiple protocols module, vertical module, Edge module, mobile 
devices module, and online customized module. It will also provide front-end apps (Android/iOS mobile apps) to the 
end-users to manage and monitor their IoT devices, and offer multi-tenants services including data, notification, alert, 
subscription, visualization, and devices interoperable services.

Smart Home Solutions

Our Smart Home Solutions can be divided into three categories: Home Security, Home Safety, and Home 
Care. “Leak Shield”, the smart water leak detector, was the first “Home Safety” product we launched. In the “Home 
Security” category, we have been developing a solar-powered 4G LTE outdoor security camera and plan to launch this 
product in the fourth calendar quarter of 2025. To achieve the goal of offering reliable and eco-friendly surveillance 
solutions, Foxx has incorporated the following features into this product: 1) These cameras can operate independently 
of traditional power sources, making them ideal for remote areas like cabins, farms, or construction sites; 2) With the 
ability to connect to both Wi-Fi and 4G LTE, these cameras offer flexibility in placement and connectivity options; and 
3) The integration of 4G connectivity allows for real-time data transfer and remote access, enhancing the monitoring 
capabilities. Our 4G LTE outdoor security camera is expected to launch in the market in the fourth calendar quarter 
of 2025. In the “Home Care” category, we plan to develop software applications that will integrate with our wearable 
products.

To achieve our goal of becoming a “one-stop  shop” for smart home solutions, we source products that are 
essential ancillary devices and components of a full smart home management solution including Home Security, 
Home Safety, and Home Care from various suppliers that manufacture high-quality products. We will integrate the 
appropriate modules that we will develop, using various open-source AI algorithms and technologies, into the final 
products we offer. These products will be designed to allow 1) compatibility with other smart home management 
solutions we offer and 2) connectivity with the rest of Foxx-branded products.

Home
Security

4G Low Power Security Cameras

Home
Care

Home
Safety

“Leak Shield”   Sensors and
Monitoring System At-Home Health Management
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IoT in Automotive

We have been developing a 4G LTE dashcam as our first foray into the IoT in Automotive market segment. 
A dashcam with LTE (Long-Term Evolution) is a type of dashboard camera that is equipped with a cellular data 
connection. With LTE connectivity, a dashcam can provide real-time data transfer, allowing the users to view their 
dashcams’ live stream and remotely access their dashcams. Users can also benefit from automatic cloud uploads, 
which makes it easy to access their footage from anywhere. Our 4G LTE dashcam is expected to be launched in the 
market in the fourth calendar quarter of 2025.

We are in the process of developing a 4G LTE jump starter and a 4G LTE tracker for commercial use. Such 
devices with 4G connection are smart, networked tools with advanced features like remote tracking, over-the-air 
(OTA) updates, and fleet management. Both products are expected to be launched in the fourth calendar quarter of 
2025.

IoT Modules

We are building a portfolio of IoT modules, which are hardware or software components that enable devices to 
connect to the Internet and share data with other connected devices and systems. Our portfolio includes a wide range 
of IoT modules, including 4G LTE Cat 1 bis, Cat 4, Cat M, NB-IoT, 5G, 5G Redcap, 5G AI, Bluetooth, and Wi-Fi 
modules. These modules enable the connectivity and intelligence of IoT devices, allowing them to collect, transmit 
and process data, and communicate with other devices and systems. Currently, we have completed the development 
and pre-production work for the LTE Cat 1 bis, Cat 4, Cat M/NB-IoT, and Bluetooth modules and will undergo lab 
testing. We have launched these modules in the first calendar quarter of 2025. We have started to develop 5G modules, 
5G Redcap modules, and 5G AI modules, which may potentially launch in the first half of 2026.

Warranties and Customer Services

We provide a one-year warranty on its products, offering after-sales  service support to dealers in two ways. 
Dealers can opt for direct product replacement by us, or they can choose to receive 2% after-sales  service spares 
from Foxx. In the latter case, our customers handle after-sales service to end-users independently after exhausting the 
supplied spares, without further support from us.

Competition

We believe the principal competitive factors impacting the market for our products are features and functionality, 
performance, quality and brand. To maintain and improve our competitive position, we must continue to expand our 
user base, invest in research and development, grow our distribution network, and leverage our strategic relationships.

Our products compete with a variety of solutions providers in different market segments. Our current competitors 
include:

• Smartphones and Tablets — Motorola, Inseego, HMD, TCL, Vortex, Tinno, BLU, Sky, Maxwest, and Hot 
Pepper.

• IoT Products — Netgear, Franklin Wireless, TCL and ZTE.

As the market for our solutions and services expands, other entrants may seek to compete with us either directly 
or indirectly.
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Intellectual Property

Trademarks

Trademarks
Registration 

Number Jurisdiction Registration Date

5,864,015 U.S. September 17, 2019

6,205,214 U.S. November 20, 2020

87,944,543 U.S. June 1, 2018

Domain Names

Domain Registration Date Expiration Date

www.foxxusa.com  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . August 3, 2017 August 3, 2028

Patents

We do not currently have any registered patents. However, our research and development team is actively 
assessing our customizations, specifications, and other technical expertise and know-how currently protected as trade 
secrets. We plan to file patents to safeguard our technical expertise and innovations.

Research and Development

For the year ended June  30, 2025, our research and development expenses amounted to approximately 
$2.2 million, a significant portion directed towards the development of new products.

Our strategic allocation of spending in product research and development reflects our commitment to innovation 
and technological advancement in emerging sectors. To achieve our goals in IoT product development, we have 
engaged, and may continue to engage, in outsourcing collaborations with industry-leading partners, leveraging their 
expertise and resources to accelerate our progress and ensure the delivery of cutting-edge solutions.

Employees

As of the date of this report, we had 25 full-time employees. We believe that we maintain a good working 
relationship with our employees, and we have not experienced any material labor disputes.

Department
Number of 
Employees

Customer Service . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1
Sales and Marketing . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5
Product Research and Testing . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6
Information Technology . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1
Human Resources and Administration . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3
Finance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3
Operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6
Total  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25

Certifications

For open market products including U.S. E-Commerce sites, retail stores and distributor channels, etc., we have 
conducted FCC and Google Mobile Services test and obtained corresponding certifications.



15

FCC certification is to ensure that an eligible electronics device only produces safe levels of radio frequency 
(RF). For more information, see “Government Regulation — FCC Equipment Authorization” below.

GMS refers to a selected array of Google proprietary applications and services that embody the company’s core 
values (such as Chrome, Gmail, YouTube, Maps, PlayStore, etc.). Android devices need the GMS certification to run 
all the Google proprietary applications, without which, the device will not be able to operate any of these applications.

Government Regulation

FCC Equipment Authorization

In the United States, the FCC regulates RF devices. RF devices, including components used in cell phones, 
routers, and other devices we sell, are devices capable of emitting radio frequencies by radiation, conduction, or other 
means. An RF device being imported, marketed, or used in the United States is subject to the equipment authorization 
requirements established by the FCC and cannot be imported, marketed, or used without complying with such 
requirements. Equipment authorization requirements are intended to ensure that RF devices comply with the FCC’s 
emissions, power level, and other technical rules.

FCC Covered List

Pursuant to the Secure and Trusted Communications Networks Act of 2019, the FCC created and maintains a list 
(Covered List) of telecommunications services and equipment that pose an unacceptable risk to the national security 
of the United States. The FCC periodically updates the Covered List, and companies that appear on the Covered List 
are subject to change based on the security determinations of the FCC and other U.S. Federal agencies with which the 
FCC works. Categories of equipment made by companies, including equipment manufactured by their subsidiaries or 
affiliates, on the Covered List cannot be authorized in the United States.

Environmental Matters

Our facilities and operations, in common with those of our industry in general, are not subject to domestic 
or international laws and regulations designed to environmental protections. We have always been dedicated 
to environmental protection. With a steadfast commitment to sustainable development, the brand prioritizes 
environmentally friendly materials in the composition, manufacturing processes, and design of its products. It 
adopts eco-friendly manufacturing processes, showcasing innovative designs that emphasize a low carbon footprint, 
green practices, and energy efficiency principles. Each product embodies our comprehensive approach, seamlessly 
integrating environmental values into material selection, production techniques, and overall design philosophy.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Not applicable to smaller reporting companies.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Not applicable.

ITEM 1C. CYBERSECURITY

Risk Management

In connection with the Closing, on September 24, 2024, our Board of Directors approved our Cybersecurity 
Incident Response Policy (the “Cybersecurity Policy”), We have integrated the processes as described in the 
Cybersecurity Policy into our overall risk management systems and processes According to the Cybersecurity Policy, 
we routinely assess material risks from cybersecurity threats that may result in adverse effects on the confidentiality, 
integrity, or availability of our information systems or any information residing therein.
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Pursuant to the Cybersecurity Policy, we conduct periodic risk assessments to identify cybersecurity threats, as 
well as assessments in the event of a material change in our business practices that may affect information systems that 
are vulnerable to such cybersecurity threats. These risk assessments include identification of reasonably foreseeable 
internal and external risks, the likelihood and potential damage that could result from such risks, and the sufficiency 
of existing policies, procedures, systems, and safeguards in place to manage such risks.

Following these risk assessments, we re-design, implement, and maintain reasonable safeguards to minimize 
identified risks, reasonably address any identified gaps in existing safeguards, and regularly monitor the effectiveness 
of our safeguards. We devote significant resources and designate high-level personnel, including our Chief Technology 
Officer (“CTO”), James Liao, to manage the risk assessment and mitigation process.

We may engage consultants and other third parties as needed in connection with our risk assessment policies and 
processes. These service providers assist us to design and implement our cybersecurity policies and procedures, as well 
as to monitor and test our safeguards.

We require third-party service providers to certify their ability to implement and maintain appropriate security 
measures, consistent with all applicable laws, to implement and maintain reasonable security measures in connection 
with their work with us, and to promptly report any suspected breach of their security measures that may affect the 
Company.

As part of our overall risk management strategies, we also conduct cybersecurity trainings for personnel at all 
levels and in all departments.

Governance

One of the key functions of our Board of Directors is informed oversight of our risk management process, 
including risks from cybersecurity threats. Our Board of Directors is responsible for monitoring and assessing strategic 
risk exposure, and our executive officers are responsible for the day-to-day management of the material risks we face. 
Our Board of Directors administers its cybersecurity risk oversight function primarily through the Audit Committee. 
Our CIO provides periodic briefings to the Audit Committee regarding our cybersecurity risks and activities, including 
any recent cybersecurity incidents and related responses, cybersecurity policies and procedures, activities of third 
parties, and the like.

Our CTO, James Liao, and senior vice president of the Operating Subsidiary, Ruobing Yu, constitute our 
cybersecurity incident management team and are primarily responsible to assess and manage our material risks from 
cybersecurity threats. Our CTO has over 25 years in consumer electronics and telecommunication sectors and has a 
professional background in computer science and engineering, which enables him to oversee our IT systems efficiently.

As part of the executive team reporting to the Board, our CTO oversees our cybersecurity policies and processes, 
including those described in “Risk Management” above. The processes by which our CTO is informed of and monitors 
the prevention, detection, mitigation, and remediation of cybersecurity incidents include log review from IT and 
operations teams or reports received from network systems and applications if any unusual activity occurs, such as 
email system notification of items opened that could be malicious.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our corporate headquarters are located in 15375 Barranca Parkway C106, Irvine, CA. Our facilities are leased 
from independent third parties. The lease terms range from 1 to 7 years, with the option to renew upon expiration. We 
believe our current facilities are generally sufficient for our present needs.

Location
Square  
Footage

Purpose (Office or 
Manufacturing)

Lease  
Expiration  

Date
Monthly 
Payments

Irvine, CA . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,548 Flex Space 09/30/2026 $ 3,653.28
San Diego, CA  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,800 Office 05/31/2031 $ 3605.00
Alpharetta, GA . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 300 Office 02/14/2026 $ 591.25
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, we may be subject to legal proceedings and claims in the ordinary course of business. 
Currently, we are not a party to any material legal proceedings or subject to any material claims, except as disclosed 
below.

On November 22, 2024, Ximena Semensato (the “Plaintiff ”) filed Semensato v. Foxx Development Holdings 
Inc., et al., No. 2024-1200 (Del. Ch. Ct.), a class action complaint (the “Complaint”) in Delaware Chancery Court 
(the “Court”) against the Company and certain “Individual Defendants” (“Joy” Yi Hua, Haitao Cui, “Jeff ” Feng Jiang, 
“Eva” Yiqing Miao and Edmund R. Miller) (the “Action”). The Plaintiff seeks declaratory relief under provisions of the 
Delaware General Corporation Law relating to a waiver of the corporate opportunity doctrine that is contained in the 
Company’s Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation. The Company and each of the Individual Defendants 
denied any and all wrongdoing alleged in the Complaint. However, to avoid the cost and distraction of litigation, the 
directors of the board of the Company determined that it was advisable and in the best interests of the Company and 
its stockholders to amend Article X of the Charter (the “Amendment”). The Board approved and adopted the Second 
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company (the “Amended Charter”), and was planning for 
the Amendment to be submitted to the stockholders of the Company for adoption and approval at the next annual 
meeting of stockholders with the Board’s recommendation that the Amendment be approved and adopted by the 
stockholders of the Company.

On March 3, 2025, after the Plaintiff was advised of the Board’s approval of the Amended Charter, the Plaintiff 
filed a notice of voluntary dismissal of the Action as moot, which the Court approved by order dated March 4, 2025. 
Believing that the swift resolution of the Action was in the best interests of and benefit to the Company, and without 
admitting the allegations Plaintiff made in the Complaint, the Company agreed to pay $85,000 (the “Mootness Fee,” 
inclusive of a $500 service award to Plaintiff) to Plaintiff ’s counsel to resolve the anticipated application by Plaintiff ’s 
counsel for an award of attorneys’ fees and reimbursement of expenses. The Court has not and will not pass judgment 
on the amount of the Mootness Fee.

The results of any future litigation cannot be predicted with certainty, and regardless of the outcome, litigation 
can have an adverse impact on us because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources, and 
other factors.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not Applicable.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS 
AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

Our Common Stock and Public Warrants are traded on Nasdaq under the symbols “FOXX” and “FOXXW,” 
respectively.

Stockholders

As of October 13, 2025, the numbers of record holders of our Common Stock and Public Warrants were 4 and 2, 
respectively, not including beneficial holders whose securities are held in street name.

Dividends

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our capital stock. We do not anticipate declaring or paying, 
in the foreseeable future, any cash dividends on our capital stock. We intend to retain all available funds and future 
earnings, if any, to fund the development and expansion of our business, and we do not anticipate paying any cash 
dividends in the foreseeable future. Any future determination regarding the declaration and payment of dividends, if 
any, will be at the discretion of our Board of Directors, subject to applicable laws, and will depend on then-existing 
conditions, including our financial condition, operating results, contractual restrictions, capital requirements, business 
prospects and other factors our Board of Directors may deem relevant.

In addition, our ability to pay cash dividends on our capital stock in the future may be limited by the terms of any 
future debt, issued preferred securities, or any credit facility agreements.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

Pursuant to the Business Combination Agreement, the board of directors of Purchaser, and ACAC, as the sole 
stockholder of Purchaser, adopted and approved a 2024 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Incentive Plan”), which became 
effective upon the Closing.

The Incentive Plan is administered by the plan administrator, who is our Board of Directors or a committee that 
the Board designates. The plan administrator has the power to determine, among other things, the terms of the awards 
granted under the Incentive Plan, including the exercise price, the number of shares subject to each award (and the 
class of shares), and the exercisability and vesting terms of the awards, subject to the terms of the Incentive Plan. The 
plan administrator also has the power to determine the persons to whom and the time or times at which awards will be 
made and to make all other determinations and take all other actions advisable for the administration of the Incentive 
Plan. All decisions made by the administrator pursuant to the provisions of the Incentive Plan will be final, conclusive, 
and binding.

A total number of shares of Common Stock equal to 20% of the outstanding shares of our Common Stock at the 
Closing, will be available for grant under the Incentive Plan. As of the date of this Annual Report, 1,454,019 shares of 
our Common Stock became authorized for issuance under the Incentive Plan.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

None.

ITEM 6. [Reserved]
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS 
OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of our results of operations and financial condition should be read together 
with our consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto and other financial information, which are included 
elsewhere in this Report. This discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. 
Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include those identified below and those discussed in 
other sections of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our historical results are not necessarily indicative of the results 
that may be expected for any period in the future. Our financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
U.S. GAAP.  In addition, our financial statements and the financial information included in this Report reflect our 
organizational transactions and have been prepared as if our current corporate structure had been in place throughout 
the relevant periods.

Overview

Foxx Development Holdings Inc. (“we,” “our”, “us”, or the “Company”) was incorporated on November 13, 2023 
under the name “Acri Capital Merger Sub I Inc.” On September 26, 2024 (the “Closing”), Acri Capital Acquisition 
Corporation (“ACAC”), a Delaware corporation and our parent company at the time, consummated a previously 
announced business combination pursuant to the terms of the business combination agreement, dated February 18, 
2024 (as amended on May 31, 2024, collectively, the “Business Combination Agreement”), by and among us, ACAC, 
Acri Capital Merger Sub II Inc., a Delaware corporation and our wholly-owned subsidiary at the time (“Merger Sub”), 
and Foxx Development Inc., a Texas corporation incorporated on May 17, 2017 (“Old Foxx”), pursuant to which 
(i) ACAC merged with and into us (the “Reincorporation Merger”), with us surviving the Reincorporation Merger, and 
(ii) Old Foxx merged with and into Merger Sub, with Merger Sub surviving as our wholly-owned Delaware subsidiary 
(the “Acquisition Merger”). The Reincorporation Merger, the Acquisition Merger, and the transactions contemplated 
under the Business Combination Agreement, are collectively referred to as the “Business Combination”.

Upon Closing, we were renamed as “Foxx Development Holdings Inc.”, and the Merger Sub was renamed as 
“Foxx Development Inc.” (the “Operating Subsidiary”).

The ACAC securities previously traded on the Nasdaq Capital Market (“Nasdaq”) were delisted and ceased 
trading following the Closing. On September 27, 2024, one business day after the Closing, our Common Stock and 
Warrant became listed on the Nasdaq under trading symbols “FOXX” and “FOXXW,” respectively.

Together with our Subsidiary, we are a technology innovation firm specializing in the communications 
sector. Since our establishment in 2017, we have expanded our presence to include various locations throughout the 
United States, such as San Francisco, CA, Dallas, TX, Atlanta, GA, Los Angeles, CA, Miami, FL, and New York, 
NY. This expansion enables us to provide sales, retail, distribution, and after-sales support services while simultaneously 
driving innovation through active research and development efforts aimed at pioneering new customization standards 
and services.

Our business model involves providing comprehensive hardware and software specifications to original design 
manufacturers. Once the products are developed, we engage with third-party agencies to secure necessary testing and 
certifications, including Equipment Authorizations from the FCC and certifications from the Global Mobile Suppliers 
Association. We currently offer a range of Foxx-branded products, including tablets, smartphones, wearables, and 
expects to launch other high-quality communication terminals. Our products are generally priced competitively after 
considering various factors such as product costs, research and development investments, regulatory compliance, 
testing expenses, and shipping costs. Our customers are primarily distributors who sell Foxx-branded products in the 
U.S. public channels and to major carriers in the United States such as T-Mobile, AT&T, and Verizon. Our customers 
also included individual E-Commerce customers from TikTok Shop, which we began our E-Commerce operations in 
March 2024. We also provide an App Service by installing applications from App developer partners onto its mobile 
devices and facilitating the distribution of these devices to end users.

We have generated most of our revenue from the sales of tablets and smartphones. We expect to enter the 
U.S.  IoT markets and potentially the private label Mobile Virtual Network Operator (“MVNO”) market, with the 
aim of growing into a key player both domestically and globally. We have been preparing to enter these markets by 
adding additional features and providing related services that enable Foxx-branded devices to have IoT and MVNO 
capabilities.
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We manage inventory and meet market demand through our build-to-order business model. After customers 
place purchase orders in bulks with us, we place purchase orders with suppliers to manufacture the products that meet 
customers’ products specifications and budget requirements. Prior to 2023, we have relied on limited suppliers for the 
manufacturing of mobile phone and tablet products and on limited customers for the distribution of these products. 
We selectively concentrated our resources on our tablet and mobile phone products because such products held the 
strongest market potential and revenue generation capability at the time when remote work and online classes became 
more prevalent.

Beginning in 2023, we adjusted our business strategy to avoid reliance on limited suppliers and customers and to 
diversify suppliers and customers to mitigate the concentration and reliance risk. We have added new product models 
across each product line to target a broader range of customers. As of the date hereof, we have reached out to a total 
of eighteen wholesale customers to expand our operations in the market and expects to secure purchase orders from 
these new customers. At the same time, to meet the various product demands of current and prospective customers, 
we have connected with suppliers who can provide manufacturing support when we secure purchase orders from our 
customers. In addition, we plan to further expand our product offerings and to launch an IoT platform to manage all 
end-products sold, and began setting up a service team for our business to business (B2B) model in the artificial IoT 
department. Through the efforts of expanding product offerings and reaching to broader customer base, we will be able 
to move away from relying on limited customers and suppliers.

In addition, on February 8, 2024, the U.S. Federal Communication Commission stopped accepting new enrollment 
in the Affordable Connectivity Program (ACP) and announced that the ACP will stop accepting new applications and 
enrollments on February 7, 2024, and will stop funding for enrolled customers starting on April 30, 2024. Temporarily 
impacted by such a change in ACP, most of our new customers cut down their sales teams in anticipation of the 
reduced customer base, which affected the demand for our products across all channels during the year ended June 30, 
2024; and on the other hand, our competitors have stockpiled their products during the year ended June 30, 2024, due 
to severely declining sales and they have started lower their sale price on their products which affected the demand 
of our products. However, we may continue to target end-users who are eligible for the Lifeline Program, which is 
administered by the Universal Service Administrative Company (USAC) and receives funding from the Universal 
Service Fund, a government program that receives annual contributions from telecommunications companies or their 
customers. At the same time, because we have initiated our strategic shifts to diversify our product offerings, we 
expect to target customers who are interested in other mobile devices, tablets, and IoT products. In addition, we 
began launching our products through TikTok Shop in March 2024 and we expect to grow our sales through this 
E-Commerce channel.

For the year ended June 30, 2025, we experienced a significant increase in the sales of mobile phone products, 
as we have added three new major customers. In addition, we have launched new wearable products, such as smart 
watches, smart rings, smart glasses, trackers and headsets, and App service commission revenue during the period 
which have driven up our sales for the year ended June 30, 2025 as compared to the same period in 2024.

The Business Combination

Incorporated as a Delaware corporation under the name “Acri Capital Merger Sub I Inc.” on November 13, 2023, 
we entered into the Business Combination Agreement on February 18, 2024, as amended on May 31, 2024, by and 
among us, ACAC, Merger Sub, and Old Foxx.

Upon the Closing of the Business Combination on September 26, 2024, ACAC merged with and into us, with us 
surviving the Reincorporation Merger, and (ii) Old Foxx merged with and into Merger Sub, with Merger Sub surviving 
as our wholly-owned Delaware subsidiary after the Acquisition Merger.

Merger Consideration

Immediately prior to the effective time of the Reincorporation Merger (the “Reincorporation Merger Effective 
Time”), which was on September 25, 2024, one business day prior to the Closing, (i) each issued and outstanding 
ACAC unit was automatically separated into one (1) share of ACAC Class A common stock and one-half (1/2) of 
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one ACAC warrant, and (ii) each share of ACAC Class A common stock held by stockholders of ACAC who validly 
redeemed their shares of ACAC Class A common stock (each “ACAC Redeeming Share”) was automatically cancelled 
and ceased to exist and thereafter represented only the right to be paid a pro-rata redemption price.

• At the Reincorporation Merger Effective Time on September 25, 2024, (i) each share of ACAC Class A 
or Class B common stock issued and outstanding (other than ACAC Redeeming Shares) was converted 
automatically into one (1) share of our common stock, par value $0.0001 per share (the “Common Stock”), 
and (ii) each issued and outstanding ACAC warrant was converted automatically into one (1) redeemable 
our warrant, exercisable for one (1) share of our Common Stock at an exercise price of $11.50 per share 
(the “Warrant”).

• At the Closing on September 26, 2024, by virtue of the Acquisition Merger and the Business Combination 
Agreement, and without any action on the part of any party to the Business Combination Agreement or 
affiliate or security thereof, the issued and outstanding shares of common stock of Old Foxx (“Original 
Foxx Common Stock”) held by then exiting holders of Original Foxx Common Stock (the “Original Foxx 
Shareholders”) immediately prior to the Closing (including shares of Old Foxx Common Stock issuable 
upon conversion of the principal and accrued interest of promissory notes of Old Foxx issued in the 
Transaction Financing, as defined below) were cancelled and automatically converted into (i) the right to 
receive, without interest, the applicable portion of 5,000,000 shares of our Common Stock (the “Closing 
Payment Stock”, 500,000 of which are subject to the Escrow Arrangement noted below), and (ii)  the 
contingent right to receive the applicable portion of the Earnout Shares (as defined below), if, as and when 
payable in accordance with the earnout provisions of the Business Combination Agreement.

Upon Closing, we were renamed as “Foxx Development Holdings Inc.”, and the Merger Sub was renamed as 
“Foxx Development Inc.” (i.e. the Operating Subsidiary).

Pursuant to the Business Combination Agreement, 500,000 shares of the Closing Payment Stock in aggregate 
were deposited (the “Escrow Arrangement”) to a segregated escrow account and would be released to the Original 
Foxx Shareholders if and only if, prior to or upon the one-year anniversary of the Business Combination Agreement, 
the Affordable Connectivity Program (ACP) managed by the U.S. Federal Communication Commission is reauthorized 
by the U.S. Congress with funding of no less than $4 billion in total for such reauthorized period; or otherwise be 
cancelled and forfeited by the Registrant without consideration.

Additionally, the Original Foxx Shareholders would be entitled to receive “Earnout Shares”, which refer to 
4,200,000 shares of our Common Stock, subject to the vesting schedule (the “Vesting Schedule”) as follows:

• (i) in connection with the financial performance for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024:

(A) 700,000 Earnout Shares would be issued to Original Foxx Shareholders on a pro rata basis if 
and only if our audited consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2024 (“2024 Audited Financial Statements”), prepared in accordance with the Generally 
Accepted Accounting Principles of the United States (“U.S. GAAP”) and filed with the SEC 
on Form 10-K by us after Closing, would reflect our revenue for the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2024 (the “2024 Revenue”) to be no less than $67,000,000 (including $67,000,000) and less 
than $84,000,000 (excluding $84,000,000);

(B) 1,400,000 Earnout Shares would be issued to Original Foxx Shareholders on a pro rata basis 
if and only if the Registrant 2024 Revenue reflected in the 2024 Audited Financial Statements 
would be no less than $84,000,000 (including $84,000,000) and less than $100,000,000 
(excluding $100,000,000);

(C) 2,100,000 Earnout Shares would be issued to Original Foxx Shareholders on a pro rata basis 
if and only if the 2024 Revenue reflected in the 2024 Audited Financial Statements would be 
no less than $100,000,000 (including $100,000,000);

provided, however, that the Earnout Shares would be issued and delivered pursuant to one paragraph from 
(i)(A)-(i)(C) above only once; and
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• (ii) In connection with the financial performance for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025:

(A) 700,000 Earnout Shares would be issued to Original Foxx Shareholders on a pro rata basis if 
and only if our audited consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2025 (“2025 Audited Financial Statements”), prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP and 
filed with the SEC on Form 10-K by us after Closing, would reflect revenue of the Registrant 
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025 (the “2025 Revenue”) to be no less than $77,050,000 
(including $77,050,000) and less than $96,600,000 (excluding $96,600,000);

(B) 1,400,000 Earnout Shares would be issued to Original Foxx Shareholders on a pro rata basis if 
and only if the 2025 Revenue reflected in the 2025 Audited Financial Statements would be no less 
than $96,600,000 (including $96,600,000) and less than $115,000,000 (excluding $115,000,000);

(C) 2,100,000 Earnout Shares will be issued to Original Foxx Shareholders on a pro rata basis if 
and only if the 2025 Revenue reflected in the 2025 Audited Financial Statements would be no 
less than $115,000,000 (including $115,000,000);

provided, however, that the Earnout Shares would be issued and delivered pursuant to one paragraph from 
(ii)(A) to (ii)(C) above only once.

On October 24, 2024, upon the filing of the 2024 Audited Financial Statements as part of the Annual Report 
of the Company on Form 10-K filed with the SEC (the “2024 10-K”), any Earnout Shares that the Original Foxx 
Shareholders may be entitled to receive under the Vesting Schedule were automatically forfeited, as the Company did 
not meet any of the vesting conditions for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024 as provided in the Vesting Schedule. 
The Earnout Shares in connection with the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025 were also forfeited automatically as the 
Company did not meet any of the vesting conditions for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025 as provided in the Vesting 
Schedule.

In addition to the foregoing, pursuant to that certain amendment to the Underwriting Agreement, by and between 
EF Hutton LLC and ACAC, dated February 20, 2024, 43,125 shares of our Common Stock were issued to EF Hutton 
LLC at the Closing.

Public Listing

The ACAC securities previously traded on Nasdaq were delisted without any action needed to be taken on the 
part of the holders of such securities and are no longer traded on Nasdaq following the Closing. On September 27, 
2024, one business day after the Closing, our Common Stock and Warrant became listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market 
(“Nasdaq”) under trading symbols “FOXX” and “FOXXW,” respectively.

Accounting Treatment

While the legal acquirer in the Business Combination was ACAC, for financial accounting and reporting 
purposes under U.S. GAAP, Old Foxx was the accounting acquirer, and the Business Combination was accounted 
for as a “reverse recapitalization.” A reverse recapitalization (i.e., a capital transaction involving the issuance of stock 
by ACAC for the stock of Old Foxx) does not result in a new basis of accounting, and the unaudited condensed 
consolidated financial statements of the combined company represent the continuation of the unaudited condensed 
consolidated financial statements of Old Foxx in many respects. Accordingly, the assets, liabilities and results of 
operations of Old Foxx became the historical financial statements of the combined company, and ACAC’s assets, 
liabilities, and results of operations were consolidated with Old Foxx beginning from the Closing on September 26, 
2024. Operations prior to the Business Combination are presented as those of Old Foxx. The net assets of ACAC 
are recognized at historical cost (which is expected to be consistent with carrying value), with no goodwill or other 
intangible assets recorded upon execution of the Business Combination.

Transaction Financing

In consideration of market conditions, pursuant to the Business Combination Agreement, the parties agreed to 
use commercially best efforts to secure financing to pay transaction expense and working capital of Foxx, including 
without limitation, a PIPE financing, private financing, redemption waiver, convertible debt, forward purchase 
agreement, backstop, or equity line of credit (collectively, the “Transaction Financing”).
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On June 21, 2023, Old Foxx entered into a securities purchase agreement (the “Convertible Note Agreement 1”) 
with New Bay Capital Limited, a Hong Kong registered company (“New Bay”), and issued a promissory note (“Note 1”) 
to New Bay in the principal amount of $2 million with an interest rate of 7% per annum, convertible into shares of 
Original Foxx Common Stock at $30.00 per share upon the listing of Original Foxx Common Stock through an initial 
public offering. On December 21, 2023, Old Foxx issued into another securities purchase agreement (the “Convertible 
Note Agreement 2”) with New Bay with the same terms and conditions as the Convertible Note Agreement, and issued 
another promissory note (“Note 2”) to New Bay in the principal amount of $2 million.

In connection with the Business Combination Agreement and all the transaction contemplated therein (the 
“Business Combination”), in the spring of 2024, Old Foxx and ACAC reached out to New Bay to seek its interest in 
participating in further financing in connection with the Business Combination.

After negotiations with New Bay, On March 15, 2024, Old Foxx and New Bay agreed to an amendment to amend 
both Convertible Note Agreement 1 and Convertible Note Agreement 2, and to amend Note 1 and Note 2, by removing 
the lock-up provisions as provided therein and allowing the unpaid principal and accrued interest on Note 1 and Note 2 
to convert to Original Foxx Common Stock immediately prior to the closing of the Business Combination. New Bay 
also subscribed for a new promissory note (“Note 3”) in the principal amount of $2 million under the same terms and 
conditions as amended Note 1 and Note 2 (collectively, the “New Bay Notes”).

On March 15, 2024, Old Foxx and New Bay amended the terms of the Note 1 and Note 2 accordingly and New 
Bay subscribed for a new promissory note (“Note 3”) in the principal amount of $2 million under the same terms and 
conditions as amended Note 1 and Note 2 (collectively “New Bay Notes”).

On February 20, 2024, New Bay introduced Old Foxx to BR Technologies PTE, Ltd. (“BR Technologies”), 
a Singapore-based  company. On May  30, 2024, Old Foxx, BR Technologies and Grazyna Plawinski Limited, a 
Singapore-based company (“Grazyna”), entered into a securities purchase agreement for issuance of promissory notes 
in the amount of up to $9.0 million with an interest rate of 7% per annum under the same terms and conditions as 
provided in the New Bay Notes. A promissory note was issued by Old Foxx to BR (the “Note 4”) in the principal 
amount of $6 million and promissory notes issued by Old Foxx to Grazyna (the “Note 5”) in the total principal amount 
of $3 million on September 12, 2024.

Immediately prior to the Closing, all the accrued and unpaid principal and interests on the New Bay Notes, 
Note 4, and Note 5 were converted into: (x) 212,050 shares of Original Foxx Common Stock for the New Bay Notes, 
(y) 200,882 shares of Original Foxx Common Stock for Note 4, and (z) 100,690 share of Old Foxx Common Stock 
for Note 5, at a price of $30.00 per share. At the Closing, all of the converted shares of Original Foxx Common Stock 
were cancelled in exchange for the holders’ pro rata share of the Closing Payment Shares using the exchange ratio of 
3.3033, resulting in (x) 700,473 shares of our Common Stock issued to New Bay, (y) 663,581 shares of our Common 
Stock issued to BR Technologies, and (z) 332,614 shares of our Common Stock issued to Grazyna.

Key Factors that Affect Operating Results

We believe the key factors affecting our financial condition and results of operations include the following:

Retention of key management team members

One of the key differentiating factors of us is the rich blended nature of our management team. Our management 
team comprises executives with extensive experience in electronics industry with IoT services related experiences. 
The wide array of industry experience captured by our management team allows us to deliver advanced technology 
and superior products to our customers. Losing any member of our key executive team could significantly impact the 
quality of services and products that we currently offer. Such departures may prompt customers to explore alternative 
products or IoT cloud platforms offered by different vendors or service providers.

Investment in technology and talent

We invest significant resources in outsourcing partnerships and dedicates efforts to research and develop new 
products, solutions, agent platforms, and related services. This commitment is essential to uphold our competitiveness 
in the industry, especially in the realm of IoT services. Advancing technology and enhancing capabilities are pivotal for 
enterprise growth, necessitating continual progress in electronic product technologies, novel services, and expanded 
capabilities.
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To maintain and expand our customer base, we must sustain a culture of innovation that aligns with the industry’s 
evolution. This entails continuously introducing cutting-edge technologies to the market. Our current focus in research 
and development revolves around bolstering comprehensive communication, storage, and energy solutions, as well 
as advancing 5G technology. This includes areas such as baseband development, Radio Frequency (RF) layout 
optimization, Session Initiation Protocol (SIP) integration, and rigorous system testing.

Our ability to expand our products and services and diversifying customer base

Currently, our main revenue stream originates from the sale of tablets and mobile phones. As brand recognition 
and acceptance grow, we anticipate a surge in user adoption of our wireless services and intelligence products. Our 
capacity to broaden our products portfolio, offer new services and attract a more diversified customer base could 
significantly influence our future operating results.

Results of Operations

Comparison for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024

For the Years Ended June 30,

2025 2024
Change  

($)
Change  

(%)

Revenues, net  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 65,919,166 $ 3,228,559 $ 62,690,607 1,941.8%
Cost of goods sold . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 61,144,561 3,112,616 58,031,945 1,864.4%
Gross profit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,774,605 115,943 4,658,662 4,018.1%
Operating expenses

Selling expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,183,464 1,076,761 4,106,703 381.4%
General, and administrative expense . . . . . . . . . . . 7,068,426 2,076,484 4,991,942 240.4%
Research and development – related party . . . . . . 136,752 91,168 45,584 50.0%
Research and development . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,083,897 — 2,083,897 100.0%

Loss from operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (9,697,934) (3,128,470) (6,569,464) 210.0%
Other income (expense), net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 754,541 (282,344) 1,036,885 (367.2)%
Provision for income tax . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 76,743 19,828 56,915 287.0%
Net loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (9,020,136) (3,430,642) (5,589,494) 162.9%
Foreign currency translation adjustment . . . . . . . . . . (5,002) — (5,002) 100.0%
Comprehensive loss  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (9,025,138) $ (3,430,642) $ (5,594,496) 163.1%

Revenues

Our revenue primarily derived from sales of electronic products. The total revenues increased by approximately 
$62.7 million, or 1,941.8%, to approximately $65.9 million for the year ended June 30, 2025 as compared to $3.2 million 
for the year ended June 30, 2024. The increase of the total revenue was mainly attributable to the sales from three new 
major wholesale customers who aggregately accounted for 76% of our sales and launching of a new line of products, 
which is the wearable electronic products, and new services.

Our revenues from our revenue categories are summarized as follows:

For the Years Ended
June 30,  

2025
June 30,  

2024

Tablet products  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 509,843 $ 660,787
Mobile phone products . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 59,696,955 2,567,772
Wearable products and others . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,444,077 —
Subtotal product revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 63,650,875 3,228,559
App service commission revenue, net. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,166,477 —
Other services . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 101,814 —
Subtotal service revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,268,291 —
Total revenues, net  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 65,919,166 $ 3,228,559
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Revenue from the sales of tablet products decreased by approximately $0.2 million, or 22.8%, to approximately 
$0.5 million for the year ended June 30, 2025, from $0.7 for the year ended June 30, 2024. Revenue from sales of 
mobile phone products, which accounted for 91% of total revenue, increased by approximately $57.1  million, or 
2,224.9%, to approximately $59.7 million for the year ended June 30, 2025 from $2.6 million for the year ended 
June 30, 2024, primarily because we rolled out some new phone products beginning in January 2024 and the sales to 
our two new major wholesale customers accounted for 50% of our sales in aggregate. Revenue from sales of wearable 
products and others, which was new for the year ended June 30, 2025, increased by approximately $3.4 million, or 
100.0%, to approximately $3.4 million for the year ended June 30, 2025 from $0 for year ended June 30, 2024, as we 
rolled out some new wearable products beginning in October 2024. Revenue from App service commission increased 
by approximately $2.2 million, or 100.0%, to approximately $2.2 million for the year ended June 30, 2025 from $0 for 
the year ended June 30, 2024, as we started to generate income by providing installation of App service to our partners 
on our mobile devices and procure the distribution of these devices to the end users beginning in July 2024. Revenue 
from other services increased by approximately $0.1 million, or 100.0%, to approximately $0.1 million for the year 
ended June 30, 2025 from $0 for the year ended June 30, 2024, as we started to generate income by providing other 
logistic and warehouse management services in April 2025.

Cost of Goods Sold

Our cost of goods sold mainly consisted of cost of merchandise and freight. Total cost of goods sold increased 
by approximately $58.0 million, or 1,864.4%, to approximately $61.1 million for the year ended June 30, 2025 as 
compared to $3.1 million for the year ended June 30, 2024. The increase in cost of goods sold is a direct result of an 
increase in our revenue, which is consistent with the acquisition of our three new major wholesale customers and new 
product line as discussed above for the year ended June 30, 2025.

Our cost of goods sold from their revenue categories are summarized as follows:

For the Years Ended
June 30,  

2025
June 30,  

2024

Tablet products  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 437,903 $ 505,832
Mobile phone products . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 57,618,133 2,606,784
Wearable products . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,040,588 —
Other services cost  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 47,937 —
Total cost of goods sold  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 61,144,561 $ 3,112,616

Our cost of goods sold for tablets decreased by approximately $0.1  million, or 13.4%, to approximately 
$0.4 million for the year ended June 30, 2025 from $0.5 for the same period in 2024. Cost of goods sold for mobile 
phone products increased by approximately $55.0 million, or 2,110.3%, to approximately $57.6 million for the year 
ended June 30, 2025 from $2.6 million for the same period in 2024, which is consistent with the direct result of 
an increase in revenue from sales of mobile phone products. Cost of goods sold for wearable products and others 
increased by approximately $3.0 million, or 100.0%, to approximately $3.0 million for the year ended June 30, 2025 
from $0 for the same period in 2024, which is also the direct result of an increase in our revenue as we rolled out some 
new wearable products beginning in October 2024. Cost of goods sold for other services increased by approximately 
$48,000, or 100.0% to approximately $48,000 for the year ended June 30, 2025 from $0 for the same period in 2024, 
which is also the direct result of an increase in our other revenue as we started to generate income by providing other 
services during the year ended June 30, 2025.

Gross Profit

Our gross profit increased by approximately $4.7 million, or 4,018.1%, to approximately $4.8 million for the 
year ended June 30, 2025, from approximately $0.1 million for the year ended June 30, 2024.
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Our gross profit from their major revenue categories is summarized as follows:

For the Years Ended June 30,

2025 2024 Change
Change  

(%)

Tablet products
Gross profit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 71,940 $ 154,955 $ (83,015) (53.6)%
Gross profit percentage . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14.1% 23.5% (9.3)%

Mobile phone products
Gross profit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2,078,822 $ (39,012) $ 2,117,834 (5,428.7)%
Gross profit percentage . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3.5% (1.5)% 5.0%

Wearable products and others
Gross profit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 403,489 $ — $ 403,489 100.0%
Gross profit percentage . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11.7% — 11.7%

App service commission revenue
Gross profit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2,166,477 $ — $ 2,166,477 100.0%
Gross profit percentage . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 100.0% — 100.0%

Other services
Gross profit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 53,877 $ — $ 53,877 100.0%
Gross profit percentage . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 52.9% — 100.0%

Total
Gross profit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 4,774,605 $ 115,943 $ 4,658,662 4,018.1%
Gross profit percentage . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7.2% 3.6% 3.7%

For the year ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, our overall gross profit percentage was 7.2% and 3.6%, respectively. 
The increase in gross profit percentage of 3.7% was primarily due to the increases in gross profit percentage for 
mobile phone products, wearable products and others and app service commission revenue and others.

Gross profit percentage of tablets dropped from 23.5% to 14.1% from the year ended June 30, 2024 to the same 
period in 2025. This was primarily due the decrease of sales of those with higher unit selling prices and lower unit 
purchase prices.

Gross profit (loss) percentage for mobile phones increased from (1.5)% to 3.5% for the year ended June 30, 
2024, to the same period in 2025. This was primarily due to the increasing sales of new phone models with higher 
gross profit margins.

For the year ended June 30, 2025, our gross profit percentage of wearable products was 11.7%. We did not have 
this kind of products for the year ended June 30, 2024.

For the year ended June  30, 2025, our gross profit percentage of App service commission and others was 
100.0%. This high margin was primarily attributable to the nature of App service commission revenue, which was 
commission based revenue that was earned at a point in time when the revenue is generated from the App, that is 
when clicks and/or impressions, activation of Apps, and installation of additional Apps occur at a point in time when 
the end users of the mobile devices interact with those Apps. We earned the App revenue share (service commission) 
from our partners without incurring any direct cost, as the pre-installation expenses were included in the research 
and development expenses prior to installation, and any labor costs with minimal time spent were immaterial to be 
allocated to cost of revenue. We did not have this kind of service for the year ended June 30, 2024.

For the year ended June 30, 2025, our gross profit percentage of other services was 52.9%. We did not have the 
other logistic and warehouse management services for the year ended June 30, 2024.
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Operating Expenses

Total operating expenses increased by approximately $11.3 million, or 346.1%, to approximately $14.5 million 
for the year ended June 30, 2025 from approximately $3.2 million for the year ended June 30, 2024.

Our operating expenses are summarized as follows:

For the Years ended June 30,

2025 2024
Change  

($)
Change  

(%)

Operating expenses
Selling expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 5,183,464 $ 1,076,761 $ 4,106,703 381.4%
General and administrative expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,068,426 2,076,484 4,991,942 240.4%
Research and development – related party . . . . . . . . . . . . 136,752 91,168 45,584 50.0%
Research and development . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,083,897 — 2,083,897 100.0%
Total operating expense  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 14,472,539 $ 3,244,413 $ 11,228,126 346.1%

The increase in operating expense was mainly attributed to the following:

Selling Expenses

Selling expenses increased approximately $4.1 million, or 381.4%, to approximately $5.2 million for the year 
ended June 30, 2025, from approximately $1.1 million for the year ended June 30, 2024. The increased selling expenses 
was mainly attributable to (i) approximately $2.0 million increase in commission, payroll and payroll related expense 
as we recruited and hired more salespersons to our team during the year ended June 30, 2025, (ii) approximately 
$0.9 million increase in consulting fees, as the Company engaged additional sales consultant to enhance our sales 
efforts, (iii) approximately $0.4 million increase in sampling, testing and certification expenses, (iv) approximately 
$0.2 million increase in stock-based compensation as we granted restricted stock units in November 2024 to our sales 
team members under the Incentive Plan, (v) approximately $0.3 million increase in warranty expenses which is in line 
with sales growth, and (vi) approximately $0.3 million increase advertising and marketing, which all directly related 
with boosting the brand awareness, adding new product models, and attracting more business opportunities in the 
electronic devices market during the year ended June 30, 2025.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses increased approximately $5.0  million, or 240.4%, to approximately 
$7.1 million for the year ended June 30, 2025 from approximately $2.1 million for the year ended June 30, 2024. The 
increased general and administrative expense were mainly attributable to (i) the approximately $1.3 million increase 
in professional expense on audit, legal and accounting fees as we became a public company, (ii)  approximately 
$1.2  million increase in salary and wages as we made more new hires during the year ended June  30, 2025, 
(iii) approximately $0.9 million increase in credit losses due to the increasing risk of uncollectable accounts from a 
few of our customers, (iv) approximately $0.4 million increase in stock-based compensation as we granted restricted 
stock units in November 2024 to our management team members under the Incentive Plan, and (v) approximately 
$1.2 million increase in other general and administrative miscellaneous expenses, such as insurance, rent expense, 
travel expense, and office expense due to increased expenses in the increased of our operations. We anticipate a 
continued rise in our G&A as we persist in executing our business expansion plan and integrating IoT-enabled devices 
alongside our cloud platform to streamline operations in 2026.

Research and Development — related party

Research and development (“R&D”) expenses from a related party increased by approximately $46,000, or 
50.0%, where the increase was primarily due to an R&D project began in 2024. During the year ended June 30, 2024, a 
related party completed 40% of the remaining 5G development project pursuant to an R&D agreement between us and 
the related party, and we recognized an R&D expense approximately of $91,000 accordingly based on the progression 
of the R&D project. During the year ended June 30, 2025, the related party completed the remaining 5G development 
project, and we recognized a R&D expense of approximately $137,000.
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Research and Development

R&D expenses increased by approximately $2.1 million, or 100.0%, from $0 for the year ended June 30, 2024 
to $2.1 million for the same period in 2025. The increase is due to hiring of more employees and engaging third 
parties to provide development services for new products during the year ended June 30, 2025. The increase is also 
attributable to approximately $0.1 million increase in stock-based compensation as we granted restricted stock units in 
November 2024 to our R&D team members under the Incentive Plan.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Our other expense, net is summarized as follows:

For the Years ended June 30,

2025 2024 Change
Change 

(%)

Other income (expense)
Interest expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (4,959,055) $ (278,328) $ (4,680,727) 1,681.7%
Other income (expense), net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25,589 (4,016) 29,605 (737.2)%
Change in fair value of earnout liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,688,007 — 5,688,007 100.0%
Total other income (expense), net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 754,541 $ (282,344) $ 1,036,885 (367.2)%

Total other income (expense), net increased by approximately $1.0  million, or 367.2%, to approximately 
$0.8 million of other income for the year ended June 30, 2025, from approximately $0.3 million of other expenses 
for the year ended June 30, 2024. The increase was primarily due to approximately $5.7 million of the change in fair 
value of earnout liabilities in connection with the Business Combination and offset by the increase in interest expenses 
of approximately $4.7 million incurred related to the financing offered by our vendors based upon the timing of our 
payment to their accounts payable.

Provision for Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes was approximately $77,000 and $20,000 for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 
2024, respectively, which increased by $57,000 or 287.0% as we had non-deductible change in fair value of earnout 
liabilities of approximately 5.7 million and capitalized R&D expenses of approximately $2.1 million during the year 
ended June 30, 2025.

Net Loss

Net loss increased by approximately $5.6 million, or 162.9%, to approximately $9.0 million for the year ended 
June 30, 2025, from approximately $3.4 million for the year ended June 30, 2024. Such change was mainly due to the 
reasons discussed above.

Foreign Currency Translation Adjustment

Changes in foreign currency translation adjustment of approximately $5,000 are mainly due to the fluctuation 
of foreign exchange rates between SGD (the functional currency of one of our subsidiaries) and the USD dollar 
(reporting currency) for the year ended June 30, 2025.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

In assessing liquidity, we monitor and analyses cash on-hand and operating and capital expenditure commitments. 
Our liquidity needs are to meet working capital requirements, operating expenses, and capital expenditure obligations. 
Debt financing in the form of convertible promissory note and cash generated from operations have been utilized to 
finance working capital requirements.

As of June 30, 2025, we had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $1.9 million, while we had accumulated 
deficit of approximately $20.0  million. During the year ended June  30, 2025, we had net loss of approximately 
$9.0 million and net operating cash outflow of approximately $6.6 million.
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If we are unable to generate sufficient funds to finance the working capital requirements within the normal 
operating cycle of a twelve-month period from the date of the consolidated financial statements are issued, we may 
have to consider supplementing our available sources of funds through the following sources:

• Other available sources of financing from banks, other financial institutions or private lenders;

• Financial support and credit guarantee commitments from our related parties; and

• Equity financing.

Our management has determined that the factors discussed above have raised substantial doubt about our ability 
to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the consolidated financial statements are issued. 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that we will continue as a going concern and, 
accordingly, do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.

The following summarizes the key components of cash flows for the year ended June 30, 2025 and 2024.

For the Years Ended  
June 30,

2025 2024

Net cash used in operating activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (6,560,121) $ (4,680,079)
Net cash used in investing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (40,236) (8,743)
Net cash provided by financing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,890,820 3,451,421
Effect of exchange rate changes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2,458) —
Net change in cash and cash equivalents  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,288,005 $ (1,237,401)

Operating Activities

Net cash used in operating activities was approximately $6.6 million for the year ended June 30, 2025 and 
was primarily attributable to (i) approximately $9.0 million in net loss, (ii) approximately $10.9 million increase in 
inventories because we stored more inventories to meet the demand of our anticipated sales orders, (iii) approximately 
$7.1  million increase in accounts receivable due to the increase of credit sales during the period, (iv)  non-cash 
expenses of approximately $5.7 million, which primarily attributed to the change in fair value of earnout liabilities, 
(v) approximately $2.0 million increase in prepaid expenses and other current assets due to our prepaid rent payment 
in connection with our factory and warehouse leases to be commenced in July 2025, (vi) approximately $1.1 million 
increase in security deposit because we rented more office, factory and warehouse space which were commenced 
in July 2025, (vii) approximately $0.2 million decrease in tax payable of ACAC due to the payment of income tax 
carried from ACAC after the Business Combination, and (viii)  approximately $0.6  million decrease in contract 
liabilities due to purchase of more inventories with vendors to meet customer demand. The cash outflow was offset 
by (i) approximately $24.8 million increase in accounts payable due to purchase of more inventories with vendors to 
meet customer demand, (ii) approximately $2.4 million increase in other payables and accrued liabilities mainly due to 
accrued professional fees that associated with business expansion, such as consulting fees, testing fees and legal fees, 
(iii) approximately $1.2 million decrease in contract assets due to purchase of more inventories with vendors to meet 
customer demand, (iv) approximately $0.8 million increase in non-cash stock compensation due to restricted stock 
units granted to our employees, consultants and independent director under the Incentive Plan, and (v) approximately 
$0.9 million provision for credit losses due to the increasing risk of uncollectable accounts from a few of our customers.

Net cash used in operating activities was approximately $4.7 million for the year ended June 30, 2024 and was 
primarily attributable to (i) approximately $3.4 million net loss, (ii) approximately $0.3 million increasd in accounts 
receivable due to provision of credit term to our new customers during the year, (iii)  approximately $1.7  million 
increase in contract assets due to engagement with new vendors which required purchase deposits to secure relevant 
transactions, (iv) approximately $1.8 million increase in inventories due to change in our business strategy where we 
rented warehouse in the U.S.  to store our inventories, (v) approximately $63,000 increase in prepaid expenses and 
other current assets, and security deposit, (vi)  approximately $33,000 in payment of operating lease liability, and 
(vii) approximately $16,000 decrease in income taxes payable. The cash outflow was offset by (i) non-cash expenses 
of approximately $0.3 million, which includes depreciation, accrued interest expenses from incurred from convertible 
notes, and amortization of operating right-of-use assets, (ii) approximately $1.4 million increase in accounts payable 
due to purchase of more inventories with vendors to meet customer demand, (iii) approximately $0.6 million increase 
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in contract liabilities due to a higher number of sales orders that had not yet been fulfilled but with advance payments 
made by customers to us to reserve products, and (iv)  approximately $0.2 million increase in other payables and 
accrued liabilities mainly due to accrued professional fees that associated with business expansion, such as consulting 
fees, testing fees and legal fees.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities was approximately $40,000 for the year ended June 30, 2025, attributable to 
approximately $68,000 purchase of some equipment for our warehouse uses and an automobile for our business uses, 
and offset by approximately $28,000 proceeds from sale of the automobile.

Net cash used in investing activities was approximately $9,000 for the year ended June 30, 2024 attributable to 
the purchase of office equipment and furniture.

Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities was approximately $7.9 million for the year ended June 30, 2025, 
mainly attributable to (i) approximately $19.7 million of proceeds from the reverse recapitalization, (ii) $9.0 million 
of proceeds from issuance of convertible promissory notes, and (iii) approximately $0.1 million of proceeds from 
issuance of common stock through exercise of warrant, offset by the payment of redeeming shareholders in connection 
with the Business Combination of approximately $20.5 million, the repayment of short-term loans of approximately 
$0.3 million and approximately $0.1 million in payments of deferred transaction costs.

Net cash provided by financing activities was approximately $3.5 million for the year ended June 30, 2024, mainly 
attributable to $4.0 million of proceeds from issuance of convertible promissory notes to New Bay in November 2023 
and March 2024, offset by approximately $0.4 million in payments of deferred offering costs, the repayment of related 
party loans of approximately $0.1 million, and the principal payments of long-term loan of approximately $16,000.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of June 30, 2025, we had no significant off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to 
have a current or future effect on our financial condition, changes in our financial condition, revenues or expenses, 
results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources that are material to our members.

Critical Accounting Estimate

The consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes have been prepared in accordance with 
U.S. GAAP. The preparation of these consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes requires us to make 
estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Estimates are based on historical experience and on various other 
assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making 
judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. We have 
identified certain accounting estimates that are critical to the preparation of the consolidated financial statements. 
Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the consolidated financial 
statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting the estimate may differ significantly from 
management’s current judgments. We believe that the critical accounting estimates, assumptions, and judgments that 
have the most significant impact on our consolidated financial statements are described below.

Income Taxes

We record deferred tax assets and liabilities based on the net tax effects of tax credits, operating loss 
carryforwards, and temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial 
reporting purposes compared to the amounts used for income tax purposes. We regularly review our deferred tax 
assets for recoverability with consideration for such factors as historical losses, projected future taxable income, and 
the expected timing of the reversals of existing temporary differences. A valuation allowance is recorded when it is 
more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Management believes the 
deferred tax assets, based largely on the history of tax losses, warrant a full valuation allowance based on the weight 



31

of available negative evidence. Currently, the key factor on our assumption of providing 100% valuation allowance 
was purely based on our historical operating losses. Once we began generating profit, we will re-evaluate whether 
providing 100% valuation allowance is appropriate or if we can reassess such number.

Earnout Liabilities

At the Closing, pursuant to the Business Combination Agreement, the Original Foxx Shareholders were entitled 
to receive up to a total of 4,200,000 contingent earnout shares (“Earnout Shares”) in the form of our common stock. 
The Earnout Shares will be issued upon certain vesting schedules based on our financial performance for the fiscal 
year ended June 30, 2024 and 2025. The Earnout Shares were classified as a liability at the Closing on September 26, 
2024 and measured at fair value at each reporting period, with changes in fair value included in the consolidated 
statements of operations.

When determining the fair value measurements for earnout liabilities which are required to be recorded at 
fair value, the Company considers the principal or most advantageous market in which the Company would transact 
and the market-based risk measurements or assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the earnout 
liabilities arising from the Business Combination.

The Company developed a Monte Carlo Model that values the earnout subject revenue milestones. The Monte 
Carlo Model technique applied generates many possible (but random) price paths for the underlying(s) via simulation 
and then calculates the associated payment value of the security features. The price of the underlying common stock is 
modeled such that it follows a geometric Brownian motion with constant drift, and constant volatility. The stock price 
is determined by a random sampling from a normal distribution. Since the underlying random process is the same, for 
enough price paths, the value of security is derived from path dependent scenarios and outcomes.

The model simulates the underlying economic factors, including the projected revenue that influenced which 
of these events would occur, when they were likely to occur, and the specific terms that would be in effect at the time 
(i.e., stock price, revenue, etc.). Probabilities were assigned to each variable such as the timing and pricing of events 
over the term of the instruments based on management projections. This led to a cash flow simulation over the life of 
the instrument. A discounted cash flow was completed to determine the value for the earnout liabilities.

Prior to the Business Combination, we were a private company and lacked company-specific historical and 
implied volatility information of its stock, and as such, the expected revenue volatility was based on historical volatility 
of industry outlook and the expected revenue volatility and stock volatility was based on the historical volatility of 
publicly traded peer companies for a term equal to the remaining expected term of the earnout period.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

As a smaller reporting company, we are not required to make disclosures under this Item.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of 
Foxx Development Holdings Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Foxx Development Holdings Inc. (the “Company”) 
as of June 30, 2025, the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, changes in stockholders’ 
deficit and cash flows for the year ended June 30, 2025 and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial 
statements”). In our opinion, based on our audit, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Company as of June 30, 2025, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year 
ended June 30, 2025, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Retrospective Application of a Change in Accounting Principle

We also have audited the adjustments to the 2024 financial statements to retrospectively apply the change 
in accounting due to the adoption of Accounting Standards Update  2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic  280): 
Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures (ASU  2023-07), as described in Note  3. In our opinion, such 
adjustments are appropriate and have been properly applied. We were not engaged to audit, review, or apply any 
procedures to the 2024 financial statements of the Company other than with respect to the adjustments and, accordingly, 
we do not express an opinion or any other form of assurance on the 2024 financial statements taken as a whole.

Explanatory Paragraph — Going Concern

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will 
continue as a going concern. As more fully described in Note  2, the Company has a significant working capital 
deficiency, has incurred significant losses and needs to raise additional funds to meet its obligations and sustain its 
operations. These conditions raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
Management’s plans in regard to these matters are also described in Note 2. The consolidated financial statements do 
not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express 
an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with 
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with 
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of 
the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, 
an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audit we are required to obtain an understanding 
of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audit also 
included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ CBIZ CPAs P.C.
CBIZ CPAs P.C.

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2023 (such date takes into account the acquisition of the attest 
business of Marcum LLP by CBIZ CPAs P.C. effective November 1, 2024).

San Jose, CA
October 14, 2025
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of
Foxx Development Holdings Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited, before the effects of the adjustments to retrospectively apply the change in accounting described 
in Note 3, the consolidated balance sheet of Foxx Development Holdings Inc. (the “Company” and formerly known as 
Foxx Development Inc.) as of June 30, 2024, and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive 
loss, changes in stockholders’ deficit, and cash flows for the year then ended and the related notes (the 2024 financial 
statements before the effects of the adjustments discussed in Note 3 are not presented herein). In our opinion, the 2024 
financial statements, before the effects of the adjustments to retrospectively apply the changes in accounting described 
in Note 3, present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of June 30, 2024, and the 
results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America.

We were not engaged to audit, review, or apply any procedures to the adjustments to retrospectively apply 
the changes in accounting described in Note 3 and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or any other form of 
assurance about whether such adjustments are appropriate and have been properly applied. Those procedures were 
audited by CBIZ CPAs P.C..

Explanatory Paragraph — Going Concern

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will 
continue as a going concern. As more fully described in Note  2, the Company has a significant working capital 
deficiency, has incurred significant losses and needs to raise additional funds to meet its obligations and sustain its 
operations. These conditions raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
Management’s plans in regard to these matters are also described in Note 2. The consolidated financial statements do 
not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express 
an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with 
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with 
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of 
the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, 
an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audit we are required to obtain an understanding 
of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audit 
also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis 
for our opinion.

/s/ MARCUM LLP
MARCUM LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor from 2023 through 2025.

San Jose, CA
October 24, 2024
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FOXX DEVELOPMENT HOLDINGS INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

June 30,  
2025

June 30,  
2024

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS

Cash. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,875,453 $ 587,448
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for credit losses of $595,907 and $0 

as of June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,786,792 251,894
Inventories . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12,686,739 1,768,072
Contract assets  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 454,842 1,682,289
Prepaid expenses and other receivables, net of allowance for credit losses of 

$317,282 and $0 as of June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,837,812 44,116
Prepaid expenses – related party . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,000 —
Due from a related party . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 140

Total Current Assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 23,649,638 4,333,959

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 131,722 142,619

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Operating right-of-use assets  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,063,438 405,758
Deferred transaction costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 462,177
Security deposits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,155,016 29,909

Total Non-current Assets. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,218,454 897,844

Total Assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 25,999,814 $ 5,374,422

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ DEFICIT

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 26,244,987 $ 1,396,860
Other payables and accrued liabilities  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,570,959 468,225
Other payable – related parties . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 272,917 51,168
Contract liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 378 649,450
Income taxes payable  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 76,743 —
Short-term loans . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 291,208
Current maturity of long-term loan . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 23,743 19,539
Operating lease liabilities – current  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 211,525 72,531
Convertible promissory notes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 6,000,000

Total Current Liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 30,401,252 8,948,981

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Operating lease liabilities – non-current . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 889,827 332,435
Long-term loan – non-current . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 73,418 95,442

Total Non-current Liabilities. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 963,245 427,877

Total Liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 31,364,497 9,376,858
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FOXX DEVELOPMENT HOLDINGS INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  — Continued

June 30,  
2025

June 30,  
2024

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (See Note 20)

SHAREHOLDERS’ DEFICIT
Common stock, $0.0001 par value, 50,000,000 and 6,606,664 shares 

authorized as of June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively; 6,780,597 and 
3,303,333 shares issued and outstanding as of June 30, 2025 and 2024, 
respectively . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 678 330*

Additional paid-in capital . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14,686,705 7,024,162
Accumulated deficit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (20,047,064) (11,026,928)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (5,002) —

Total Shareholders’ Deficit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (5,364,683) (4,002,436)

Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Deficit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 25,999,814 $ 5,374,422

* Giving retroactive effect to reverse recapitalization effected on September 26, 2024 to reflect exchange ratio of approximately 
3.3033 as described in Note 4.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FOXX DEVELOPMENT HOLDINGS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

For the Years Ended
June 30,  

2025
June 30,  

2024

REVENUES, NET . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 65,919,166 $ 3,228,559
COST OF GOODS SOLD . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 61,144,561 3,112,616
GROSS PROFIT . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,774,605 115,943

OPERATING EXPENSES:
Selling expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,183,464 1,076,761
General and administrative expenses  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,068,426 2,076,484
Research and development – related party . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 136,752 91,168
Research and development . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,083,897 —

Total Operating Expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14,472,539 3,244,413

LOSS FROM OPERATIONS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (9,697,934) (3,128,470)

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)
Interest expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (4,959,055) (278,328)
Other income (expense), net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25,589 (4,016)
Change in fair value of earnout liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,688,007 —

Total Other Income (Expense), net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 754,541 (282,344)

LOSS BFORE INCOME TAXES . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (8,943,393) (3,410,814)

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 76,743 19,828

NET LOSS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (9,020,136) (3,430,642)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
Foreign currency translation adjustment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (5,002) —

COMPREHENSIVE LOSS  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (9,025,138) $ (3,430,642)

WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF ORDINARY SHARES*
Basic . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,148,467 3,303,333
Diluted. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,148,467 3,303,333

LOSS PER SHARE
Basic . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (1.47) $ (1.04)
Diluted. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (1.47) $ (1.04)

* Giving retroactive effect to reverse recapitalization effected on September 26, 2024 to reflect exchange ratio of approximately 
3.3033 as described in Note 4.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FOXX DEVELOPMENT HOLDINGS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGE IN SHAREHOLDERS’ DEFICIT

Common stock
Additional  

paid-in  
capital

Accumulated  
deficit

Accumulated  
other  

comprehensive  
loss TotalShares* Amount

BALANCE, June 30, 2023 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,303,333 $ 330 $ 7,024,162 $ (7,596,286) $ — $ (571,794)
Net loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — (3,430,642) — (3,430,642)
BALANCE, June 30, 2024 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,303,333 330 7,024,162 (11,026,928) — (4,002,436)

Conversion of convertible promissory notes into 
common stock upon completion of reverse 
recapitalization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,696,668 170 15,408,515 — — 15,408,685

Issuance of common stock upon completion of 
reverse recapitalization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,270,096 227 (2,100,865) — — (2,100,638)

Earnout liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — (5,688,007) — — (5,688,007)
Transaction costs  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — (893,577) — — (893,577)
Issuance of common stock through exercise of 

warrants . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10,500 1 120,749 — — 120,750
Cancellation of common stock held  

in escrow  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (500,000) (50) 50 — — —
Stock-based compensation expenses  . . . . . . . . . . . — — 815,678 — — 815,678
Foreign currency translation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — (5,002) (5,002)
Net loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — (9,020,136) — (9,020,136)

BALANCE, June 30, 2025 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,780,597 $ 678 $ 14,686,705 $ (20,047,064) $ (5,002) $ (5,364,683)

* Giving retroactive effect to reverse recapitalization effected on September 26, 2024 to reflect exchange ratio of approximately 
3.3033 as described in Note 4.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FOXX DEVELOPMENT HOLDINGS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years Ended
June 30,  

2025
June 30,  

2024

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (9,020,136) $ (3,430,642)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:

Depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 47,732 39,783
Interest expense from convertible promissory notes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 140,740 264,445
Amortization of operating right of use assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 214,313 32,468
Provision for credit losses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 913,190 —
Stock-based compensation expenses  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 815,678 —
Change in fair value of earnout liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (5,688,007) —
Loss on sale of equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,400 —

Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (7,130,805) (251,894)
Inventories . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (10,918,667) (1,768,072)
Contract assets  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,227,448 (1,682,289)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2,028,619) (32,705)
Amount due from related parties  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (7,860) (140)
Security deposits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,125,107) (29,909)
Accounts payable  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24,848,127 1,396,861
Contract liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (649,072) 649,423
Taxes payable  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (226,262) (15,842)
Other payables and accrued liabilities  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,350,223 155,526
Other payable – related parties . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (150,830) 26,168
Operating lease liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (175,607) (33,260)

Net cash used in operating activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (6,560,121) (4,680,079)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of property and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (68,336) (8,743)
Proceeds from sale of equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 28,100 —

Net cash used in investing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (40,236) (8,743)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Repayments to short-term loans – related party . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (91,235)
Repayments to short-term loans . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (291,208) —
Principal payments of long-term loan . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (17,820) (15,967)
Proceeds from convertible promissory note . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9,000,000 4,000,000
Proceeds from reverse recapitalization, net of payments of transaction costs  . . . . 19,710,288 —
Proceeds from issuance of common stock through exercise of warrants . . . . . . . . 120,750 —
Payment of redemption payable  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (20,499,790) —
Payments of deferred transaction costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (131,400) (441,377)

Net cash provided by financing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,890,820 3,451,421

EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2,458) —

NET CHANGE IN CASH  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,288,005 (1,237,401)

CASH, beginning of the year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 587,448 1,824,849

CASH, end of the year  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,875,453 $ 587,448
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For the Years Ended
June 30,  

2025
June 30,  

2024

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
Cash paid for income tax  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 850 $ 35,670
Cash paid for interest  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2,507,745 $ 13,662

NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Initial recognition of operating right-of-use assets and lease liabilities . . . . . . . . . $ 750,338 $ 438,226
Modification of operating right-of-use assets and lease liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 121,655 $ —
Conversion of convertible promissory notes into common stock . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 15,408,685 $ —
Reverse recapitalization transaction costs net against additional-paid in capital . . $ 893,577 $ —
Deferred transaction costs included in other payables and accrued liabilities . . . . $ 300,000 $ 20,800
Initial recognition of earnout liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 5,688,007 $ —
Conversion from employee advance to receivable from a third party . . . . . . . . . . . $ 19,500 $ —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Note 1 — Nature of business and organization

Foxx Development Holdings Inc. (“Foxx” or the “Company”) was incorporated on November 13, 2023 under 
the name “Acri Capital Merger Sub I Inc.” On February 18, 2024, the Company entered into a business combination 
agreement (as amended on May 31, 2024, the “Business Combination Agreement”), by and among the Company, Acri 
Capital Acquisition Corporation, a Delaware corporation and our parent company at the time (“ACAC”), Acri Capital 
Merger Sub II Inc., a Delaware corporation and our wholly-owned subsidiary at the time (“Merger Sub”), and Foxx 
Development Inc. (“Old Foxx”), a Texas corporation incorporated on March 17, 2017 primarily engaged in the sales 
of electronic products, pursuant to which (i) ACAC merged with and into the Company, with the Company as the 
surviving Delaware corporation (the “Reincorporation Merger”), and (ii) Old Foxx merged with and into Merger Sub, 
with Merger Sub surviving as a wholly-owned Delaware subsidiary of the Company (the “Acquisition Merger”). The 
Reincorporation Merger, the Acquisition Merger, and other transactions contemplated under the Business Combination 
Agreement, are collectively referred to as the “Business Combination” (See Note 4).

Following the consummation of the Business Combination (the “Closing”) on September 26, 2024, the Company 
was renamed as “Foxx Development Holdings Inc.” and became a publicly traded company. The Merger Sub was 
renamed as “Foxx Development Inc.” and became the Delaware subsidiary of the Company.

On August  29, 2023, Foxx Technology Pte Ltd, a Singapore private company (“Foxx Technology”), was 
incorporated in Singapore, with Old Foxx holding 51% of the equity interests in Foxx Technology. Foxx Technology 
operates in the field of the manufacture of wireless communications equipment, and the wholesale of handphones, 
handphone peripheral equipment and other telecommunications equipment. On July  30, 2024, Foxx submitted the 
application to dissolve Foxx Technology to the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority (ACRA) of Singapore. 
On November 4, 2024, ACRA granted Foxx Technology’s application and struck it off from the company register of 
Singapore.

On March 3, 2025, Foxx Development (Singapore) Pte. Ltd (“Foxx Singapore”) was incorporated in Singapore. 
Foxx Singapore is primarily engaged in assembling electronic products, is 100% owned by the Company. Foxx 
Singapore had no significant operations as of June 30, 2025.

On April 8, 2025, Foxx Technologies Inc (“Foxx Tech”) was incorporated in the State of California. Foxx Tech 
is 100% owned by the Company. Foxx Tech had no significant operations as of June 30, 2025.

On May 19, 2025, Nexus IQ Technology Inc (“Nexus IQ”) was incorporated in the State of Delaware. Nexus IQ 
is primarily engaged in developing, sales and rental of Artificial Intelligence of Things (“AIOT”), is 100% owned by 
the Company. Nexus IQ had no significant operations as of June 30, 2025.

Note 2 — Going Concern

In assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, the Company monitors and analyses its 
cash on-hand and its operating and capital expenditure commitments. The Company’s liquidity needs are to meet its 
working capital requirements, operating expenses, and capital expenditure obligations.

The Company is primarily engaged in the sales of electronic products and debt financing in the form of convertible 
notes, loans from bank, third parties, related parties, and cash generated from operations have been utilized to finance 
the working capital. The Company’s management has considered whether there is substantial doubt about its ability to 
continue as a going concern due to (1) net cash used in operating activities of approximately $6.6 million for the year 
ended June 30, 2025, (2) net loss of approximately $9.0 million for the year ended June 30, 2025, and (3) accumulated 
deficit of approximately $20.0 million as of June 30, 2025.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 2 — Going Concern (cont.)

If the Company is unable to generate sufficient funds to finance the working capital requirements of the Company 
within the normal operating cycle of a twelve-month period from the date of the consolidated financial statements are 
issued, the Company may have to consider supplementing its available sources of funds through the following sources:

• Other available sources of financing from banks in the United  States of America and other financial 
institutions or private lenders;

• Financial support and credit guarantee commitments from the Company’s related parties; and

• Equity financing.

The Company can make no assurances that required financings will be available for the amounts needed, or on 
terms commercially acceptable to the Company, if at all. If one or all of these events does not occur or subsequent 
capital raises are insufficient to bridge financial and liquidity shortfall, there would likely be a material adverse effect 
on the Company and would materially adversely affect its ability to continue as a going concern.

As such, the Company’s management has determined that the factors discussed above have raised substantial 
doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the consolidated 
financial statements are issued. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company 
will continue as a going concern and, accordingly, do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome 
of this uncertainty.

Note 3 — Basis of presentation and significant accounting policies

Basis of presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) and pursuant to the rules and regulations 
of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). In the opinion of management, all adjustments, consisting only 
of normal recurring adjustments, considered necessary for a fair presentation of its financial position and operation 
results.

Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries. All 
transactions and balances among the Company and its subsidiaries have been eliminated upon consolidation.

A subsidiary is an entity in which the Company, directly or indirectly, controls more than one half of the voting 
power; or has the power to govern the financial and operating policies, to appoint or remove the majority of the 
members of the Board of Directors, or to cast a majority of votes at the meeting of directors.

Use of estimates and assumptions

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent 
assets and liabilities as of the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and 
expenses during the periods presented. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Fair value measurement

The accounting standard regarding the fair value of financial instruments and related fair value measurements 
defines financial instruments and requires disclosure of the fair value of financial instruments held by the Company.
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Note 3 — Basis of presentation and significant accounting policies (cont.)

The accounting standards define fair value, establish a three-level valuation hierarchy for disclosures of fair 
value measurement and enhance disclosure requirements for fair value measures. The three levels are defined as 
follows:

• Level 1 inputs to the valuation methodology are quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities 
in active markets.

• Level 2 inputs to the valuation methodology include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in 
active markets, and inputs that are observable for the assets or liability, either directly or indirectly, for 
substantially the full term of the financial instruments.

• Level 3 inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the fair value.

Financial instruments included in current assets and current liabilities are reported in the balance sheets at face 
value or cost, which approximates the fair value because of the short period of time between the origination of such 
instruments and their expected realization and their current market rates of interest.

Foreign currency translation and transactions

The reporting currency of the Company is the U.S. dollar. The functional currency for our holding company 
is the U.S. dollar (“USD”). In Singapore, the Company conducts its business in the local currency, Singapore dollar 
(“SGD”), as its functional currency. Assets and liabilities are translated at the unified exchange rate as quoted by 
the Federal Reserve System at the end of the period. The statements of operations and cash flows are translated at 
the average translation rates during the reporting periods and the equity accounts are translated at historical rates. 
Translation adjustments resulting from this process are included in accumulated other comprehensive loss. Transaction 
gains and losses that arise from exchange rate fluctuations on transactions denominated in a currency other than the 
functional currency are included in the results of operations as incurred.

Translation adjustments are included in accumulated other comprehensive loss. The balance sheet amounts, with 
the exception of shareholder’s equity (deficit) at June 30, 2025 were translated at SGD 1.27 to USD 1.00. The average 
translation rates applied to the consolidated statements of operations and cash flows for year ended June 30, 2025 was 
SGD 1.32 to USD 1.00. The shareholder’s equity accounts were translated at their historical rates. Amounts reported 
on the consolidated statement of cash flows will not necessarily agree with changes in the corresponding balances on 
the consolidated balance sheets.

Segments

The Company uses the management approach in determining reportable operating segments. The management 
approach considers the internal reporting used by the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”), which is the 
Company’s Chief Executive Officer and his direct reports, for making operating decisions about the allocation of 
resources and the assessment of performance in determining the Company’s reportable operating segments. The 
Company’s CODM review financial information presented on a consolidated basis, accompanied by disaggregated 
information about revenues, cost of revenues, and gross profit by business lines (electronic products revenues and App 
service commission revenue) for purposes of allocating resources and evaluating financial performance. There are no 
segment managers who are held accountable for operations, operating results and plans for levels or components below 
the consolidated unit level. In addition, all of the Company’s revenues are derived solely from the U.S, accordingly, 
no geographical information is presented. Management has determined that the Company has one operating segment.

Cash

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less to be 
cash and cash equivalents. As of June 30, 2025 and 2024, the Company had no cash equivalents on account. Cash is 
maintained at financial institutions and, at times, balances may exceed federally insured limits. Financial instruments 
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Note 3 — Basis of presentation and significant accounting policies (cont.)

that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash deposits. Accounts 
at each institution are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation up to $250,000. The Company has 
historically not experienced a loss related to these deposits.

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivables are recognized and carried at the original invoiced amount less an allowance for any 
uncollectible accounts on credit losses. Allowance for credit losses for accounts receivables is established based on 
various factors including historical payments and current economic trends. The Company reviews its allowance for 
credit loss by assessing individual accounts receivable over a specific aging and amount. All other balances are pooled 
based on historical collection experience. The estimate of expected credit losses is based on information about past 
events, current economic conditions, and forecasts of future economic conditions that affect collectability. Accounts 
receivable are written-off on a case by case basis after exhaustive efforts at collection are made, net of any amounts that 
may be collected. As of June 30, 2025 and 2024, $595,907 and $0, respectively, allowance for credit losses of accounts 
receivable was recorded and the Company had net accounts receivable of $6,786,792 and $251,894, respectively.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value, the estimated selling prices in the ordinary course 
of business, less reasonably predictable costs of completion, disposal and transportation. Cost is determined using the 
“First in, First out” method. Inventories mainly include electronic products and accessories which are purchased from 
the Company’s suppliers as merchandized goods and freight-in. On an annual basis, inventories are reviewed for 
potential write-downs for estimated obsolescence or unmarketable inventories which equals the difference between 
the costs of inventories and the estimated net realizable value, the estimated selling prices in the ordinary course 
of business, less reasonably predictable costs of completion, disposal and transportation, based upon forecasts for 
future demand and market conditions. When inventories are written down to net realizable value, it is not marked up 
subsequently based on changes in underlying facts and circumstances. As of June 30, 2025 and 2024, the Company had 
inventories of $12,686,739 and $1,768,072, respectively. During the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, no inventory 
write-down was recorded.

Contract assets

Contract assets consisted of cash deposited or advanced to suppliers for future inventory purchases. This amount 
is refundable and bears no interest. For any advances to suppliers determined by management that such advances 
will not be in receipts of inventories or refundable, the Company will recognize an allowance account to reserve such 
balances. Management reviews its advances to suppliers on a regular basis to determine if the allowance is adequate 
and adjusts the allowance when necessary. Delinquent account balances are written-off against allowance for credit 
losses after management has determined that the likelihood of collection is not probable. The Company’s management 
continues to evaluate the reasonableness of the valuation allowance policy and update it if necessary. As of June 30, 
2025 and 2024, no allowance for credit losses on contract assets was recorded.

Property and equipment, net

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation is 
computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets with no residual value. The 
estimated useful lives are as follows:

Useful Life

Computer and office equipment 5 years
Equipment 5 years
Vehicles 5 years



F-14

FOXX DEVELOPMENT HOLDINGS INC.  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 3 — Basis of presentation and significant accounting policies (cont.)

The cost and related accumulated depreciation and amortization of assets sold or otherwise retired are eliminated 
from the accounts and any gain or loss is included in the statements of operations. Expenditures for maintenance and 
repairs are charged to earnings as incurred, while additions, renewals and betterments, which are expected to extend 
the useful life of assets, are capitalized. The Company also re-evaluates  the periods of depreciation to determine 
whether subsequent events and circumstances warrant revised estimates of useful lives.

Long-lived assets

The Company reviews the impairment of its long-lived assets on an annual basis and whenever events or changes 
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset or group of assets may not be fully recoverable. These 
events or changes in circumstances may include but are not limited to, a significant deterioration of operating results, 
a change in the regulatory environment, changes in business plans, or adverse changes in anticipated future cash 
flows. If an impairment indicator is present, the Company evaluates the recoverability by a comparison of the carrying 
amount of the assets to future undiscounted net cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual disposition of 
the assets. If the assets are determined to be impaired, the impairment recognized is the excess of the carrying amount 
over the fair value of the assets. Fair value is generally determined by the discounted cash flow method. The discount 
rate used in any estimate of discounted cash flows is the rate commensurate with a similar investment of similar risk. 
As of June 30, 2025 and 2024, there was no impairment of long-lived assets.

Deferred transaction costs

The Company complies with the requirements of Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) 
ASC  340-10-S99-1, “Other Assets and Deferred Costs  —  SEC Materials” (“ASC  340-10-S99”) and SEC Staff 
Accounting Bulletin Topic  5A, “Expenses of Offering”. Deferred transaction costs consist of underwriting, legal, 
accounting, and other professional expenses incurred through the balance sheet date that are directly related to the 
Business Combination and that will be charged to shareholders’ equity (deficit) upon the completion of the Business 
Combination. The Company completed the Business Combination on September 26, 2024. As of September 26, 2024, 
and the Company had deferred transaction costs of $893,577 and charged against shareholders’ deficit (See Note 4). 
As of June 30, 2025 and 2024, the Company had deferred transaction costs of $0 and $462,177, respectively.

Contract liabilities

Contract liabilities mainly consisted of deposits received from customers before all the relevant criteria for 
revenue recognition are met and are recorded as customer deposits.

Earnout liabilities

At the Closing of the Business Combination, pursuant to the Business Combination Agreement, the stockholders 
of Old Foxx were entitled to receive up to a total of 4,200,000 contingent earnout shares (“Earnout Shares”) in the 
form of common stock of the Company, par value $0.0001 per share (“Common Stock”). The Earnout Shares would 
be issued upon certain vesting schedules based on the Company’s financial performance for the fiscal years ended 
June 30, 2025 and 2024. The Earnout Shares are classified as a liability and measured at fair value, with changes in 
fair value included in the consolidated statements of operations. As of June 30, 2025, the Earnout Shares were forfeited 
(See Note 17).

Convertible instrument

The Company accounts for its convertible instrument in accordance with ASC 470-20 “Debt with Conversion 
and Other Options”, whereby the convertible instrument is initially accounted for as a single unit of account, unless 
it contains a derivative that must be bifurcated from the host contract in accordance with ASC 815-15 Derivatives 
and Hedging — Embedded Derivatives or the substantial premium model in ASC 470-20 Debt applies. If the equity 
securities underlying the embedded conversion option are readily convertible to cash, such as publicly traded common 
shares, the embedded conversion option is likely to meet the net settlement criterion to be considered a derivative. 
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Note 3 — Basis of presentation and significant accounting policies (cont.)

If the equity securities underlying the conversion option are not readily convertible to cash, the embedded conversion 
option may not meet the net settlement criterion, and therefore would not meet the definition of a derivative. Because 
the convertible instrument has a fixed conversion price and therefore, it lacks an underlying and does not meet the 
requirement of a derivative. As a result, the Company determined its embedded conversion option does not meet the 
definition of a derivative for bifurcation. All of the convertible notes were converted into the Company’s common 
stock on September 26, 2024 as part of the business combination. As of June 30, 2025, there were no other outstanding 
convertible instruments.

Revenue recognition

The Company recognizes revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services (that is, an asset) to 
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to receive in exchange for those 
goods or services. An asset is transferred when the customer obtains control of that asset. It also requires the Company 
to identify contractual performance obligations and determine whether revenue should be recognized at a point in time 
or over time, based on when control of goods and services transfers to a customer.

To achieve that core principle, the Company applies the five steps defined under ASC  606 “Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers”: (i) identify the contract(s) with a customer, (ii) identify the performance obligations in 
the contract, (iii) determine the transaction price, (iv) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in 
the contract, and (v) recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

The Company’s main business is selling electronic products to 1) wholesale customers and 2) individual 
E-Commerce customers, and the Company’s revenue also came from 3) the App service commission from providing 
installation of applications on the Company’s mobile devices and revenue share from clicks and impressions.

Wholesale Customers

The Company recognizes a contract with a customer when the contract is committed in writing, the rights of 
parties, including payment terms, are identified, the contract has commercial substance, and collectability is probable.

A performance obligation is a promise in a contract to transfer a distinct good or service to the customer and 
is the unit of accounting in ASC  606. A contract’s transaction price is allocated to each performance obligation 
identified in the arrangement based on the relative standalone selling price of each distinct good or service in the 
contract and recognized as revenue when, or as, the performance obligation is satisfied. For all the Company’s 
wholesale contracts, the Company has identified one performance obligation, which is primarily satisfied at a 
point in time upon delivery of products based on terms stated in the contracts, either on Free on Board (“FOB”) 
shipping point or destination, depending on the specified contract. The Company’s customers generally either pay 
the order in full balance prior to shipment or in partial payments with credit terms of 30 to 90 days after shipment 
depends on the specified contract. No sales returns are being given to its wholesale customers as they were being 
given additional 1-3% of products on top of each customer’s order (see Note 3 — “Warranty” below). There are no 
transaction prices allocated to future periods or future obligations and no revenue was recognized for performance 
obligations satisfied in previous periods.

Warranty

The Company generally provides 30 days warranties or 1-year warranties for its product sold to its wholesale 
customer if an additional 1-3% of products on top of each customer’s order was not provided. For the sale transactions 
that were provided with  1-3% of products on top of each customer’s order, these additional  1-3% products were 
recognized as cost of goods sold at the same time the respective sale is recognized. For the sales transactions that the 
Company provided limited warranties to both wholesale customers and E-Commerce customers, the Company records 
estimated future warranty costs under ASC 460 “Guarantees”. Such estimated costs for warranties are estimated at 
the time of delivery, and these warranties are not service warranties separately sold by the Company. Generally, the 
estimated claim rates of warranties are based on actual warranty experience or the Company’s best estimate. As of 
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June 30, 2025 and 2024, the Company accrued warranty reserves of $328,438 and $48,361, respectively recorded 
under accrued liabilities and other current liabilities, and these reserves were recognized based on estimation and 
judgment from the Company’s management.

E-Commerce Customers

The Company recognizes a contract with a customer when the contract is committed in writing and signed 
electronically on an E-Commerce platform, the rights of parties, including payment terms, are identified, the contract 
has commercial substance, and collectability is probable.

A performance obligation is a promise in a contract to transfer a distinct good or service to the customer and 
is the unit of accounting in ASC 606. For all the Company’s contracts, the Company has identified one performance 
obligation, which is primarily satisfied at a point in time upon delivery of products based on terms stated in the contracts 
on shipping destination at its individual customer shipping address, which is the Company’s obligation to deliver 
the product to the end user/individual customer, depending on the specified contract. The Company’s E-Commerce 
customers pay the order in full balance prior to shipment to the E-Commerce Platform and the E-Commerce Platform 
withholds the payment for 30 days before remitting payments to the Company. The Company offered one month of 
free exchange or return. As a result, the Company recognized its revenues from the E-Commerce customers, in the 
third-party E-commerce platform, net of estimated sales returns, discount, and rebate, as a consideration reducing 
the transaction price. Historically, sales returns were insignificant to the Company’s operations. For the years ended 
June 30, 2025 and 2024, the Company did not recognize any estimated sales returns. There are no transaction prices 
allocated to future periods or future obligations and no revenue was recognized for performance obligations satisfied 
in previous periods.

App Service Commission Revenue

The Company provides an App Service by installing applications from App developer partners (the “Partners”) 
onto its mobile devices and facilitating the distribution of these devices to end users (the “App Service”). The App 
Service commission revenue is generated when end users interact with Partner-developed Apps installed on the 
Company’s mobile devices (the “App”), such as through clicks and/or impressions, App activations, and/or additional 
App installations, triggering the Partners’ obligation to pay the Company its App revenue share (service commission). 
The revenue shares are considered variable consideration. Those revenue shares related to clicks, impressions, and 
additional App installations are determined based on the contract price negotiated between the Partners and the 
third-party advertisers, while those related to App activations are determined based on the number of App activations. 
The Partners are primarily responsible in developing and maintaining the application, and is the primary obligor to 
users of the application and determines and controls the revenue shares (service commission) to pay the Company. No 
refund or return policy is provided to the Partners. The Company recognizes App Service commission revenue at a point 
in time when the activations and service commission is earned, which is when the app activations, clicks/impressions, 
or additional app installations occur, and when the uncertainty of the variable consideration is resolved.

Practical expedient

The Company applies the practical expedient in ASC 606 to expense as incurred, the costs to obtain a contract 
with a customer when the amortization period is one year or less. The Company has no material incremental costs 
of obtaining contracts with customers that the Company expects the benefit of those costs to be longer than one year 
which need to be recognized as assets for years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024.

Cost of revenues

The cost of revenue consists primarily of the costs of electronic products sold and freight cost.
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Note 3 — Basis of presentation and significant accounting policies (cont.)

Selling expenses

Selling expenses consist primarily of the advertising and marketing expenses, warranty expenses, commission 
fees incurred in connection with the E-Commerce platform sales, and consulting fees in connection with marketing 
activities.

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel costs of salaries and other 
compensation-related expenses for executive management, finance, accounting, human resources, legal, compliance, 
and other administrative functions as well as professional services costs and other facility related costs.

Research and development

Research and development expenses consist primarily of development fees that the Company incurred based 
on the progression of product development and payroll and related expenses for research and development personnel. 
For the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, the Company had research and development expenses that amounted to 
$2,220,649 and $91,168, respectively.

Interest expenses

Interest expenses consist primarily of interest incurred on convertible notes, unpaid purchase balance from a 
vendor (see Note 10 for details), and borrowings and others. For the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, the Company 
had interest expenses that amounted to $4,959,055 and $278,328, respectively. Of the total interest expense for the year 
ended June 30, 2025, $140,740 was related to convertible notes, $4,798,339 to unpaid purchase balance, and $19,976 
to borrowings and others. Of the total interest expense for the year ended June 30, 2024, $264,445 was related to 
convertible notes and $13,883 to borrowings and others.

Lease

The Company accounts for leases in accordance with ASC 842 “Leases”. The Company categorizes leases with 
contractual terms longer than 12 months as either operating or finance. Finance leases are generally those leases that 
substantially utilize or pay for the entire asset over its estimated life. All other leases are categorized as operating 
leases. Costs associated with operating lease assets are recognized on a straight-line basis within operating expenses 
over the term of the lease. As of June 30, 2025 and 2024, the Company does not have finance leases.

The Company determines if an arrangement is, or contains, a lease at inception. Operating lease assets represent 
the Company’s right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time, or term, in exchange for consideration, 
and operating lease liabilities represent its obligation to make lease payments arising from the aforementioned right.

Operating lease right-of-use (“ROU”) assets and liabilities are initially recorded based on the present value of 
lease payments over the lease term, which includes the minimum unconditional term of the lease, and may include 
options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain at the commencement date that such options 
will be exercised. As the rate implicit for each of the Company’s leases is not readily determinable, the Company uses 
incremental borrowing rate as effective interest rate, based on the information available at the lease commencement 
date in determining the present value of its expected lease payments. Operating lease assets also include any initial 
direct costs and any lease payments made prior to the lease commencement date and are reduced by any lease incentives 
received. According to ASC  842-10-15-37, a lessee may, as an accounting policy election by class of underlying 
asset, choose not to separate non-lease components from lease components and instead to account for each separate 
lease component and the non-lease components associated with that lease component as a single lease component. 
The Company has identified the common area maintenance (CAM) fee as a non-lease component and elected to not 
separate it from the lease component.
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Operating lease assets are amortized on a straight-line basis in operating lease expense over the lease term on the 
consolidated statements of operations. The related amortization of ROU assets along with the change in the operating 
lease liabilities are separately presented within the cash flows from operating activities on the consolidated statements 
of cash flows. The Company records lease expenses for operating leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Company reviews the impairment of its right-of-use assets consistent with the approach applied for its 
other long-lived assets on an annual basis. The Company reviews the recoverability of its long-lived assets when 
events or changes in circumstances occur that indicate that the carrying value of the asset may not be recoverable. The 
assessment of possible impairment is based on its ability to recover the carrying value of the asset from the expected 
undiscounted future pre-tax cash flows of the related operations. The Company has elected to include the carrying 
amount of operating lease right-of-use assets in any tested asset group and include the associated lease payments in the 
undiscounted future pre-tax cash flows. For the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, the Company did not recognize 
impairment loss against its right-of-use assets.

For a lease with a term of 12 months or less, a lessee is permitted to make an accounting policy election by class 
of underlying asset not to recognize lease assets and lease liability. For the lease that with lease term of one year or 
shorter, the Company has elected to not recognize right-of-use asset and lease liability.

Income taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 740, “Income Taxes”. Under 
the asset and liability method as required by this accounting standard, deferred income tax assets and liabilities are 
recognized for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the income tax basis and 
financial reporting basis of assets and liabilities. Provision for income taxes consists of taxes currently due plus 
deferred taxes.

The charge for taxation is based on the results for the fiscal year as adjusted for items, which are non-assessable or 
disallowed. It is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred taxes are accounted for using the asset and liability method in respect of temporary differences 
arising from differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the 
corresponding tax basis used in the computation of assessable tax. Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all future 
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that taxable income 
will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilized. Deferred tax is calculated using tax 
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled.

Deferred taxes are charged or credited in the income statement, except when it is related to items credited 
or charged directly to equity. Net deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the opinion of 
management, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the net deferred tax assets will not be realized. 
Current income taxes are provided for in accordance with the laws of the relevant taxing authorities.

An uncertain tax position is recognized as a benefit only if it is “more likely than not” that the tax position 
would be sustained in a tax examination, with a tax examination being presumed to occur. The amount recognized 
is the largest amount of tax benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized on examination. For tax 
positions not meeting the “more likely than not” test, no tax benefit is recorded. Penalties and interest incurred related 
to underpayment of income taxes are classified as income tax expenses in the period incurred. Income tax returns for 
the years prior to 2019 are no longer subject to examination by U.S. tax authorities.

Stock-based compensation

The measurement and recognition of compensation expense for all stock-based payment awards made to 
employees and directors, including employee stock options and restricted stock, is based on estimated fair value of 
the awards on the date of grant, of which stock options uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model, inclusive of 
assumptions for risk-free interest rates, expected dividends, expected terms, expected volatility, and the fair value 
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of the underlying stock, and restricted stock is based on the market value of the Company’s common stock. The 
value of awards that are ultimately expected to vest is recognized as expense on a straight-line basis over the vesting 
service periods in the consolidated statements of operations. Forfeitures are accounted for as they occur.

Warrants

The Company accounts for warrants as either equity-classified or liability-classified instruments based on an 
assessment of the warrant’s specific terms and applicable authoritative guidance in ASC 480, Distinguishing Liabilities 
from Equity (“ASC 480”), and ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging (“ASC 815”). The assessment considers whether 
the warrants are freestanding financial instruments pursuant to ASC 480, meet the definition of a liability pursuant to 
ASC 480, and whether the warrants meet all of the requirements for equity classification under ASC 815, including 
whether the warrants are indexed to the Company’s own Common Stock and whether the warrant holders could 
potentially require “net cash settlement” in a circumstance outside of the Company’s control, among other conditions 
for equity classification. This assessment, which requires the use of professional judgment, is conducted at the time of 
warrant issuance and as of each subsequent quarterly period end date while the warrants are outstanding.

For issued or modified warrants that meet all of the criteria for equity classification, the warrants are required 
to be recorded as a component of equity at the time of issuance. The Company determined that upon further review of 
the warrant agreements, the Company concluded that its warrants qualify for equity accounting treatment.

Upon completion of the Business Combination, all of ACAC’s outstanding public and private warrants (See 
Note 16) were replaced by the Company’s public and private warrants. The Company treated such warrants replacement 
as a warrant modification and no incremental fair value was recognized for the year ended June 30, 2025.

Basic and diluted loss per share

Basic EPS is measured as net loss divided by the weighted average common shares outstanding for the period.

Diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders adjusts basic loss per share for the potentially 
dilutive impact of non-participating shares of common stock. Dilutive equivalent shares are excluded from the 
computation of diluted loss per share if their effects would be anti-dilutive. Common stock issuable upon the conversion 
of the stock options, the RSUs (defined in Note 16) and warrants are using the treasury stock method. Common stock 
issuable in connection with the Company’s convertible promissory notes are using the if-converted method.

Related parties

The Company identifies related parties, and accounts for, and discloses related party transactions in accordance 
with ASC 850, Related Party Disclosures, and other relevant ASC standards.

Parties, which can be a corporation or individual, are considered to be related if they have the ability, directly 
or indirectly, to control the Company or exercise significant influence over the Company in making financial and 
operating decisions. Entities are also considered to be related if they are subject to common control or common 
significant influence.

Transactions involving related parties cannot be presumed to be carried out on an arm’s-length basis, as the 
requisite conditions of competitive, free market dealings may not exist. Representations about transactions with related 
parties, if made, shall not imply that the related party transactions were consummated on terms equivalent to those that 
prevail in arm’s-length transactions unless such representations can be substantiated.
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Recently adopted accounting standards

The Company considers the applicability and impact of all accounting standards updates (“ASUs”). Management 
periodically reviews new accounting standards that are issued. Under the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, 
as amended (the “JOBS Act”), the Company meets the definition of an emerging growth company and has elected the 
extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards, which delays the adoption of these 
accounting standards until they would apply to private companies.

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-07, “Segment Reporting (Topic 280)” (“ASU 2023-07” or 
“Topic 280). The amendments in ASU 2023-07 improve financial reporting by requiring disclosure of incremental 
segment information on an annual and interim basis for all public entities to enable investors to develop more decision 
useful financial analyses. Topic 280 requires a public entity to report a measure of segment profit or loss that the 
chief operating decision maker (CODM) uses to assess segment performance and make decisions about allocating 
resources. Topic 280 also requires other specified segment items and amounts, such as depreciation, amortization, 
and depletion expense, to be disclosed under certain circumstances. The amendments in ASU 2023-07 also do not 
change how a public entity identifies its operating segments, aggregates those operating segments, or applies the 
quantitative thresholds to determine its reportable segments. The amendments in ASU 2023-07 are effective for years 
beginning after December  15, 2023 and interim periods within fiscal  years beginning after December  15, 2024, 
adopted retrospectively. The Company adopted this ASU for the year ended June 30 2025 (See Note 24).

Except as mentioned above, the Company does not believe other recently issued but not yet effective accounting 
standards, if currently adopted, would have a material effect on the Company’s balance sheets, statements of operations 
and comprehensive loss, and statements of cash flows.

Recently issued accounting pronouncements not yet adopted

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-09, “Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income 
Tax Disclosures” (“ASU 2023-09”), which modifies the rules on income tax disclosures to require entities to disclose 
(1) specific categories in the rate reconciliation, (2) the income or loss from continuing operations before income tax 
expense or benefit (separated between domestic and foreign) and (3) income tax expense or benefit from continuing 
operations (separated by federal, state and foreign). ASU 2023-09 also requires entities to disclose their income tax 
payments to international, federal, state and local jurisdictions, among other changes. The guidance is effective for 
annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024. Early adoption is permitted for annual consolidated financial 
statements that have not yet been issued or made available for issuance.  ASU  2023-09  should be applied on a 
prospective basis, but retrospective application is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of these 
standards will have on it financial statements.

In November  2024, the FASB issued ASU  2024-03, Income Statement  —  Reporting Comprehensive 
Income — Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40): Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses 
(“ASU 2024-03”), and in January 2025, the FASB issued ASU 2025-01, Income Statement — Reporting Comprehensive 
Income — Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40): Clarifying the Effective Date (“ASU 2025-01”). 
ASU 2024-03 requires additional disclosure of the nature of expenses included in the income statement as well as 
disclosures about specific types of expenses included in the expense captions presented in the income statement. 
ASU 2024-03, as clarified by ASU 2025-01, is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2026, and 
interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2027, with early adoption permitted. The Company 
is currently evaluating the impact of these standards will have on it financial statements.

In July  2025, the FASB issued ASU  2025-05 Financial Instruments  —  Credit Losses (Subtopic 326) 
(“ASU 2025-05”), simplifies the Current Expected Credit Loss (CECL) model for accounts receivable and contract 
assets by offering a practical expedient to use current conditions for forecasts and an accounting policy election 
to consider post-balance sheet collections, allowing for early adoption for financial statements not yet issued. The 
guidance is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2025, but early adoption is permitted. 
The Company is currently evaluating the impact of these standards will have on it financial statements.
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Upon the consummation of the Business Combination, the following transactions were completed, based on the 
Company’s capitalization as of September 26, 2024 (issuance date):

(i) All 70,721 shares of Class A common stock of ACAC (“ACAC public shares”), net of redemption of 
1,744,663 ACAC public shares at $11.75 per share, and all 2,156,250 shares of Class B common stock 
of ACAC (“ACAC private shares”), were converted on a one-for-one basis into the Company’s Common 
Stock.

(ii) 43,125 shares of the Company’s Common Stock were issued to ACAC’s underwriter, EF Hutton LLC, in 
connection with the Business Combination.

(iii) All issued and outstanding shares of Original Foxx Common Stock were cancelled in exchange for the rights 
for Original Foxx Shareholders, including the holders of Old Foxx’s convertible promissory notes upon 
the conversion of the convertible promissory notes and their interests into Original Foxx Common Stock 
immediately prior to Closing (see Note 14), to receive such stockholder’s pro rata share of 5,000,000 shares 
(“Closing Payment Shares”) of the Company’s Common Stock, including: (x) 1,696,668 shares of Foxx’s 
$0.0001 par value common stock were issued to Old Foxx’s convertible promissory notes holders in 
connection with the Business Combination (see Note 14); (y) 1,000,000 outstanding shares of Original 
Foxx Common Stock issued to Original Foxx Shareholders (other than holders of the convertible notes) 
were cancelled in exchange for the right by the Original Foxx Shareholders to receive a pro rata share of 
3,303,333 shares of the Company’s Common Stock at the exchange ratio of 3.3033.

(iv) 4,200,000 shares (“Earnout Shares”) of the Company’s Common Stock were reserved for issuance to Old 
Foxx’s stockholders subject to the vesting schedule as follows:

in connection with the financial performance for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024:

• 700,000 Earnout Shares would be issued to Original Foxx Shareholders on a pro rata basis if and 
only if the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2024 (“2024 Foxx Audited Financial Statements”), prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP and 
filed with the SEC on Form 10-K by Company after Closing, reflect revenue of the Company for 
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024 (the “2024 Foxx Revenue”) to be no less than $67,000,000 
(including $67,000,000) and less than $84,000,000 (excluding $84,000,000);

• 1,400,000 Earnout Shares would be issued to Original Foxx Shareholders on a pro rata basis if and 
only if the 2024 Foxx Revenue reflected in the 2024 Foxx Audited Financial Statements would 
be no less than $84,000,000 (including $100,000,000) and less than $100,000,000 (excluding 
$100,000,000);

• 2,100,000 Earnout Shares would be issued to Original Foxx Shareholders on a pro rata basis if and 
only if the 2024 Foxx Revenue reflected in the 2024 Foxx Audited Financial Statements would be no 
less than $100,000,000 (including $100,000,000).

in connection with the financial performance for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025:

• 700,000 Earnout Shares would be issued to Original Foxx Shareholders on a pro rata basis if and 
only if the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2025 (“2025 Foxx Audited Financial Statements”), prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP and 
filed with the SEC on Form 10-K by the Company after Closing, reflect revenue of the Company 
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025 (the “2025 Foxx Revenue”) to be no less than $77,050,000 
(including $77,050,000) and less than $96,600,000 (excluding $96,600,000);
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• 1,400,000 Earnout Shares would be issued to Original Foxx Shareholders on a pro rata basis 
if and only if the 2025 Foxx Revenue reflected in the 2025 Foxx Audited Financial Statements 
would be no less than $96,600,000 (including $96,600,000) and less than $115,000,000 (excluding 
$115,000,000);

• 2,100,000 Earnout Shares would be issued to Original Foxx Shareholders on a pro rata basis if and 
only if the 2025 Foxx Revenue reflected in the 2025 Foxx Audited Financial Statements would be no 
less than $115,000,000 (including $115,000,000).

(v) All issued and outstanding 12,156,417 ACAC warrants were converted on a one-for-one basis into warrants 
of the Company, including conversion from (x) 4,312,500 ACAC’s public warrants, (y) 5,240,000 ACAC’s 
private warrants, and (z) 2,603,923 ACAC’s working capital warrants.

The following table presents the number of the Company’s common stock issued and outstanding immediately 
following the Reverse Recapitalization (as defined below):

Common 
Stock

ACAC’s common stock outstanding prior to Reverse Recapitalization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,971,634
Less: redemption of ACAC’s common stock  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,744,663)
Common stock issued to underwriter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 43,125
Conversion of Old Foxx’s common stock into Foxx’s common stock  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,303,333
Conversion of Old Foxx’s convertible promissory notes into Foxx’s common stock . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,696,668
Total common stock  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,270,097

Old Foxx was determined to be the accounting acquirer given Old Foxx effectively controlled the combined 
entity after the Business Combination. The transaction is accounted for as a reverse recapitalization (“Reverse 
Recapitalization”), which is equivalent to the issuance of common stock by Old Foxx for the net monetary assets 
of ACAC, accompanied by a recapitalization. Old Foxx is determined as the accounting acquirer and the historical 
financial statements of Old Foxx became the Company’s historical financial statements, with retrospective adjustments 
to give effect of the Reverse Recapitalization. The net assets of ACAC were recognized as of the closing date at 
historical cost, with no goodwill or other intangible assets recorded. Operations prior to the Business Combination are 
those of Old Foxx and Old Foxx’s operations are the only ongoing operations of the Company.

In connection with the Reverse Recapitalization, the Company raised approximately $19.7 million of proceeds, 
presented as cash flows from financing activities, which included the contribution of approximately $21.6 million of 
funds held in ACAC’s trust account, approximately $0.3 million of cash held in ACAC’s operating cash account, and 
payments of approximately $2.2 million in transaction costs incurred by ACAC.

The following table reconcile the elements of the Reverse Recapitalization to the consolidated statements of cash 
flows and the changes in shareholders’ deficit:

September 26, 
2024

Funds held in ACAC’s trust account . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 21,627,541
Funds held in ACAC’s operating cash account . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 298,643
Less: payments of transaction costs incurred by ACAC . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2,215,896)
Proceeds from the Reverse Recapitalization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19,710,288
Less: non-cash net deficit assumed from ACAC  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (21,810,926)
Net distributions from issuance of Common Stock upon the Reverse Recapitalization  . . . . . . . . . . $ (2,100,638)

The shares and corresponding capital amounts and all per share data related to Old Foxx’s outstanding common 
stock prior to the Reverse Recapitalization have been retroactively adjusted using the Exchange Ratio of 3.3033.
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As of June 30, 2025 and 2024, accounts receivable consist of the following:

June 30, 
2025

June 30, 
2024

Accounts receivable  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 7,382,699 $ 251,894
Less: allowance for credit losses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (595,907) —
Accounts receivable, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 6,786,792 $ 251,894

For the  years ended June  30, 2025 and 2024, the Company recognized $595,907 and $0 on provision for 
allowance on credit losses, respectively.

Movement of allowance for credit losses consisted of the following as of the date indicated:

June 30, 
2025

June 30, 
2024

Balance as of the beginning of the year  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ — $ —
Addition  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 595,907 —
Ending balance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 595,907 $ —

Note 6 — Inventories

As of June 30, 2025 and 2024, inventories consist of the following:

June 30, 
2025

June 30, 
2024

Finished goods  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 12,686,739 $ 1,768,072
Total inventories . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 12,686,739 $ 1,768,072

Note 7 — Contract assets

The following table presents the Company’s contract assets balances and changes therein:

For the Year Ended 
June 30

2025 2024

Balance as of the beginning of the year  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,682,289 $ —
Add: net increase in current period contract asset  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 454,842 1,682,289
Less: inventory recognized from beginning contract asset . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,682,289) —
Total contract assets as the end of the year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 454,842 $ 1,682,289
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Note 8 — Prepaid expenses and other current assets

As of June 30, 2025 and 2024, prepaid expenses and other current assets consist of the following:

June 30, 
2025

June 30, 
2024

Other receivables, net(1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 177,814 $ 10,881
Prepaid rent . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 355,677 —
Prepaid research and development fees  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 198,328 —
Prepaid insurance  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 153,659 —
Prepaid professional fee . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 96,839 —
Prepayment to be refunded, net(2)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,116,116 —
Advances to a third party  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19,500 —
Other prepaid expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 37,161 33,235
Less: allowance for credit losses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (317,282) —
Total prepaid expenses and other current assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,837,812 $ 44,116

(1) This represents receivables from payments made on behalf of a vendor and other fee and freight claim receivables. $48,317 
allowance for credit losses was recorded for the balances due to aging of the receivables.

(2) This represents prepayment to be refunded resulting from the cancellation of purchase orders. $268,965 allowance for credit 
losses was recorded for the balances due to aging of the prepayments.

For the  years ended June  30, 2025 and 2024, the Company recognized $317,282 and $0 on provision for 
allowance on credit losses, respectively.

Movement of allowance for credit losses consisted of the following as of the date indicated:

June 30, 
2025

June 30, 
2024

Balance as of the beginning of the year  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ — $ —
Addition  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 317,282 —
Ending balance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 317,282 $ —

Note 9 — Property and equipment, net

As of June 30, 2025 and 2024, property and equipment, net consist of the following:

June 30, 
2025

June 30, 
2024

Computer and office equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 12,580 $ 9,942
Equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 30,697 —
Furniture and fixtures . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,432 3,432
Vehicles . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 191,091 191,091
Subtotal . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 237,800 204,465
Less: accumulated depreciation  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (106,078) (61,846)
Total property and equipment, net  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 131,722 $ 142,619

Depreciation expense for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024 amounted to $47,732 and $39,783, respectively.
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Note 10 — Other payables and accrued liabilities

As of June 30, 2025 and 2024, other payables and accrued liabilities consist of the following:

June 30, 
2025

June 30, 
2024

Payroll and payable tax payable  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 174,684 $ 50,554
Interest payable* . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,309,106 267,945
Professional fee payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 168,186 59,473
Accrued warranty expenses  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 328,438 48,361
Excise tax payable** . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 556,620 —
Others . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 33,925 41,892
Total other payables and accrued liabilities  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 3,570,959 $ 468,225

* On April 9, 2024, the Company and a vendor entered into a purchase and financing agreement, pursuant to which the 
Company is subject to interest of 1.5% per month, or 0.05% per day, on the unpaid purchase amount, after forty-five (45) 
days from the date of shipment.

** These balances were carried from ACAC, and payable by the Company, as a result on 1% excise tax on certain repurchases 
(including redemptions) of stock by publicly traded U.S. domestic corporations and certain U.S. domestic subsidiaries of 
publicly traded foreign corporations occurring on or after January 1, 2023 under the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022.

Note 11 — Contract liabilities

Contract liabilities consist of customer deposits, which is recorded on the consolidated balance sheets when 
the Company has received consideration, or has the right to receive consideration, in advance of transferring the 
performance obligations under the contract to the customer.

The following table presents the Company’s contract liabilities balances and changes therein:

For the Years Ended 
June 30

2025 2024

Balance, beginning of the period  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 649,450 $ 27
Add: net increase in current period contract liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 378 649,450
Less: revenue recognized from beginning contract liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (649,450) (27)
Total contract liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 378 $ 649,450

Note 12 — Related party balances and transactions

Related party balances

Amount due from a related party

Name of Related Party Relationship Nature
June 30, 

2025
June 30, 

2024

Azure Horizon LLC 
(“Azure”) . . . . . . . . 

Owned by an immediate family member of the 
Company’s 10% or more shareholder

Paid on behalf 
fees $ — $ 140

Prepaid expenses to a related party

Name of Related Party Relationship Nature
June 30, 

2025
June 30, 

2024
Azure Horizon LLC 

(“Azure”) . . . . . . . . 
Owned by an immediate family member of the 
Company’s 10% or more shareholder

Prepaid service 
fees $ 8,000 $ —
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Note 12 — Related party balances and transactions (cont.)

Other payable — related party

Other payable — related party consists of the following:

Name of Related Party Relationship Nature
June 30, 

2025
June 30, 

2024
Wuhan Haoxun 

Communication 
Technology Co. Ltd  
(“Wuhan Haoxun”)(1) . . . . . 

Controlled by an immediate 
family member of the Company’s 
10% or more shareholder

Research and 
development fees

$ 18,792 $ 51,168
Acri Capital Sponsor LLC  . . More than 10% Shareholder of 

the Company
Unconverted working 
capital loan balance in 

ACAC 245,509 —
Swiftfulfill Warehouse LLC 

(“Swiftfulfill”)(2) . . . . . . . . 
Owned by an immediate family 
member of the Company’s 10% 
or more shareholder

Consulting fees and 
expenses paid on behalf 

of the Company 8,566 —
“Joy” Yi Hua . . . . . . . . . . . . . Chairwoman, Chief Financial 

Officer and Director of the 
Company

Expenses paid on behalf 
of the Company

50 —
Total  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 272,917 $ 51,168

(1) On September 1, 2022, the Company entered into an agreement with Wuhan Haoxun for the research and development 
project.

(2) On October 1, 2024, the Company entered into a consulting agreement to receive consulting services provided by, Swiftfulfill, 
a consulting company which is owned by an immediate family member of the Company’s more than 10% shareholder.

Related party transactions

Research and development expenses

Name of Related Party Relationship

For the 
Year Ended 

June 30, 
2025

For the 
Year Ended 

June 30, 
2024

Wuhan Haoxun(1) . . . . . . . . 
Controlled by an immediate family member of 
the Company’s 10% or more shareholder $ 136,752 $ 91,168

(1) On September 1, 2022, the Company entered into an agreement with Wuhan Haoxun for the research and development 
project.

Consulting expenses

Name of Related Party Relationship

For the 
Year Ended 

June 30, 
2025

For the 
Year Ended 

June 30, 
2024

Azure(1)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Owned by an immediate family member of the 
Company’s 10% or more shareholder $ 485,200 $ 324,000

Swiftfulfill(2) . . . . . . . . . . . 
Owned by an immediate family member of the 
Company’s 10% or more shareholder 63,000 —

Total  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 548,200 324,000

(1) On September 1, 2022, the Company entered into a consulting agreement to receive consulting services provided by Azure, 
a consulting company which is owned by an immediate family member of the Company’s more than 10% shareholder.

(2) On October 1, 2024, the Company entered into a consulting agreement to receive consulting services provided by, Swiftfulfill, 
a consulting company which is owned by an immediate family member of the Company’s more than 10% shareholder.
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Note 13 — Short-term loans

As of June 30, 2025 and 2024, the outstanding short-term loan from third parties consists of the following:

June 30, 
2025

June 30, 
2024

Lender A(1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ — $ 261,208
Lender B(2) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 30,000
Total short-term loan . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ — $ 291,208

(1) On December 30, 2020, the Company entered into a loan agreement with a third-party lender. The agreement allows the 
Company to draw up to $600,000 and is non-interest bearing. The Company’s imputed interest is immaterial. During the year 
ended June 30, 2025, the Company made a full repayment to the third party with a total amount of $261,208.

(2) On November 11, 2019, the Company entered into a loan agreement for an amount of $50,000 with a third-party lender. 
This loan is non-interest bearing. The Company’s imputed interest is immaterial. This loan had an original due date in 
February 2020 and automatically converted into a due on demand term thereafter. During the year ended June 30, 2025, the 
Company made a full repayment to the third party with a total amount of $30,000.

Note 14 — Convertible promissory notes

On June 21, 2023 (note issuance date), Old Foxx issued a convertible promissory note (the “Note 1”) to Investor 
A, a Hong Kong registered entity, in the amount of $2,000,000 at 7% per annum. The maturity date for the note is the 
earlier of the 12-month anniversary of the note issuance date and the date when Old Foxx redeems the note, or the date 
of the initial closing of the initial public offering (“IPO”) of Old Foxx.

On November 21, 2023, Old Foxx issued a second convertible promissory note (“Note 2”) to Investor A in the 
amount of $2,000,000 at 7% per annum. The maturity and other terms were the same to Note 1.

On March 15, 2024, Old Foxx and the Investor entered into an Amendment to the Convertible Note Agreement 
to the Note 1 and Note 2 and agreed that all accrued interest shall become due and payable in shares of common stock 
of Old Foxx, at a price of $30.00 per share at the time that the Old Foxx completes the Business Combination.

On March 15, 2024, Old Foxx issued a third convertible promissory note (“the Note 3”, together with Note 1 and 
Note 2, collectively as “Notes”) to the Investor A for the amount of $2,000,000 at 7% per annum. The maturity and 
other terms were the same to Note 1 and Note 2.

On May 30, 2024, Old Foxx entered into a securities purchase agreement for issuance of convertible promissory 
notes to Investor B in the amount of $6,000,000 (“Note 4”) and to Investor C in the amount of $3,000,000 (“Note 5”), at 
7% per annum. The Note 4 and Note 5 were received in August and September 2024 prior to the Closing. The maturity 
date for the Note 4 and Note 5 would be due at the earlier of the 12-month anniversary of the issuance date or IPO of 
Old Foxx. The Note 4 and Note 5 and their accrued and unpaid interest would be automatically convertible into shares of 
common stock of Old Foxx, at a price of $30.00 per share at the time that Old Foxx completes the Business Combination.

Immediately prior to the Closing on September 26, 2024, the Notes of $15,000,000 and the related interests 
of $408,685 were automatically converted into (x) 212,050 shares of Original Foxx Common Stock for the Notes 
to the Investor, (y) 200,882 shares of Original Foxx Common Stock for Note 4, and (z) 100,690 share of Original 
Foxx Common Stock for Note 5, each at a price of $30.00 per share. On September 26, 2024, upon Closing of the 
Business Combination, all the Original Foxx Common Stock converted from the convertible promissory notes were 
cancelled in exchange for the holders’ pro rata share of the 5,000,000 Closing Payment Shares (see Note 4), resulting 
in a total of 1,696,668 shares of the Company’s Common Stock issued to the holders of the convertible promissory 
notes at the exchange ratio of approximately 3.3033 following consummation of the Business Combination, including 
(x) 700,473 shares of Common Stock issued to the Investor A, (y) 663,581 shares of Common Stock issued to Investor 
B, and (z) 332,614 shares of Common Stock issued to Investor C (see Note 4).

As of June 30, 2025 and 2024, the fair and carrying value of the Notes were $0 and $6,000,000, respectively, 
net of $0 unamortized premium, discount, or issuance costs; and accrued interest related to the Notes were $0 and 
$267,945 as of June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively.
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Note 15 — Long-term loan

In February 2023, the Company purchased and financed a vehicle, for which the lender put a lien on the title 
and will be taken as collateral in the situation if the Company is unable to make repayment and default on the loan, 
with a six-year loan for a total of approximately $137,000. As of June 30, 2025, the carrying value of the asset that has 
been pledged as a collateral is $65,772. The monthly payments are $2,694 from March 2023 to February 2029, with 
an interest rate of 11.85% per annum.

The obligation is payable as follows:

Twelve months ended June 30, Amount

2026. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 23,743
2027. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24,826
2028. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 27,984
Thereafter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20,608
Total long-term debt payment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 97,161
Current portion of long-term debt  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (23,743)
Long-term debt – non-current portion  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 73,418

Interest expense for the  years ended June  30, 2025 and 2024 for the above loan amounted to $12,784  and 
$14,989, respectively.

Note 16 — Shareholders’ deficit

Common stock

As of June 30, 2025 and 2024, the Company has 50,000,000 authorized shares of common stock, par value 
$0.0001 per share. As of June  30, 2025 and 2024, there are 6,780,597 and 3,303,333 shares of common stock 
outstanding.

Issuance of common stock upon completion of the Reverse Recapitalization

On September 26, 2024, upon the consummation of the business combination, the Company issued an aggregated 
total of 2,270,096 common stock to ACAC shareholders and its underwriter.

The following table presents the number of the Company’s common stock issued upon completion of the Reverse 
Recapitalization:

Shares of 
Common 

Stock

ACAC’s common stock outstanding prior to Reverse Recapitalization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,971,634
Less: redemption of ACAC’s common stock  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,744,663)
Common stock issued to underwriter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 43,125
Total common stock issued upon completion of the Reverse Recapitalization  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,270,096

Conversion of convertible promissory notes into common stock

On September 26, 2024, upon the consummation of the business combination, the Company issued an aggregated 
total of 1,696,668 common stock to the Old Foxx convertible notes holders (See Note 14).

Equity incentive plan

On September 24, 2024, pursuant to the Equity Incentive Plan (the “EIP”), 1,454,019 shares of common stock, 
par value $0.0001 per share, of the Company were set aside and reserved for issuance of certain stock option award 
and certain restricted shares to certain of the Company’s employees and consultants.
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Note 16 — Shareholders’ deficit (cont.)

On November  5, 2024, the Company granted 707,860 restricted stock units (“RSUs”) to its employees, 
consultants, and independent directors under its EIP. These shares have a 4-year vesting schedule, of which, 25% will 
be vested after year 1 with the 1/16th of these shares will vest each quarter thereafter on the same day of the month 
as the grant date. The vesting of each RSU is subject to the employee’s continued employment and the consultant’s 
continued engagement through applicable vesting dates.

On January 22, 2025, the Company granted 19,149 RSUs to one of its independent directors pursuant to the 
EIP. These shares have a 4-year vesting schedule, of which, 25% will be vested after year 1 with the 1/16th of these 
shares will vest each quarter thereafter on the same day of the month as the grant date. The vesting of each RSU is 
subject to the director’s continued employment through applicable vesting date.

On April 24, 2025, the Company forfeited 33,080 unvested RSUs previously granted to one of its consultants on 
November 5, 2024, due to termination of the consultant’s engagement.

The RSUs are accounted for as equity awards and are measured at fair value based upon the grant date market 
value of the Company’s common stock. Compensation expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting 
service period of four years. Forfeitures are accounted for as they occur.

The following table presents the total stock-based compensation expenses included in each of the respective 
expense line items for the periods presented:

For the Years Ended  
June 30,

2025 2024

Selling expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 175,332 $ —
General and administrative expenses  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 448,511 —
Research and development expenses  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 191,835 —
Total stock-based compensation expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 815,678 $ —

The following table summarizes the activity for all restricted stock units granted:

Shares

Weight 
average 

grant date 
fair value

Total fair 
value

Weighted 
average 

remaining 
contractual 

term 
(in years)

Unvested at July 1, 2024 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — $ — $ — —
Granted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 727,009 7.21 5,243,400 4.00
Vested . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — —
Forfeited  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (33,080) 7.30 (241,484) —
Unvested at June 30, 2025  . . . . . . . . . . . . . 693,929 $ 7.21 $ 5,001,916 3.36

As of June 30, 2025, there was $4,186,238 total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested RSUs 
granted under the employee incentive plan. The total cost is expected to be recognized over a remaining period of 
3.36 years.

Earnout Shares

As described in Note 4 — Reverse recapitalization, the Earnout Shares that are contingently issuable in connection 
with the Business Combination are subject to vesting based on the Company’s financial performance during the earnout 
period. The entitlement of the first batch of the 2,100,000 earnout shares to the Old Foxx shareholders were forfeited 
in October 2024 because the Company did not meet the earnout requirements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024 
vesting schedule. These 2,100,000 earnout shares are not included or contributing to the value of the earnout liabilities. 
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Note 16 — Shareholders’ deficit (cont.)

The entitlement of the second batch of the 2,100,000 Earnout Shares to the Old Foxx shareholders were also forfeited, 
as the Company did not meet the earnout requirements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025 vesting schedule. These 
2,100,000 Earnout Shares, which were classified as a liability and measured at fair value, were reduced to $0.

As of June 30, 2025 and September 26, 2024 (issuance date), the fair value of the earnout liabilities was $0 and 
$5,688,007, respectively. For the year ended June 30, 2025, the Company recognized $5,688,007 of gains related to the 
change in fair value of earnout liabilities included in the change in fair value of earnout liabilities in the consolidated 
statements of operations. (See Note 17 — Fair value measurement).

Warrants

In connection with the reverse recapitalization, each of 12,156,417 ACAC’s issued and outstanding warrants, 
which consisted of 4,312,500 public warrants, 5,240,000 private warrants and 2,603,917 working capital warrants, was 
converted automatically into one redeemable warrant of the Company, exercisable for one share of common stock of 
the Company at an exercise price of $11.50 per share. All of these warrants met the criteria for equity classification.

Each whole Warrant entitles the registered holder to purchase one whole share of the Company’s common stock 
at a price of $11.50 per share. Pursuant to the warrant agreement, a warrant holder may exercise its Warrants only 
for a whole number of shares of common stock. This means that only a whole Warrant may be exercised at any given 
time by a warrant holder. No fractional Warrants will be issued upon separation of the Units and only whole Warrants 
will trade. The Warrants will expire five years after the completion of the Company’s initial business combination, at 
5:00 p.m., New York City time, or earlier upon redemption or liquidation.

The Company has agreed that as soon as practicable, but in no event later than 30 business days, after the closing 
of the initial business combination, it will use its commercially reasonable efforts to file, and within 60 business days 
following its initial business combination to have declared effective, a registration statement for the registration, under 
the Securities Act, of the shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of the Warrants. The Company will use its 
commercially reasonable efforts to maintain the effectiveness of such registration statement, and a current prospectus 
relating thereto, until the expiration of the warrants in accordance with the provisions of the warrant agreement. No 
Warrants will be exercisable for cash unless the Company has an effective and current registration statement covering 
the common stock issuable upon exercise of the Warrants and a current prospectus relating to such shares of common 
stock. Notwithstanding the above, if the Company’s common stock is at the time of any exercise of a Warrant not listed 
on a national securities exchange such that it satisfies the definition of a “covered security” under Section 18(b)(1) of 
the Securities Act, the Company may, at its option, require holders of Warrants who exercise their Warrants to do so 
on a “cashless basis” in accordance with Section 3(a)(9) of the Securities Act and, in the event it so elect, it will not be 
required to file or maintain in effect a registration statement, but it will be required to use its commercially reasonable 
efforts to register or qualify the shares under applicable blue sky laws to the extent an exemption is not available.

The Company may call the Warrants for redemption, in whole and not in part, at a price of $0.01 per Warrant:

• in whole and not in part;

• upon not less than 30 days’ prior written notice of redemption (the “30-day redemption period”) to each 
Warrant holder; and

• if, and only if, the reported last sale price of the common stock equals or exceeds $16.50 per share (as 
adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, reorganizations, recapitalizations and the like) for any 20 trading 
days within a 30-trading day period ending three business days before the Company sends the notice of 
redemption to the warrant holders.

On October 3, 2024, the Company’s shareholders (ACAC’s public shareholders) exercised 10,500 warrants in the 
amount of $120,750 or $11.50 per share.
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Note 16 — Shareholders’ deficit (cont.)

The summary of warrants activity is as follows:

Warrants 
Outstanding

Common 
Stock 

Issuable

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price

Average 
Remaining 
Contractual 

Life

June 30, 2024  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — $ — —
Granted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12,156,417 12,156,417 $ 11.50 5.00
Forfeited  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — $ — —
Exercised . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (10,500) (10,500) $ 11.50 —
June 30, 2025  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12,145,917 12,145,917 $ 11.50 4.24

The Company accounted for the  12,145,917 Warrants assumed from the merger as equity instruments in 
accordance with ASC  480, “Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity” and ASC  815-40, “Derivatives and Hedging: 
Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity”.

Cancellation of Common Stock Held in Escrow

On September  26, 2024 (issuance date), pursuant to the Business Combination Agreement (see Note  4), 
500,000 shares were deposited to a segregated escrow account and would be release to the Old Foxx shareholders 
if and only if, prior to or upon the one-year anniversary of the Business Combination Agreement, the Affordable 
Connectivity Program managed by the U.S. Federal Communication Commission is reauthorized by the U.S. Congress 
with funding of no less than $4 billion in total for such reauthorized period; or otherwise be cancelled and forfeited by 
the Registrant without consideration.

On February 18, 2025, these 500,000 shares have been cancelled and forfeited without consideration.

Note 17 — Fair value measurement

The Company did not have any assets or liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of June 30, 
2024. The following table provides information related to the Company’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value 
on a recurring basis as of June 30, 2025 and September 26, 2024 (issuance date):

June 30, 2025
Carrying 

Value

Quoted 
Prices in 

Active 
Markets 
(Level 1)

Significant 
Other 

Observable 
Inputs 

(Level 2)

Significant 
Other 

Unobservable 
Inputs 

(Level 3)

Liabilities:
Earnout liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ — $ — $ — $ —
Total  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ — $ — $ — $ —

September 26, 2024 (issuance date)
Carrying 

Value

Quoted 
Prices in 

Active 
Markets 
(Level 1)

Significant 
Other 

Observable 
Inputs 

(Level 2)

Significant 
Other 

Unobservable 
Inputs 

(Level 3)

Liabilities:
Earnout liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 5,688,007 $ — $ — $ 5,688,007
Total  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 5,688,007 $ — $ — $ 5,688,007
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Note 17 — Fair value measurement (cont.)

The earnouts based on revenue have been classified within Level 3 of the hierarchy as the fair value is derived 
using a Monte Carlo simulation analysis in a risk neutral framework, which uses a combination of observable (Level 2) 
and unobservable (Level 3) inputs. Key estimates and assumptions impacting the fair value measurement include the 
Company’s revenue forecasts as well as the assumptions listed in tables below. The fair value measurement associated 
with the earnout liability is highly sensitive to changes in stock price and forecasted amounts for revenue through 
June 30, 2025. Any changes to stock price and forecasted revenues through June 30, 2025 will result in remeasurement 
of the earnout liability and could result in material gains or losses being recognized in the statement of operations.

The Company estimated the fair value per share of the underlying common stock based, in part, on the results of 
third-party valuations and additional factors deemed relevant. The risk-free interest rate was determined by reference 
to the U.S. Treasury yield curve for time periods approximately equal to the remaining contractual term of the earnouts.

Prior to the Business Combination, the Company was a private company and lacked company-specific 
historical and implied volatility information of its stock, and as such, the expected revenue volatility was based on 
historical volatility of industry outlook and the expected revenue volatility and stock volatility was based on the 
historical volatility of publicly traded peer companies for a term equal to the remaining expected term of the earnout 
period.

The following table presents the observable and unobservable inputs of the earnout liability for earnout shares 
based on revenue targets as of September 26, 2024 (issuance date):

Inputs Input Method

September 26, 
2024

Input Value

Simulated forecast of base monthly revenue  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Unobservable $ 7.4 million
Industry revenue growth . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Unobservable 1.7%
Revenue volatility . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Unobservable 30.5%
Stock volatility  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Unobservable 103.2%
Stock price  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Observable $ 11.20
Risk-free rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Observable 4.16%
Term  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Observable 0.76 Years

Inputs Input Method

June 30, 
2025

Input Value

Actual revenue  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Unobservable $ 5.5 million
Term  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Observable 0.00 Years

The following table summarizes the activity for the Company’s Level 3 instruments measured at fair value on a 
recurring basis:

Earnout 
Liabilities

Balance as of June 30, 2024 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ —
Issuances – September 26, 2024 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,688,007
Change in fair value  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (5,688,007)
Balance as of June 30, 2025 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ —
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Note 18 — Concentrations of risks

(a) Major customers

For the year ended June 30, 2025, three customers, customer A, customer B and customer C, which are the third 
parties of the Company, accounted for 27%, 25% and 25%, respectively, of the Company’s total revenues.

For the year ended June 30, 2024, three customers, customer D, customer A and customer E, which are the third 
parties of the Company, accounted for 41%, 29% and 16% of the Company’s total revenues.

(b) Major suppliers

For the year ended June 30, 2025, one supplier, supplier A, which is a third party of the Company, accounted for 
93% of the Company’s total purchases.

For the year ended June 30, 2024, three suppliers, supplier A, supplier B and supplier C, which is a third party 
of the Company, accounted for 49%, 31% and 18% of the Company’s total purchases.

(c) Geographic areas

For the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, all of the Company’s long-lived assets are located in the United States 
and all of the Company’s revenues are derived solely from the United States, accordingly, no geographical information 
is presented.

Note 19 — Leases

Short-term leases

The Company rented a mailbox for $450 per month from November 1, 2022 to October 31, 2024. The Company 
terminated this lease on August 5, 2023.

On August 1, 2023, the Company entered a twelve-month lease agreement to rent a general office and storage 
space for its purchased inventory for a monthly rental fee of $100. The Company renewed the lease for another 
twelve months at a monthly rental fee of $200.

On August 14, 2023, the Company entered a six-month lease agreement to rent an office for operating purposes 
with a monthly rental fee of $550. After the initial six-month term, the lease has been renewed on a month-to-month 
basis.

On September  18, 2023, the Company entered a month-to-month rental agreement to rent a dorm for the 
employee with a monthly rent of $3,000.

Long-term leases

In September 2023, the Company signed a three-year lease agreement to rent a general office and storage space 
for business operation with a monthly rent of $3,096, plus varied monthly CAM. The commencement date of this 
lease is October 1, 2023 and has no renewal option. On July 17, 2024, the Company extended the lease for another 
35 months to be commenced on October 1, 2026 and ended August 31, 2029. The Company considered this lease as 
an operating lease and recognized right-of-use asset and lease liability. The Company recognized lease expense on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term for operating lease.

In June 2024, the Company signed a six years and 11.5 months lease agreement to rent a general office for 
business operation with a monthly rent of $3,500, plus varied monthly CAM. The commencement date of this lease is 
June 15, 2024 and the expiration date is May 31, 2031. The Company considered this lease as an operating lease and 
recognized right-of-use asset and lease liability. The Company recognized lease expense on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term for operating lease.
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Note 19 — Leases (cont.)

On July 17, 2024, the Company signed a five-year and one-half month lease agreement to rent a general office and 
storage space for business operation with a monthly rent of $10,534, plus varied monthly CAM. The commencement 
date of this lease is August 15, 2024 and has no renewal option. The Company considered this lease as an operating 
lease and recognized right-of-use asset and lease liability. The Company recognized lease expense on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term for operating lease.

On July 12, 2024, the Company signed and further amended a ten-year lease agreement to rent a 101,145 square 
feet factory and warehouse for business operation, which will be commenced on July 1, 2025. On December 20, 2024, 
the Company further expanded the existing lease to include additional 102,099 square feet with a commencement date 
of January 1, 2026 (See Note 20 for details).

The ROU assets and lease liabilities are determined based on the present value of the future minimum rental 
payments of the lease as of the adoption date, using incremental borrowing rate as the effective interest rate, with a 
weighted average rate of 4.07%.

As of June 30, 2025 and 2024, the weighted-average remaining operating lease term of its existing leases is 
approximately 4.51 year and 5.68 year.

The following table sets forth the Company’s minimum long-term lease payments in future periods as of June 30, 
2025, which represents the operating lease liabilities on the accompanying balance sheet:

Operating lease 
payments

For the twelve months ending June 30, 2026 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 251,566
For the twelve months ending June 30, 2027 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 260,287
For the twelve months ending June 30, 2028 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 270,941
For the twelve months ending June 30, 2029 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 283,141
For the twelve months ending June 30, 2030 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 92,377
Thereafter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 50,437
Total lease payments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,208,749
Less: discount . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (107,397)
Present value of operating lease liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,101,352
Operating lease liabilities, current portion . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (211,525)
Operating lease liabilities, non-current portion  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 889,827

Operating lease expenses consist of the following:

Operating lease cost Classification

For the 
Year 

Ended 
June 30, 

2025

For the 
Year 

Ended 
June 30, 

2024

Lease expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . General, and administrative $ 245,801 $ 37,713
Lease expenses – short term . . . . . . . . . . . . General, and administrative 14,726 26,000
Total operating lease cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 260,527 $ 63,713

For the  years ended June  30, 2025 and 2024, $175,607 and $33,260 of cash were used for operating lease 
liabilities, respectively.
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Note 20 — Commitments and contingencies

Contingencies

From time to time, the Company is a party to certain legal proceedings, as well as certain asserted and un-asserted 
claims. Amounts accrued, as well as the total amount of reasonably possible losses with respect to such matters, 
individually and in the aggregate, are not deemed to be material to the consolidated financial statements.

On November 22, 2024, a plaintiff filed Semensato v. Foxx Development Holdings Inc., et al., No. 2024-1200 
(Del. Ch. Ct.), a class action complaint (“Complaint”) in Delaware Chancery Court against the Company and certain 
“Individual Defendants” (“Joy” Yi Hua, Haitao Cui, “Jeff ” Feng Jiang, “Eva” Yiqing Miao and Edmund R. Miller) 
(“Action”). The lawsuit seeks declaratory relief under provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law relating to 
a waiver of the corporate opportunity doctrine that is contained in the Company’s Amended and Restated Certificate of 
Incorporation. The plaintiff seeks a declaration that the waiver provision is invalid, an injunction against the Company 
and the Individual Defendants to prevent them from attempting to enforce the waiver, attorneys’ fees, and the costs 
and disbursements of this action. The Company and each of the Individual Defendants deny any and all wrongdoing 
alleged in the Complaint. However, to avoid the cost and distraction of litigation, the directors of the board of the 
Company (the “Board”) determined that it was advisable and in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders 
to amend Article X of the Charter (the “Amendment”). The Board thus approved and adopted the Second Amended 
and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company (the “Amended Charter”), and will direct the Amendment to 
be submitted to the stockholders of the Company for adoption and approval at the next annual meeting of stockholders 
with the Board’s recommendation that the Amendment be approved and adopted by the stockholders of the Company.

On March 3, 2025, after the plaintiff was advised of the Board’s approval of the Amended Charter, the plaintiff 
filed a notice of voluntary dismissal of the Action as moot, which the Court approved by order dated March 4, 2025. 
Believing that the swift resolution of this Action was in the best interests of and benefit to the Company, and without 
admitting the allegations the plaintiff made in the Complaint, the Company has agreed to pay $85,000 (the “Mootness 
Fee,” inclusive of a $500 service award to the plaintiff) to the plaintiff ’s counsel to resolve the anticipated application 
by the plaintiff ’s counsel for an award of attorneys’ fees and reimbursement of expenses. The fee was paid by the 
Company on March 18, 2025. In connection with the March 13, 2025 stipulated order closing the case, the Court 
ordered that the Company provide this notice. The Court has not and will not pass judgment on the amount of the 
Mootness Fee.

Lease Commitment

On July 12, 2024, the Company signed a seven-year lease agreement to rent a manufacturing plant for business 
operation with a monthly rent of $65,745, plus varied monthly CAM, for 50,573 square feet. The commencement 
date of this lease is February 1, 2025 and the termination date is January 31, 2032. On August 9, 2024, the Company 
expanded the existing lease to include additional 50,572 square feet from April 1, 2025 to January 31, 2032 with an 
additional monthly rent of $65,744. These two first-month rents were included in prepaid expenses and other current 
assets. On December 20, 2024, the Company revised the commencement date to July 1, 2025 and termination date to 
December 31, 2035, and further expanded the existing lease to include additional 102,099 square feet from January 1, 
2026 to December 31, 2035 with an additional monthly rent of $132,729, which was included in prepaid expenses and 
other current assets. Additional $550,000 of security deposits were made as a result of this lease amendment, which 
was included in the caption “security deposits” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as of June 30, 2025. 
These leases were not included in the operating right-of-use assets balance as of June 30, 2025 as the commencement 
date of the lease was on July 1, 2025.

Reference to Note 19 for detailed disclosure of other entered lease agreements and liabilities.
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Note 20 — Commitments and contingencies (cont.)

Risks and Uncertainties

On April 2, 2025, President Trump signed the Executive Order, Regulating Imports with a Reciprocal Tariff 
to Rectify Trade Practices that Contribute to Large and Persistent Annual United States Goods Trade Deficits (“the 
April 2 EO”), to take action based on the results of certain investigations related to the causes of the U.S.’s large 
and persistent annual trade deficits in goods. Subsequent to the April 2 EO, there have been additional Executive 
Orders that have, among other actions, effectively suspended the enforcement of certain country-specific tariffs until 
November 10, 2025. The potential for further changes in trade policies, including new tariffs or changes to existing 
ones, introduces uncertainty regarding the Company’s future costs, revenues, collectability of account receivables, 
carrying value of inventories, and overall financial performance. The Company monitors these developments closely 
and will continue to evaluate their potential impact on its operations, financial condition, and results of operations. The 
ultimate financial impact of these uncertainties is difficult to quantify at this time.

Note 21 — Income taxes

The Company’s income tax expenses for years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024 are as follows:

For the Years Ended  
June 30,

2025 2024

Federal . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Current  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 40,254 $ 12,690
Deferred  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — —

State. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Current  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 36,489 7,138
Deferred  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — —

Total provision for income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 76,743 19,828

Income tax expense for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024 varied from the amount computed by applying 
the statutory income tax rate to income before taxes. Reconciliations between the expected federal income tax rates 
using 21% for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024 to the Company’s effective tax rate are as follows:

For the Years Ended 
June 30,

2025 2024

Federal statutory tax rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 21.0% 21.0%
State statutory tax rate, net of deduction on federal tax return . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (0.1)% 4.2%
Permanent difference  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (13.5)% (1.7)%
Others . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1.1)% 0.9%
Change in valuation allowance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (7.2)% (25.0)%
Effective tax rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (0.9)% (0.6)%

The Company had a cumulative net operating loss carryforward (“NOL”) for federal, state and foreign income 
tax purpose of approximately $7.5 million, $2.7 million, and $0.1 million, respectively, as of June 30, 2025. The 
Company elected 100% allowance on deferred tax asset for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024 and incurred 
approximately $0.7 million and $0.8 million allowance on deferred tax asset, respectively. The Company’s NOL is 
limited to 80% of the excess of taxable income on federal level, and no limitation on the state level. The Company’s 
federal NOL and state NOL of approximately $1.4 million will last indefinitely. The state NOL of approximately 
$1.2  million can be carried for 20  years. The valuation allowance increased by approximately $0.7  million  from 
approximately $2.0 million on June 30, 2024 to approximately $2.7 million on June 30, 2025.
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Note 21 — Income taxes (cont.)

The utilization of the Company’s net operating losses may be subject to a U.S.  federal limitation due to the 
“change in ownership provisions” under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code and other similar limitations in 
various state jurisdictions. Such limitations may result in a reduction of the amount of net operating loss carryforwards 
in future years and possibly the expiration of certain net operating loss carryforwards before their utilization.

The Company’s deferred tax accounts are comprised of the following as of:

June 30, 
2025

June 30, 
2024

Deferred tax assets
Net operating loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,721,161 $ 1,971,071
Capitalized R&D expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 516,994 70,451
Accrued warranty expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 70,385 7,382
Lease liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 236,020 109,903
Allowance for credit losses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 195,696 —
Stock-based compensation expenses  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 166,847 —
Less: valuation allowance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2,678,143) (2,034,319)
Total deferred tax assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 228,960 124,488

Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation of property and equipment  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (1,066) $ (14,371)
Right of use assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (227,894) (110,117)
Total deferred tax liability . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (228,960) (124,488)
Total deferred tax accounts, net  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ — $ —

The Company’s taxes payable consist of the following:

June 30, 
2025

June 30, 
2024

Income taxes payable  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 76,743 $ —

Uncertain tax positions

The Company evaluates each uncertain tax position (including the potential application of interest and penalties) 
based on the marketing performance and measures the unrecognized benefits associated with the tax positions. As of 
June 30, 2025 and 2024, the Company did not have any significant unrecognized uncertain tax positions.

Note 22 — Disaggregated information of revenues

Disaggregated information of revenues by product type is as follows:

For the Years Ended 
June 30,

2025 2024

Tablet products  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 509,843 $ 660,787
Mobile phone products . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 59,696,955 2,567,772
Wearable products and others . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,444,077 —
Subtotal product revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 63,650,875 3,228,559
App service commission revenue, net. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,166,477 —
Other services . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 101,814 —
Subtotal service revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,268,291 —
Total revenues, net  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 65,919,166 $ 3,228,559
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Note 22 — Disaggregated information of revenues (cont.)

Disaggregated information of revenues by business line is as follows:

For the Years Ended 
June 30,

2025 2024

Wholesale revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 62,316,253 $ 3,017,769
E-Commerce revenues  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,334,622 210,790
Subtotal product revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 63,650,875 3,228,559
App service commission revenue, net. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,166,477 —
Other services . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 101,814 —
Subtotal service revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,268,291 —
Total revenues, net  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 65,919,166 $ 3,228,559

Note 23 — Basic and diluted loss per share

Basic EPS is measured as net loss divided by the weighted average common shares outstanding for the period. 
Diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders adjusts basic loss per share for the potentially dilutive 
impact of non-participating shares of common stock that are subject to the convertible note, and other securities 
outstanding. Certain securities may be anti-dilutive and would be excluded from the calculation of diluted loss per 
share and disclosed separately. Because of the nature of the calculation, particular securities may be dilutive in some 
periods and anti-dilutive in other periods.

The following table presents the computation of basic and diluted loss per share attributable to common 
stockholders, for the periods presented:

For the Years Ended
June 30,

2025 2024
Net loss – basic EPS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (9,020,136) $ (3,430,642)
Interest expenses incurred on the convertible note . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 264,445
Net loss – basic and diluted EPS. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (9,020,136) $ (3,166,197)
Basic and diluted weighted average shares outstanding* . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,148,467 3,303,333

Basic and diluted loss per share  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (1.47) $ (1.04)

* There were no shares that have a dilutive effect for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024.

The following table outlines dilutive common share equivalents outstanding, which are excluded in the above 
diluted net loss per share calculation, as the effect of their inclusion would be anti-dilutive or the share equivalents 
were contingently issuable as of each period presented:

For the Years Ended
June 30,

2025 2024

Warrants*  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12,145,917 —
RSUs* . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 693,929 —
Common stock underlying from the convertible notes* . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 690,176
Total  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12,839,846 690,176

* The Company’s outstanding warrants, RSUs, and common stock that is potentially convertible from the convertible notes 
were excluded from the computation of diluted EPS because it has anti-dilutive effect as the company had a net loss during 
the periods presented.
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Note 24 — Segment information

The Company conducts business as a single operating segment which is based upon the Company’s organizational 
and management structure, as well as information used by the Company’s CODM to allocate resources and other 
factors. The accounting policies of the segment are the same as those described in Note 3.

The key measure of segment profitability that the CODM uses to allocate resources and assess performance 
is consolidated net loss, as reported on the consolidated statements of operations. The following table presents the 
significant revenue and expense categories of the Company’s single operating segment:

For The Years Ended

June 30, 
2025

June 30, 
2024

Revenues, net  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 65,919,166 $ 3,228,559
Less cost of goods sold . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 61,144,561 3,112,616
Less significant segment expenses:

Commission expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 598,971 30,083
Marketing consulting expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,458,879 566,084
Warranty and testing expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 871,274 146,208
Marketing and advertising expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 368,189 129,935
Other selling and marketing expenses  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 107,569 51,496
Payroll and payroll tax expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,310,049 1,134,683
Professional expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,953,380 718,949
Insurance expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 622,179 96,575
Credit losses  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 913,190 —
Office expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 329,571 53,202
Rent expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 260,527 63,764
Travel expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 239,999 69,712
Other general and administrative  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 178,202 92,554
Other research and development expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,308,130 —
Research and development expenses-related party . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 136,752 91,168
Stock-based compensation expenses  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 815,678 —

Other segment items:
Interest expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,959,055 278,328
Other expense (income), net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (25,589) 4,016
Change in fair value of earnout liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (5,688,007) —
Provision for income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 76,743 19,828
Segment net loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (9,020,136) $ (3,430,642)
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Note 25 — Subsequent events

The Company evaluated all events and transactions that occurred after June 30, 2025 up through the date the 
Company issued these consolidated financial statements. Based on this review, the Company did not identify any 
subsequent events that would require adjustment or disclosure in the consolidated financial statements.

On July 4, 2025, the One Big Beautiful Bill was enacted (“OBBBA”), introducing significant and wide-ranging 
changes to the U.S.  tax system. Significant components include restoration of 100% accelerated tax depreciation 
on qualifying property including expansion to cover qualified production property. Another major aspect includes 
the return to immediate expensing of domestic research and experimental expenditures (“R&E”) which in some 
cases may include retroactive application back to 2021 for businesses with gross receipts of less than $31 million or 
accelerated tax deductions of R&E that was previously capitalized for larger businesses. The legislation also reinstates 
EBITDA-based interest deductions for tax purposes and makes several business tax incentives permanent. Less 
favorable business provisions include limitations on tax deductions for charitable contributions.

The Company is currently assessing the potential impact of this legislation on its future financial position, 
results of operations, and cash flows. In accordance with U.S. GAAP, the effects will be recognized in the period of 
enactment.



32

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND 
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

On November 1, 2024, CBIZ CPAs P.C. acquired Marcum LLP (“Marcum”). In connection with the Acquisition, 
on May 1, 2025, Marcum resigned as the independent registered public accounting firm of the registrant. The Audit 
Committee of the Board of Directors accepted Marcum’s resignation. Marcum acted as the independent registered 
public accounting firm of the Company during the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023. Marcum remained as 
the auditor of the Company after the Closing and reviewed the unaudited interim financial statements of the Company 
for the period ended September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2024.

The Audit Committee approved the appointment of CBIZ CPAs P.C. (“CBIZ”) as the Company’s new independent 
registered public accounting firm on May 1, 2025, with immediate effect, for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2025. 
During the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and the subsequent interim period through May 1, 2025, neither the 
Company, nor anyone on its behalf, consulted CBIZ regarding either (i)  the application of accounting principles 
to a specified transaction, either completed or proposed, or the type of audit opinion that might be rendered with 
respect to the consolidated financial statements of the Company, and no written report or oral advice was provided 
to the Company by CBIZ that was an important factor considered by the Company in reaching a decision as to any 
accounting, auditing or financial reporting issue; or (ii) any matter that was the subject of a “disagreement” (as defined 
in Item 304(a)(1)(iv) of Regulation S-K and the related instructions) or a “reportable event” (as that term is defined in 
Item 304(a)(1)(v) of Regulation S-K).

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls are procedures that are designed with the objective of ensuring that information required to 
be disclosed in our reports filed under the Exchange Act, such as this report, is recorded, processed, summarized, and 
reported within the time period specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls are also designed with the 
objective of ensuring that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including the chief 
executive officer and chief financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. 
Our management evaluated, with the participation of our current chief executive officer and our chief financial officer 
(our “Certifying Officers”), the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of June 30, 2025, pursuant 
to Rule 13a-15(b) under the Exchange Act. Based upon that evaluation, our chief executive officer and chief financial 
officer concluded that, during the period covered by this report, our disclosure controls and procedures were not 
effective due to the identified material weakness described below.

We do not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures will prevent all errors and all instances of fraud. 
Disclosure controls and procedures, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not 
absolute, assurance that the objectives of the disclosure controls and procedures are met. Further, the design of 
disclosure controls and procedures must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits must be 
considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all disclosure controls and procedures, no 
evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures can provide absolute assurance that we have detected all our control 
deficiencies and instances of fraud, if any. The design of disclosure controls and procedures also is based partly on 
certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed 
in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

As required by SEC rules and regulations implementing Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, our management 
is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Our internal control 
over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and 
the preparation of our financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with GAAP. Our internal 
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that:

(1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions 
and dispositions of the assets of our company,
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(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial 
statements in accordance with GAAP, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in 
accordance with authorizations of our management and directors, and

(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or 
disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect errors 
or misstatements in our financial statements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods 
are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree or 
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Management assessed the effectiveness of our internal 
control over financial reporting at June 30, 2025. In making these assessments, management used the criteria set forth 
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control — Integrated 
Framework (2013). Based on our assessments and those criteria, management determined that we did not maintain 
effective internal control over financial reporting as of June 30, 2025 due to the material weaknesses in the design 
or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect our ability to record, process, summarize, and report 
financial data, which includes:

— lack of sufficient segregation of duties due to limited resources;

— lack of adequate design of controls and proper documentation needed in order to demonstrate that controls 
in place are operating effectively for significant transaction classes;

— inability to prepare complete and accurate financial statements in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principle (“GAAP) in a timely manner;

— inappropriate implementation of controls over the identification of related party transactions; and

— lack of appropriate design of controls over the completeness and accuracy of App services revenue.

Following the identification of the material weakness, we plan to take remedial measures including:

— hiring more qualified accounting personnel with relevant GAAP and SEC reporting experience and 
qualifications to strengthen the financial reporting function and to set up a financial and system control 
framework;

— implementing regular and continuous U.S. GAAP accounting and financial reporting training programs 
for our accounting and financial reporting personnel; and

— establishing internal audit function by engaging an external consulting firm to assist us with assessment 
of Sarbanes-Oxley Act compliance requirements and improvement of overall internal control.

The Company had previously reported, as of June  30, 2024, that it had identified the following material 
weaknesses in its internal control over financial reporting:

— inefficient oversight of those charged with governance with respect to complete and accurate financial 
reporting; and

— lack of appropriate controls surrounding authorized signor access for bank accounts.

During the year ended June 30, 2025, the Company has implemented corrective action and placed into operation 
controls to address the material weakness described above. These actions included the establishment of an Audit 
Committee to oversee the completeness and accuracy of financial reporting, the addition of a layer of review to the 
financial reporting process, and the enhancement of controls over access to bank accounts. Based on the corrective 
actions, and testing completed for the year ended June  30, 2025, management has concluded that certain of the 
material weaknesses noted above that existed as of June 30, 2024 has been remediated.

This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not include an attestation report of internal controls from our independent 
registered public accounting firm due to our status as an emerging growth company under the JOBS Act.
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Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the year ended June 30, 2025 
that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting, 
other than those described above in our remediation efforts.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS

Not applicable.



35

PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The following table sets forth information about our directors and executive officers as of the date of this report.

Name Age Position

Executive Officer

Greg Foley 57 Chief Executive Officer
“Joy” Yi Hua 50 Chairwoman, Chief Financial Officer, and Director
Haitao Cui 47 Executive Vice President and Director
James Liao 59 Chief Technology Officer
Board of Directors

“Joy” Yi Hua 50 Chairwoman and Director
Haitao Cui 47 Director
“Eva” Yiqing Miao 39 Independent Director
Edmund R. Miller 68 Independent Director
John Chiang 62 Independent Director

Executive Officers

Mr.  Greg Foley  currently serves as Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Mr.  Foley also serves as the 
Executive Vice President of Business Development of our Operating Subsidiary, a position he has held since 
September  2024. Mr.  Foley joined Foxx, the predecessor of our Operating Subsidiary in April  2024 as the Chief 
Executive Officer of Foxx. Mr. Foley has over 25 years of experience in leading the sales and marketing efforts to drive 
enterprise and channel growth in high-growth markets in electronic devices, SaaS, IoT, 5G Fixed Wireless, AI, and 
cloud development. Prior to joining Foxx, Mr. Foley served as Director of Global Business Development, Partnerships, 
Strategies and Alliances at Inseego (Nasdaq: INSG), a company that engages in the design and development of fixed 
and mobile wireless solutions, industrial Internet of Things (IIoT), and cloud solutions. Between 2018 and 2020, 
Mr. Foley served as Vice President of Sales and Product Development at NetComm Wireless. Earlier in his career, 
Mr. Foley took executive roles at various telecommunication and technology companies such as SpareOne, HTC, 
Samsung, and Nokia. Mr. Foley received his BBA in Finance from Georgia State University in 1997.

Ms. “Joy” Yi Hua  has served as Chief Financial Officer and Chairwoman of the Board of Directors since 
September 2024. She also serves as the Chief Financial Officer of our Operating Subsidiary, a position she has held 
since September  2024. Previously, Ms. Hua serves as Chairwoman, CEO, and CFO of ACAC from its inception 
until its business combination with Foxx in September 2022. Ms. Hua has over 18 years of experience in investment 
management, hedge fund, private equity and real estate investment around the world. Ms. Hua has over 18 years 
of experience in investment management, hedge fund, private equity and real estate investment around the world. 
Since March 2023, Ms. Hua has served as the CEO of Bit Bay Technology Corporation, a US data center investment 
and management company. She has also served as Managing Director of Serene View Capital LLC, an investment 
management and consulting firm, since June 2016. Previously, in June 2018, Ms. Hua founded Cohere Education 
LLC, an online education start-up  engaged in the distribution of STEAM curriculum and programs to K-12  and 
college students in the U.S. and China. Before that, Ms. Hua co-founded and served as the Chief Operating Officer for 
MeshImpact LLC, a consulting firm focused on data analytics and machine learning solutions, between July 2016 and 
December 2018. Earlier in her career, Ms. Hua worked for CornerStone Parnters LLC for 8 years from 2008 to 2016 
where she managed private equity and real assets portfolios of over 3 billion US dollars for 12 non-profit clients. Ms. 
Hua started her investment career at UVIMCO, the organization that manages the University of Virginia’s $14.5 billion 
endowment, from 2004 to 2008. Ms. Hua received her MBA from the University of Texas at Austin in 2003, and a 
B.A. in Economics from Shanghai University of Finance & Economics in 1997. She has been a CFA charter holder 
since 2004.

Mr. Haitao Cui has served as our Executive Vice President and a member of our Board of Directors since 
September 2024. He also serves as the Chief Executive Officer of our Operating Subsidiary, a position he has held 
since September 2024. Mr. Cui joined our Operating Subsidiary in August 2018, serving as its Chief Executive Officer 
until April 2024 before stepping into the role of Executive Vice President of Sales in our Operating Subsidiary from 
April 2024 to September 2024. Mr. Cui brought to Foxx with over 10 years of executive and managerial experience in 
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directing, managing, and overseeing key corporate relations and regional sales development for consumer electronic 
products. Mr.  Cui received a Bachelor’s Degree in Electrical and Engineering Automation from Xi’an Jiaotong 
University, China, in 2000.

Mr.  James Liao  has served as our Chief Technology Officer since September  2024. He is also the Chief 
Technology Officer of our Operating Subsidiary. Previously, Mr. Liao served as Chief Technology Officer of Foxx, 
a position he has held from August 2023 until September 2024. Before joining Foxx, from 2018 until August 2023, 
Mr. Liao worked as a Senior Manager, Product Strategy and Innovation, at Charter Communications (Nasdaq: CHTR), 
a major U.S. telecommunication company. From 2016 to 2017, Mr. Liao worked as Director of Product Management 
and Director of Technology Management at LEECO, a consumer technology company. Before that, from 2003 to 
2016, Mr. Liao spent over a decade at the US offices of Nokia Corporation, the Finnish multinational electronics 
and telecommunication conglomerate, rising through rank from Architect, Product Requirements Manager, Software 
Development Group Manager, Product Program Manager, to Senior Product Manager. In addition to his experience 
at established telecommunication and consumer electronics businesses, Mr. Liao also has various additional relevant 
experience working as software engineer for Negecell and Dotcast Inc., two telecommunication startup companies. 
Mr. Liao received a certificate in Innovation and Entrepreneurship from Harvard University in 2021, a certificate in 
Artificial Intelligence, Strategic Management from Massachusetts Institute of Technology in 2021, and a certificate in 
Machine Learning, Robotics from Stanford University in 2020. Mr. Liao received a Master of Electrical Engineering 
degree from the University of Texas in 1995 and a Bachelor’s degree in Electrical Engineering from Tsinghua 
University in 1989.

Independent Directors

Ms. “Eva” Yiqing Miao has served as our independent director since September 2024. Since June 2022, Ms. 
Miao has served as the Chief Financial Officer and Head of Operations at Torus Biosystems, a Massachusetts based 
biotech company. From November 2020 to June 2022, Ms. Miao worked as a Vice President of Finance at Proven 
Skincare, a provider of consumer skincare products. From September 2018 to November 2020, Ms. Miao worked 
as the Chief of Staff to the CEO and Head of Investor Relations and Corporate Development at Genuity Science, a 
geonomics analytics company. From 2016 to 2018, Ms. Miao worked as an associate in technology investment banking 
at Morgan Partners, a investment bank focused on the fin-tech sector. From 2015 to 2016, Ms. Miao worked as an 
associate in healthcare investment banking at Jefferies Group, a major US investment bank. Prior to working in the 
US, Ms. Miao also had experiences working in China. From 2008 to 2013, Ms. Miao worked as an assistant manager 
in audit and transaction service at PwC, one of the “Big-Four” accounting firms, at its Shanghai office. Ms. Miao 
received a MBA from University of Virginia Darden School of Business in 2015 and a Bachelor’s degree in Economics 
from Shanghai University of International Business and Economics in 2008.

Mr. Edmund R. Miller has served as our independent director since September 2024. Previously, Mr. Miller 
has served as the independent director of ACAC from June 2022 until its business combination with Foxx. Mr. Miller 
has extensive experience in private equity investment and fundraising, and in the Telecommunication, Media,  & 
Technology (TMT) sector. Mr. Miller is a Senior Managing Director of Pan American Finance, LLC, an investment 
advisory firm where he has held this position since 2012. From 2002 to 2011, he was the Managing Director at 
Parmenter Realty Partners, a real estate investment firm, where he was in charge of all aspects of documenting and 
raising their second, third, and fourth institutional funds. Earlier in his career, from 1984 to 1996, Mr. Miller was 
co-manager of the largest Caribbean Basin and Latin American coverage team for Goldman Sachs, based in Miami. 
From 1996 to 1999, he managed a high yield fund for a large Latin American bank, managed a hedge fund, and was a 
founder and led the initial investment round in Answerthink (now known as The Hackett Group, NASDAQ: HCKT), 
an information technology consulting company. Mr. Miller was the co-founder of Interprise Technology Partners, a 
$110 million technology venture fund which made seven lead investments between 1999 and 2002. Prior to joining 
Goldman Sachs in 1984, Mr. Miller worked for Price Waterhouse in New York City in international tax for 4 years. He 
is a graduate of the University of Florida Warrington College of Business and the Levin College of Law. Mr. Miller 
was previously certified as a CPA and was a member of the New York State Bar.

Mr. John Chiang has served as our independent director since November 2024. Mr. Chiang has extensive 
experience in serving as a director for public and private companies. Since 2019, Mr.  Chiang has served as a 
director of Astrana Health, Inc., a California-based healthcare technology company. Previously, Mr.  Chiang 
served as a director of Chijet Motor Company, Inc. (NASDAQ: CJET) from June 2023 to May 2024, and of Deep 
Medicine Acquisition Corp. from October 2022 to its business combination with TruGolf, Inc. (NASDAQ: TRUG) 
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in January  2024. He has also sat on the board of several private companies, including Boom Interactive since 
May 2023, Pasadena Private Lending, LLC since December 2023, GrubMarket since February 2024, and ChimeTV 
since June 2023. Previously, Mr. Chiang also served on the board of Aegis Systems from January 2019 until early 
2021 and Zeuss Technologies from January 2019 to March 2021. Before his service in the private sector, Mr. Chiang 
spent two decades as a state elected official. From 2015 to 2019, Mr.  Chiang served as the State Treasurer of 
California. In his role, he oversaw trillions of dollars in annual transactions, managed a $75 billion investment 
portfolio and was the nation’s largest issuer of municipal bonds. From 2007 to 2015, he served for two terms as the 
State Controller of California, overseeing the state’s payroll system and the accounting and disbursements of public 
funds. From 1999 to 2006, Mr. Chiang served as an elected member of the California Board of Equalization, the 
state tax authority, including as its chair for three years. Before his election to state-wide offices, Mr. Chiang began 
his career as a tax law specialist for the Internal Revenue Service. He then worked as an attorney for then-California 
State Controller Gray Davis and also served on the staff of U.S. Senator Barbara Boxer. Mr. Chiang received his 
Bachelor of Science degree with honors in finance from the University of South Florida and his Juris Doctor degree 
from Georgetown University Law Center.

Director Independence

Nasdaq listing standards require that a majority of our Board of Directors be independent. An “independent 
director” is defined generally as a person other than an officer or employee of the company or its subsidiaries or any 
other individual having a relationship which in the opinion of the Company’s Board of Directors, would interfere with 
the director’s exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director. Our Board of Directors 
has determined that  determined that each of Ms. Miao, Mr. Miller and Mr. Chiang qualifies as “independent” as 
defined under the applicable Nasdaq rules, and the Board of Directors consist of a majority of “independent directors,” 
as defined under the rules of the SEC and Nasdaq relating to director independence requirements. In addition, we 
are subject to the rules of the SEC and Nasdaq relating to the membership, qualifications and operations of the audit 
committee, as discussed below.

Committees of the Board of Directors

Committees of the Board

The Board of Directors direct the management of our business and affairs, as provided by Delaware law, and 
conduct its business through meetings of the Board and its standing committees. We have a standing audit committee, 
compensation committee, and nominating and corporate governance committee, each of which operates under a 
written charter.

In addition, from time to time, special committees may be established under the direction of the Board when 
the Board deems it necessary or advisable to address specific issues. Current copies of our committee charters are 
posted on our website, as required by applicable SEC and Nasdaq Stock Market rules. The information on or available 
through any of such website is not deemed incorporated in this Annual Report and does not form part of this Annual 
Report.

Audit Committee

Our audit committee consist of Ms. Miao, Mr. Miller and Mr. Chiang, with Ms. Miao serving as its chair. The Board 
determines that each of these individuals satisfies the independence requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 
as amended, or the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, Rule 10A-3 under the Exchange Act and the applicable listing standards of 
the Nasdaq Stock Market. Each member of audit committee satisfies the requirements for financial literacy under the 
applicable Nasdaq Stock Market rules. In arriving at this determination, the Board examined each audit committee 
member’s scope of experience and the nature of their prior and/or current employment.

The Board determines that Ms. Miao qualifies as an audit committee financial expert within the meaning of 
SEC regulations and meets the financial sophistication requirements of the Nasdaq Stock Market rules. In making this 
determination, the Board considered Ms. Miao’s formal education and previous and current experience in financial 
and accounting roles. Both our independent registered public accounting firm and management periodically meet 
privately with the our audit committee.
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The audit committee’s responsibilities will include, among other things:

• appointing, compensating, retaining, evaluating, terminating and overseeing our independent registered 
public accounting firm;

• discussing with our independent registered public accounting firm their independence from management;

• reviewing with our independent registered public accounting firm the scope and results of their audit;

• pre-approving all audit and permissible non-audit services to be performed by our independent registered 
public accounting firm;

• overseeing the financial reporting process and discussing with management and our independent registered 
public accounting firm the interim and annual financial statements that the Company files with the SEC;

• reviewing and monitoring our accounting principles, accounting policies, financial and accounting 
controls and compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; and

• establishing procedures for the confidential anonymous submission of concerns regarding questionable 
accounting, internal controls or auditing matters.

Compensation Committee

Our compensation committee consists of Ms. Miao, Mr. Miller and Mr. Chiang, with Mr. Miller as its chair. 
The Board determines that each of Ms. Miao, Mr. Miller and Mr. Chiang are non-employee directors, as defined in 
Rule 16b-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act. The Board determines that Ms. Miao, Mr. Miller and Mr. Chiang are 
“independent” as defined under the applicable Nasdaq listing standards, including the standards specific to members 
of a compensation committee. The compensation committee’s responsibilities will include, among other things:

• reviewing and approving corporate goals and objectives relevant to the compensation of our Chief 
Executive Officer, evaluating the performance of our Chief Executive Officer in light of these goals and 
objectives and setting or making recommendations to the Board regarding the compensation of our Chief 
Executive Officer;

• reviewing and setting or making recommendations to the Board regarding the compensation of the other 
executive officers;

• making recommendations to the Board regarding the compensation of directors;

• reviewing and approving or making recommendations to the Board regarding incentive compensation and 
equity-based plans and arrangements; and

• appointing and overseeing any compensation consultants.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

Our nominating and corporate governance committee consists of Ms. Miao, Mr. Miller and Mr. Chiang, with 
Mr. Chiang as its chair. The Board determines that each of Ms. Miao, Mr. Miller and Mr. Chiang is “independent” as 
defined under the applicable listing standards of Nasdaq and SEC rules and regulations.

The nominating and corporate governance committee’s responsibilities include, among other things:

• identifying individuals qualified to become members of the Board, consistent with criteria approved by 
the Board;

• recommending to the Board the nominees for election to the Board at annual meetings of shareholders;

• overseeing an evaluation of the Board and its committees; and

• developing and recommending to the Board a set of corporate governance guidelines. We believe that the 
composition and functioning of nominating and corporate governance committee meets the requirements 
for independence under the current Nasdaq Stock Market listing standards.

The Board may from time to time establish such other committees.
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Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

None of the executive officers currently serves, or has served during the last year, as a member of the Board of 
Directors or compensation committee of any entity, that has one or more executive officers who are expected to serve 
as a member of the Board.

Related Person Transaction Policy

We have adopted a written Related Person Transactions Policy that set forth our policies and procedures regarding 
the identification, review, consideration and oversight of “related person transactions.” Our audit committee approves 
only those transactions that it determines are fair to us and in our best interests.

A “Related Person Transaction” is a transaction, arrangement or relationship in which we or any of our 
subsidiaries was, is or will be a participant, the amount of which involved exceeds $120,000, and in which any related 
person had, has or will have a direct or indirect material interest. A “Related Person” means:

• any person who is, or at any time during the applicable period was, one of our executive officers or a 
member of the Board;

• any person who is known by us to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of our voting stock;

• any immediate family member of any of the foregoing persons, which means any child, stepchild, parent, 
stepparent, spouse, sibling, mother-in-law, father-in-law, daughter-in-law, brother-in-law or sister-in-law of 
a director, officer or a beneficial owner of more than 5% of our voting stock, and any person (other than a 
tenant or employee) sharing the household of such director, executive officer or beneficial owner of more 
than 5% of our voting stock; and

• any firm, corporation or other entity in which any of the foregoing persons is a partner or principal or in a 
similar position or in which such person has a 10% or greater beneficial ownership interest.

We have policies and procedures designed to minimize potential conflicts of interest arising from any dealings 
it may have with its affiliates and to provide appropriate procedures for the disclosure of any real or potential conflicts 
of interest that may exist from time to time. Specifically, pursuant to its audit committee charter, the audit committee 
will have the responsibility to review related person transactions.

Clawback Policy

We have adopted a clawback policy that applies to our executive officers (the “Policy”) to comply with Nasdaq 
rules.

The policy gives the Compensation Committee the discretion to require executive officers to reimburse us 
for any Erroneously Awarded Compensation (as defined in the Policy) that was based on financial results that were 
subsequently restated as a result of that person’s misconduct.

Insider Trading Policy

We have adopted an insider trading policy governing the purchase, sale, and other dispositions of the registrant’s 
securities by directors, senior management, and employees. A copy of the insider trading policy is filed as an exhibit 
to this Annual Report.

Limitation on Liability and Indemnification Matters

The DGCL authorizes corporations to limit or eliminate the personal liability of directors to corporations and 
their shareholders for monetary damages for breaches of directors’ fiduciary duties, subject to certain exceptions. 
Our Certificate of Incorporation includes a provision that eliminates the personal liability of directors for monetary 
damages for any breach of fiduciary duty as a director to the fullest extent permitted by the DGCL as the same exists 
or as may hereafter be amended from time to time. The effect of these provisions is to eliminate the rights of us and 
our shareholders, through shareholders’ derivative suits on our behalf, to recover monetary damages from a director 
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for breach of fiduciary duty as a director, including breaches resulting from grossly negligent behavior. However, 
exculpation does not apply to any director if the director has acted in bad faith, knowingly or intentionally violated the 
law, authorized illegal dividends or redemptions or derived an improper benefit from his or her actions as a director.

Our Certificate of Incorporation permits and the Bylaws obligates us to indemnify, to the fullest extent 
permitted by the DGCL, any director or officer of us who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any 
threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative 
(a “Proceeding”) by reason of the fact that he or she is or was a director or officer of us or is or was serving at the 
request of us as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other 
enterprise, against expenses (including attorneys’ fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and 
reasonably incurred by such person in connection with any such Proceeding. We will not be obligated to indemnify a 
person in connection with a Proceeding (or part thereof) initiated by such person unless the Proceeding (or part thereof) 
was, or is, authorized by the Board, and the Board determines to provide the indemnification, or is otherwise required 
by applicable law. In addition, the Bylaws require that we, to the fullest extent permitted by law, pay, in advance of the 
final disposition of a Proceeding, expenses (including attorneys’ fees) actually and reasonably incurred by an officer 
or director in defending any Proceeding, upon receipt of a written request therefor (together with documentation 
reasonably evidencing such expenses) and an undertaking by or on behalf of the person to repay such amounts if it 
shall ultimately be determined that the person is not entitled to be indemnified under the Bylaws or the DGCL.

We expect to enter into an indemnification agreement with each of its directors and executive officers that 
provides for indemnification to the maximum extent permitted by Delaware law.

We believe that these indemnification and advancement provisions and insurance are useful to attract and retain 
qualified directors and executive officers. The limitation of liability and indemnification provisions in our Certificate 
of Incorporation and Bylaws may discourage shareholders from bringing a lawsuit against directors for breach of their 
fiduciary duty. These provisions also may have the effect of reducing the likelihood of derivative litigation against 
directors and officers, even though such an action, if successful, might otherwise benefit us and our shareholders. 
In addition, your investment may be adversely affected to the extent that we pay the costs of settlement and damage 
awards against directors and officers pursuant to these indemnification provisions. Insofar as indemnification for 
liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to directors or executive officers, we have been informed 
that in the opinion of the SEC such indemnification is against public policy and is therefore unenforceable.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, requires our executive 
officers, directors and persons who beneficially own more than 10% of a registered class of our equity securities to 
file with the Securities and Exchange Commission initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in ownership 
of our shares of Common Stock and other equity securities. These executive officers, directors, and greater than 10% 
beneficial owners are required by SEC regulation to furnish us with copies of all Section 16(a) forms filed by such 
reporting persons.

Based solely on our review of such forms furnished to us and written representations from certain reporting 
persons, we believe that, during the year ended June  30, 2025, our directors, executive officers, and ten percent 
stockholders complied with all Section 16(a) filing requirements, except that Mr. Jeff Jiang was late in filing a Form 4 
in connection with his resignation as a director, and Mr. John Chiang was late in filing a Form 3 in connection with 
his appointment as a director.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

We are an emerging growth company as such term is defined under the Exchange Act. This section discusses 
the material elements of compensation awarded to, earned by or paid to Foxx’s principal executive officer and other 
executive officers (other than our principal executive officer). Together, these officers are referred to as our “named 
executive officers” or “NEOs.”
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The Company has entered into employment agreements with each of its executive officers, pursuant to which 
each executive officer is entitled to the following compensation arrangement for each fiscal year. In addition to the 
base salary, each executive officer shall receive medical benefits, including medical, vision, dental, and unemployment 
plans. In addition, each of the executive officers below is entitled to participate in the Incentive Plan, as determined by 
the Board or its designee, as the administrator of the Incentive Plan.

Name and Principal Position

2024  
Salary  

($)

2025  
Salary  

($)
Bonus  

($)

Equity  
Awards  

($)

All Other  
Compensation  

($)
Greg Foley  

Chief Executive Officer; Executive Vice President of 
Business Development of the Operating Subsidiary

$ 275,000 265,833 N/A N/A N/A

Haitao Cui  
Executive Vice President; Chief Executive Officer 
of the Operating Subsidiary

$ 300,000 290,000 N/A N/A N/A

“Joy” Yi Hua  
Chairwoman and Chief Financial Officer; Chief 
Financial Officer of the Operating Subsidiary

$ — 290,000 N/A N/A N/A

James Liao  
Chief Technology Officer; Chief Technology Officer of 
the Operating Subsidiary

$ 180,000 177,000 N/A N/A N/A

Each of the executive officers has entered into an Employee Proprietary Information and Invention Assignment 
Agreement, agreeing to certain non-disclosure, non-solicitation and non-compete obligations, as well as the assignment 
of all innovations and associated intellectual property rights created, discovered, conceived or developed in the course 
of employment with, in reliance upon the confidential information of, or using the resources of the Company.

Director Compensation

We have entered into offer letters with each of the independent directors, pursuant to which each independent 
director is entitled to receive $100,000 in cash compensation per year, subject to the review and determination by the 
Board.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND 
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The following table sets forth information regarding the beneficial ownership of our common stock as of the 
date of this report by:

• each person known by us to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of our outstanding shares of common 
stock;

• each of our executive officers and directors that beneficially owns shares of our common stock; and

• all our executive officers and directors as a group.

Except as otherwise noted, to the knowledge of the Company, all persons listed below have sole voting and 
dispositive power with respect to all shares of common stock they beneficially own, except to the extent authority is 
shared by spouses under applicable law. Applicable percentage ownership is based on 6,780,597 shares of common 
stock outstanding as of October 13, 2025.
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Unless otherwise indicated, the address of each shareholder is in care of Foxx Development Holdings Inc., 
15375 Barranca Parkway C106, Irvine, CA 92618.

Beneficial  
Ownership

Common Stock
Name and Address of Beneficial Owner Shares % of Class

Directors and Named Executive Officers
Greg Foley . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — —
“Joy” Yi Hua(1)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,156,250 31.8%
Haitao Cui . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — —
James Liao  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — —
“Eva” Yiqing Miao  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — —
Edmund R. Miller . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — —
John Chiang  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — —
All directors and executive officers as a group (seven persons) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,156,250 31.8%

5% Beneficial Owner
Acri Capital Sponsor LLC(1)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,156,250 31.8%
BRR Investment Corp.(2)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,081,100 30.7%
New Bay Capital Limited(3)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 630,426 9.3%
BR Technologies Pte. Ltd.(4)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 597,223 8.8%

(1) Acri Capital Sponsor LLC, is the record holder of the securities reported herein. “Joy” Yi Hua, our CFO, is the sole manager 
and member of Acri Capital Sponsor LLC.  By virtue of this relationship, Ms. Hua may be deemed to have beneficial 
ownership of the securities held of record by Acri Capital Sponsor LLC. The address of Acri Capital Sponsor LLC is 13284 
Pond Springs Rd, Ste 405, Austin, Texas 78729.

(2) BRR Investment Corp. is a limited liability company incorporated under laws of U.S. Virgin Islands. Lapistone Trust LLC, 
the trustee of Durabilis Trust, owner of BRR Investment Corporation, has directed voting and investment discretion with 
respect to the securities held by the BRR. The address of BRR Investment Corp. is Royal Palms Professional Building, 9053 
Estate Thomas, Ste. 101, St. Thomas, U.S. Virgin Islands, 00802. This information is based solely on a Schedule 13D filed 
by BRR Investment Corp. and Lapistone Trust LLC, with the SEC on September 27, 2024 and the amount of forfeited shares 
in the escrow account.

(3) New Bay Capital Limited is a limited liability company incorporated in Hong Kong and wholly-owned by New Bay Capital 
(Cayman) Corporation, an exempted corporation incorporated under laws of Cayman Island and wholly-owned by Mr. Shi 
Liu, who has the voting and dispositive power with respect to the securities owned by this entity. The address of New Bay 
Capital Limited is Rm. 805, 8/F, Harbour Crystal Center, No. 100 Granville Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, KL, Hong Kong. This 
information is based solely on a Schedule 13D filed by New Bay Capital Limited, with the SEC on October 7, 2024 and the 
amount of forfeited shares in the escrow account.

(4) BR Technologies Pte. Ltd. is a limited liability company incorporated in Singapore and wholly-owned  by Mr.  Baoman 
Xu, who has the voting and dispositive power with respect to the securities owned by this entity. The address of BR 
Technologies Pte. Ltd. is 51 Normanton Park, #24-29 Normanton Park, Singapore 117281. This information is based solely 
on a Schedule 13D filed by BR Technologies Pte. Ltd. with the SEC on October 7, 2024 and the amount of forfeited shares 
in the escrow account.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR 
INDEPENDENCE

Unless described below, during the last two fiscal years, there are no transactions or series of similar transactions 
to which we were a party or will be a party, in which:

• the amounts involved exceeded or will exceed the lesser of $120,000 or 1% of the average of the Company’s 
total assets at year-end for the last two completed fiscal years; and

• any of our directors, executive officers or holders of more than 5% of our capital stock, or any member 
of the immediate family of the foregoing persons, had or will have a direct or indirect material interest.
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Amount due from related party

Name of Related Party Relationship Nature
June 30,  

2025
June 30,  

2024

Azure Horizon LLC (“Azure”) . . 

Owned by an immediate family 
member of the Company’s 10% or 

more shareholder
Paid on behalf 

fees $ — $ 140

Prepaid expenses to a related party

Name of Related Party Relationship Nature
June 30, 

2025
June 30, 

2024

Azure Horizon LLC (“Azure”) . . 

Owned by an immediate family 
member of the Company’s 10% or 

more shareholder
Prepaid service 

fees $ 8,000 $ —

Other payable — related party

Other payable — related party consists of the following:

Name of Related Party Relationship Nature
June 30, 

2025
June 30, 

2024
Wuhan Haoxun Communication 

Technology Co. Ltd (“Wuhan 
Haoxun”)(1)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

Controlled by an immediate family 
member of the Company’s 10% or 

more shareholder

Research and 
development 

fees $ 18,792 $ 51,168

Acri Capital Sponsor LLC  . . . . . 
More than 10% Shareholder of the 

Company

Unconverted 
working capital 
loan balance in 

ACAC 245,509 —

Swiftfulfill Warehouse LLC 
(“Swiftfulfill”)(2) . . . . . . . . . . . 

Owned by an immediate family 
member of the Company’s 10% or 

more shareholder

Consulting 
fees and 

expenses paid 
on behalf of the 

Company 8,566 —

“Joy” Yi Hua . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

Chairwoman, Chief Financial 
Officer and Director of the 

Company

Expenses paid 
on behalf of the 

Company 50 —
Total  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 272,917 $ 51,168

(1) On September 1, 2022, the Company entered into an agreement with Company A for the research and development project.
(2) On October 1, 2024, the Company entered into a consulting agreement to receive consulting services provided by a consulting 

company which is owned by an immediate family member of the Company’s more than 10% shareholder.

Research and development expenses

Name of Related Party Relationship

For the  
Year Ended 

June 30,  
2025

For the  
Year Ended 

June 30,  
2024

Wuhan Haoxun(1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

Controlled by an immediate family 
member of the Company’s 10% or 

more shareholder $ 136,752 $ 91,168

(1) On September 1, 2022, the Company entered into an agreement with Company A for the research and development project.
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Consulting expenses

Name of Related Party Relationship

For the  
Year Ended  

June 30,  
2025

For the  
Year Ended 

June 30,  
2024

Azure(1)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

Owned by an immediate family 
member of the Company’s 10% or 

more shareholder $ 485,200 $ 324,000

Swiftfulfill(2) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

Owned by an immediate family 
member of the Company’s 10% or 

more shareholder 63,000 —
Total  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 548,200 324,000

(1) On September  1, 2022, the Company entered into a consulting agreement to receive consulting services provided by a 
consulting company which is owned by an immediate family member of the Company’s more than 10% shareholder.

(2) On October 1, 2024, the Company entered into a consulting agreement to receive consulting services provided by a consulting 
company which is owned by an immediate family member of the Company’s more than 10% shareholder.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Public Accounting Fees

The following chart sets forth public accounting fees in connection with services rendered by Marcum for the 
year ended on June 30, 2024 and through May 1, 2025 and CBIZ for the remainder of the fiscal year of June 30, 2025.

2025 2024

Audit Fees . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 425,652 $ 545,320
Audit-Related Fees . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — —
Tax Fees. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — —
All Other Fees . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — —

Audit fees were for professional services rendered by Marcum and CBIZ for the audit of our annual financial 
statements, and services that are normally provided by Marcum and CBIZ in connection with statutory and regulatory 
filings or engagements for that fiscal year, including in connection with our IPO. “Audit-related fees” are fees for 
assurance and related services by our principal accountant that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit 
or review of our financial statements and are not reported under “audit fees.”

Pre-Approval of Services

On October  10, 2025, by unanimous written consent, the audit committee approved and ratified all of the 
foregoing services.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) Financial Statements:

(1) The financial statements required to be included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are included in 
Item 8 therein.

(2) All supplemental schedules have been omitted since the information is either included in the financial 
statements or the notes thereto or they are not required or are not applicable.

(3) See attached Exhibit Index of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

(b) Exhibits

The following exhibits are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Where such filing is made by 
incorporation by reference to a previously filed document, such document is identified.

Exhibit No. Description

2.1 Business Combination Agreement, dated as of February 18, 2024, by and among ACAC, Purchaser, 
Merger Sub, and Foxx (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to Current Report on Form 8-K filed 
by ACAC with the SEC on February 20, 2024)

2.2 Amendment to Business Combination Agreement, dated as of May 31, 2024, by and among ACAC, 
the Registrant, Merger Sub and Foxx (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to Current Report on 
Form 8-K filed by ACAC with the SEC on June 3, 2024)

3.1 Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registration 
Statement on Form S-4 filed with the SEC on July 19, 2024).

3.2 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 3.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 2, 2024).

3.3 Bylaws of Foxx Development Holdings Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the Current 
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 2, 2024).

4.1 Warrant Agreement, dated June 9, 2022, between ACAC and VStock Transfer, LLC, as warrant agent 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by ACAC with the 
SEC on June 14, 2022).

4.2 Warrant Assumption Agreement, dated September 25, 2024, between the Registrant and VStock 
Transfer, LLC, as warrant agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to the Current Report on 
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 2, 2024).

4.3 Description of Securities of the Registrant. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2024)

10.1 Promissory Note 1 from Foxx to New Bay Capital Limited, dated June 21, 2023, as converted by 
Conversion Notice, dated February 18, 2024 and Interest Conversion Notice, dated September 25, 2024 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on 
October 2, 2024).

10.2 Securities Purchase Agreement, by and between Foxx and New Bay Capital Limited, dated June 21, 
2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC 
on October 2, 2024).

10.3 Promissory Note 2 from Foxx to New Bay Capital Limited, dated December 21, 2023, as converted by 
Conversion Notice, dated February 18, 2024 and Interest Conversion Notice, dated September 25, 2024 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on 
October 2, 2024).

10.4 Securities Purchase Agreement, by and between Foxx and New Bay Capital Limited, dated December 21, 
2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC 
on October 2, 2024).

10.5 Amendment to Convertible Note Agreement, dated March 15, 2024, by and between Foxx and New 
Bay Capital Limited (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the Current Report on Form 8-K 
filed with the SEC on October 2, 2024).
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Exhibit No. Description

10.6 Promissory Note 3 by Foxx to New Bay Capital Limited, dated March 15, 2024, as converted by 
Conversion Notice, dated 25, 2024 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to the Current Report 
on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 2, 2024).

10.7 Securities Purchase Agreement, by and between Foxx and New Bay Capital Limited, dated March 15, 
2024 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC 
on October 2, 2024).

10.8 Promissory Note by Foxx to BR Technologies Pte. Ltd., dated September 12, 2024, as converted by 
Conversion Notice, dated September 25, 2024 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 2, 2024).

10.9 Promissory Note by Foxx to Grazyna Plawinski Limited, dated September 12, 2024, as converted 
by Conversion Notice, dated September 25, 2024 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to the 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 2, 2024).

10.10 Securities Purchase Agreement, by and among Foxx, BR Technologies Pte. Ltd. and Grazyna Plawinski 
Limited, dated May 30, 2024 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to the Current Report on 
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 2, 2024).

10.11 2024 Foxx Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to the Current Report on 
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 2, 2024).

10.12 Lock-Up Agreement, dated September 26, 2024, by and between the Registrant, and the Sponsor 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on 
October 2, 2024).

10.13 Lock-Up Agreement, dated September 26, 2024, by and between the Registrant, and BRR Investment 
Corp. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the 
SEC on October 2, 2024).

10.14 Form of Indemnification Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to the Current Report 
on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 2, 2024).

10.15 Form of Offer Letter from Registrant to Independent Directors of the Registrant (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.31 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 2, 2024).

10.16 Employment Agreement, dated September 26, 2024, by and between Foxx and Greg Foley, CEO 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on 
October 2, 2024).

10.17 Employment Agreement, dated September 26, 2024, by and between Foxx and “Joy” Yi Hua, 
Chairwoman and CFO (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 to the Current Report on Form 8-K 
filed with the SEC on October 2, 2024).

10.18 Employment Agreement, dated September 26, 2024, by and between Foxx and Haitao Cui, EVP 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.34 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on 
October 2, 2024).

10.19 Employment Agreement, dated September 26, 2024, by and between Foxx and James Liao, Chief 
Technology Officer (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.35 to the Current Report on Form 8-K 
filed with the SEC on October 2, 2024).

10.20 Conversion Notice re Working Capital Warrants, dated September 25, 2024 (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 10.36 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 2, 2024). 

14.1 Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 14.1 to the Annual Report 
on Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2024)

19.1 Insider Trading Policy (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 19.1 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K 
for the year ended June 30, 2024)

21.1 List of Subsidiaries
31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14(a) under the Securities 

and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley 
Act of 2002

31.2 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14(a) under the Securities 
and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley 
Act of 2002

32.1 Certifications of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to 
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
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Exhibit No. Description

32.2 Certifications of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to 
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

97.1 Policy Relating to Recovery of Erroneously Awarded Compensation (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 97.1 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2024)

99.1 Audit Committee Charter (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K 
for the year ended June 30, 2024)

99.2 Compensation Committee Charter (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to the Annual Report on 
Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2024)

101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL with applicable taxonomy extension 

information contained in Exhibits 101)

ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant caused this report 
to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Foxx Development Holdings Inc.

Dated: October 14, 2025 By: /s/ Greg Foley
Name: Greg Foley
Title: Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the 
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Name Position Date

/s/ Greg Foley Chief Executive Officer October 14, 2025
Greg Foley (Principal executive officer)

/s/ “Joy” Yi Hua Chief Financial Officer October 14, 2025
“Joy” Yi Hua (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) and 

Chairwoman Director

/s/ Haitao Cui Director October 14, 2025
Haitao Cui

/s/ “Eva” Yiqing Miao Independent Director October 14, 2025
“Eva” Yiqing Miao

/s/ Edmund R. Miller Independent Director October 14, 2025
Edmund R. Miller

/s/ John Chiang Independent Director October 14, 2025
John Chiang


